
 

 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  

Clearlake City Hall Council Chambers 
14050 Olympic Dr, Clearlake, CA 

 

Thursday, March 16, 2023 

Closed Session 5:00 PM 

 

Regular Meeting 6:00 PM  

The City Council meetings are viewable in person in the Council Chambers, via livestreaming on the 
City’s YouTube Channel (https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTyifT_nKS-3woxEu1ilBXA) or “Lake 
County PEG TV Live Stream” at https://www.youtube.com/user/LakeCountyPegTV/featured and the 
public may participate through Zoom at the link listed below. The public can submit comments and 
questions in writing for City Council consideration by sending them to the Administrative Services 
Director/City Clerk at mswanson@clearlake.ca.us. To give the City Council adequate time to review 
your questions and comments, please submit your written comments prior to 4:00 p.m. on the day of 
the meeting. 

 
AGENDA 

 

MEETING PROCEDURES: All items on agenda will be open for public comments before final action is 
taken. Citizens wishing to introduce written material into the record at the public meeting on any item 
are requested to provide a copy of the written material to the Administrative Services Director/City Clerk 
prior to the meeting date so that the material may be distributed to the City Council prior to the meeting. 
Speakers must restrict comments to the item as it appears on the agenda and stay within a three minutes 
time limit. The Mayor has the discretion of limiting the total discussion time for an item. 

AMERICANS WITH DISABILITY ACT (ADA) REQUESTS 

If you need disability related modification, including auxiliary aids or services, to participate in this meeting, please 
contact Melissa Swanson, Administrative Services Director/City Clerk at the Clearlake City Hall, 14050 Olympic 
Drive, Clearlake, California 95422, phone (707) 994-8201, ext 106, or via email at mswanson@clearlake.ca.us at 
least 72 hours prior to the meeting, to allow time to provide for special accommodations. 

AGENDA REPORTS 

Staff reports for each agenda item are available for review at www.clearlake.ca.us. Any writings or documents 
pertaining to an open session item provided to a majority of the City Council less than 72 hours prior to the 
meeting, shall be made available for public inspection on the City’s website at www.clearlake.ca.us.  

Zoom Link: https://clearlakeca.zoom.us/j/82030731123 

5:00 PM  

A. CLOSED SESSION 

(1) Conference with Labor Negotiators: Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957.6: Agency 
designated representatives: City Manager Flora, Finance Director Wells, Administrative 
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Services Director Swanson; Employee Organization: Clearlake Middle Management 
Association 

(2) Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957: Public Employee Performance Evaluation: Title: 
City Manager 

(3) Conference with Legal Counsel: Existing Litigation: Pursuant to Government Code Section 
54956.9(d)(1): Case No. CV-423786; Koi Nation of Northern California v. City of Clearlake, et 
al., Lake County Superior Court 

(4) Conference with Legal Counsel- Existing Litigation: Pursuant to Government Code Section 
54956.9(d)(1): Case No. CV-421697; Name of Case: City of Clearlake v. Testate & Intestate 
Successors of Bailey Lumbers Co., et al., Lake County Superior Court 

6:00 PM  

B. ROLL CALL 

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

D. INVOCATION/MOMENT OF SILENCE: The City Council invites members of the clergy, as well as 
interested members of the public in the City of Clearlake, to voluntarily offer an invocation before 
the beginning of its meetings for the benefit and blessing of the City Council. This opportunity is 
voluntary and invocations are to be less than three minutes, offered in a solemn and respectful tone, 
and directed at the City Council. Invocational speakers who do not abide by these simple rules of 
respect and brevity shall be given a warning and/or not invited back to provide a subsequent 
invocation for a reasonable period of time, as determined appropriate by the City. This policy is not 
intended, and shall not be implemented or construed in any way, to affiliate the City Council with, 
nor express the City Council's preference for, any faith or religious denomination. Rather, this policy 
is intended to acknowledge and express the City Council's respect for the diversity of religious 
denominations and faith represented and practiced among the citizens of Clearlake. If a scheduled 
invocational speaker does not appear at the scheduled meeting, the Mayor will ask that the City 
Council observe a moment of silence in lieu of the invocation. More information about the City's 
invocation policy is available upon request by contacting the Administrative Services Director/City 
Clerk at (707) 994-8201x106 or via email at mswanson@clearlake.ca.us. 

E. ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA (This is the time for agenda modifications.) 

F. ANNOUNCEMENT OF ACTION FROM CLOSED SESSION 

G. PRESENTATIONS 

5. Presentation of March's Adoptable Dogs 

6. Presentation of the Annual Financial Report for Fiscal Year 2020-21 

7. Presentation of the Public, Education and Government (PEG) Channel of the PEG Board 
Annual Report 
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H. PUBLIC COMMENT: This is the time for any member of the public to address the City Council on any 
matter not on the agenda that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the City. The Brown Act, 
with limited exceptions, does not allow the Council or staff to discuss issues brought forth under 
Public Comment. The Council cannot take action on non-agenda items. Concerns may be referred to 
staff or placed on the next available agenda. Please note that comments from the public will also be 
taken on each agenda item. Comments shall be limited to three (3) minutes per person. 

I. CONSENT AGENDA: All items listed under the Consent Agenda are considered to be routine in nature 
and will be approved by one motion. There will be no separate discussion of these items unless a 
member of the Council requests otherwise, or if staff has requested a change under Adoption of the 
Agenda, in which case the item will be removed for separate consideration. Any item so removed will 
be taken up following the motion to approve the Consent Agenda. 

8. Approval of a Professional Services Contract With Downey Brand for Legal Services  
Recommended Action: Authorize the City Manager to Execute a Contract Amendment with 
Downey Brand for a New Contract total of $250,000 

9. Clearlake Waste Solutions 2022 Annual Solid Waste and Recycling Report 
Recommended Action: Receive and file 

10. Warrants 
Recommended Action: Receive and file 

11. Acceptance of the Annual Financial Report for Fiscal Year 2020-21; Resolution No. 2023-15 
Recommended Action: Adopt resolution 

J. BUSINESS 

12. Norms and Procedures and Brown Act Review 

13. Discussion Regarding Community Project Funding Request Through Congressman Mike 
Thompson 
Recommended Action: Adopt Resolution 

K. CITY MANAGER AND COUNCILMEMBER REPORTS 

L. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 

M. ADJOURNMENT 

POSTED: March 10, 2023 

BY: 
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Melissa Swanson, Administrative Services Director/City Clerk  
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CITY OF CLEARLAKE 

City Council 
 
 
 
 

STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT:   Approval of a Professional Serviced Contract with 
Downey Brand for Legal Services 

MEETING DATE:   Mar. 16, 
2023 

SUBMITTED BY:   Alan Flora, City Manager 

PURPOSE OF REPORT:        Information only       Discussion      Action Item 

WHAT IS BEING ASKED OF THE CITY COUNCIL/BOARD: 

Approve contract for legal services for representation.  

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:   

In 2023 the City Manager executed a contract with Downey Brand to provide legal services, primarily related to 
the recent onslaught by the Koi Nation to challenge all economic development projects in the City of Clearlake.  
On March 3, 2023 the Koi filed a lawsuit against the City, challenging the CEQA determination for the 18th 
Avenue Road Improvement Project.  While the City believes this lawsuit and the tribe’s actions to be an 
overreach and frivolous, significant taxpayer funds will nonetheless be required to defend this project. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT  

Staff request approval of up to $250,000 for contract legal services. 

OPTIONS: 

1. Authorize the City Manager to Execute a Contract Amendment with Downey Brand for a New Contract 
total of $250,000 

2. Other direction  

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 None  $250,000 Budgeted Item?   Yes    No 

Budget Adjustment Needed?   Yes    No  If yes, amount of appropriation increase:  $      

Affected fund(s):  General Fund    Measure P Fund    Measure V Fund    Other: 240 Capital Project 
Funds 

Comments:   
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STRATEGIC PLAN IMPACT: 

 Goal #1: Make Clearlake a Visibly Cleaner City 

 Goal #2: Make Clearlake a Statistically Safer City 

 Goal #3: Improve the Quality of Life in Clearlake with Improved Public Facilities 

 Goal #4: Improve the Image of Clearlake 

 Goal #5: Ensure Fiscal Sustainability of City 

 Goal #6: Update Policies and Procedures to Current Government Standards 

 Goal #7: Support Economic Development 

 

    Attachments:  
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Check Register
Clearlake, CA Packet: APPKT01961 - 2/23/23 AP CHECK RUN AA

By Check Number

Vendor Number Vendor Name Payment Amount NumberPayment TypePayment Date Discount Amount

Bank Code: AP-Accounts Payable

**Void** 02/28/2023 142460.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 02/28/2023 142470.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 02/28/2023 142480.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 02/28/2023 142490.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 02/28/2023 142500.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 02/28/2023 142510.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 02/28/2023 142520.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 02/28/2023 142530.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 02/28/2023 142540.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 02/28/2023 142550.00Regular 0.00

VEN01351 BKF ENGINEERS 02/28/2023 1425632,422.00Regular 0.00

001852 CHELSEA BANKS 02/28/2023 14257912.00Regular 0.00

000024 CLEARLAKE POLICE ASSOCIATION 02/28/2023 142581,500.00Regular 0.00

001593 K&R TREE SPECIALISTS 02/28/2023 14259500.00Regular 0.00

VEN01048 Minnesota Life Insurance 02/28/2023 14260851.46Regular 0.00

001489 NAPA AUTO PARTS 02/28/2023 14261459.18Regular 0.00

000026 NATIONWIDE RETIREMENT SOLUTION 02/28/2023 142621,363.04Regular 0.00

000009 OPERATING ENGINEERS LOCAL 3 02/28/2023 14263676.00Regular 0.00

VEN01273 STEVE W. ELLIS - DBA ELLIS RANCH 02/28/2023 14264321.75Regular 0.00

000708 VALIC LOCKBOX 02/28/2023 14265395.00Regular 0.00

Regular Checks

Manual Checks

Voided Checks

Discount

Payment
CountPayment Type

Bank Code AP Summary

Bank Drafts

EFT's

10

0

10

0

0

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

20 0.00

Payment

39,400.43

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

39,400.43

Payable
Count

20

0

0

0

0

20
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Check Register Packet: APPKT01961-2/23/23 AP CHECK RUN AA

Page 2 of 22/28/2023 11:37:01 AM

Fund Name AmountPeriod

Fund Summary

999 Pooled Cash 39,400.432/2023

39,400.43
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Check Register
Clearlake, CA Packet: APPKT02006 - 3/9/23 AP CHECK RUN AA

By Check Number

Vendor Number Vendor Name Payment Amount NumberPayment TypePayment Date Discount Amount

Bank Code: AP-Accounts Payable

VEN01085 ACC BUSINESS 03/09/2023 14339608.66Regular 0.00

000703 ACME RIGGING & SUPPLY 03/09/2023 14340593.54Regular 0.00

001138 ADVENTIST HEALTH 03/09/2023 14341392.52Regular 0.00

001423 ALLIANT INSURANCE SERVICES, IN 03/09/2023 14342429.00Regular 0.00

000101 AMERIGAS 03/09/2023 143436,809.19Regular 0.00

000085 ARAMARK UNIFORM SERVICES 03/09/2023 1434449.31Regular 0.00

VEN01057 BASIC PACIFIC 03/09/2023 143455.00Regular 0.00

2418 BICOASTAL MEDIA, LLC 03/09/2023 14346665.00Regular 0.00

000068 BOB'S JANITORIAL 03/09/2023 14347410.99Regular 0.00

2404 CALTRONICS 03/09/2023 1434888.44Regular 0.00

000024 CLEARLAKE POLICE ASSOCIATION 03/09/2023 143491,752.00Regular 0.00

000774 DEEP VALLEY SECURITY 03/09/2023 14350125.85Regular 0.00

000160 DEPT OF JUSTICE 03/09/2023 14351340.00Regular 0.00

VEN01386 DOWNEY BRAND LLP 03/09/2023 1435223,470.00Regular 0.00

000073 EASTLAKE SANITARY LANDFILL 03/09/2023 1435337.53Regular 0.00

2411 ERIN MCCARRICK 03/09/2023 1435475.00Regular 0.00

001199 EUREKA OXYGEN CO 03/09/2023 14355469.56Regular 0.00

VEN01108 FAWN CHRISTINE WILLIAMS 03/09/2023 1435675.00Regular 0.00

000625 FIRST AMERICAN TITLE COMPANY 03/09/2023 14357700,064.58Regular 0.00

000121 HIGHLANDS WATER COMPANY 03/09/2023 143581,257.52Regular 0.00

001949 ICE WATER DISTRIBUTORS INC 03/09/2023 1435965.50Regular 0.00

001775 JONES & MAYER 03/09/2023 1436032,427.58Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 143610.00Regular 0.00

002286 LISA WILSON 03/09/2023 1436275.00Regular 0.00

002250 MAURICIO BARRETO 03/09/2023 143633,138.20Regular 0.00

000793 MEDIACOM 03/09/2023 14364650.00Regular 0.00

001489 NAPA AUTO PARTS 03/09/2023 1436514.57Regular 0.00

000026 NATIONWIDE RETIREMENT SOLUTION 03/09/2023 143661,363.04Regular 0.00

000027 OPERATING ENGINEERS PUBLIC EMP 03/09/2023 1436774,744.00Regular 0.00

000130 PITNEY BOWES 03/09/2023 14368701.68Regular 0.00

002374 PREDATOR PEST & WEED 03/09/2023 14369230.00Regular 0.00

VEN01373 PYRAMID ENTERTAINMENT GROUP 03/09/2023 143707,000.00Regular 0.00

002031 REDWOOD COAST PETROLEUM & NORTH BAY PETROLEUM03/09/2023 143713,514.01Regular 0.00

002215 ROBERT COKER 03/09/2023 1437275.00Regular 0.00

001500 RYAN PETERSON 03/09/2023 14373380.00Regular 0.00

VEN01378 STUDIO W ASSOCIATES, INC - STUDIO W ARCHITECTS03/09/2023 1437419,578.63Regular 0.00

VEN01222 TERRY LEE STEWART 03/09/2023 1437575.00Regular 0.00

001148 TIMOTHY HOBBS 03/09/2023 14376380.00Regular 0.00

001934 TINA VIRAMONTES 03/09/2023 14377125.00Regular 0.00

001540 US BANK CORPORATE PMT. SYSTEM 03/09/2023 143789,106.46Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 143790.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 143800.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 143810.00Regular 0.00

000708 VALIC LOCKBOX 03/09/2023 14382395.00Regular 0.00

2417 VAN LANT & FANKHANEL, LLP 03/09/2023 1438316,350.00Regular 0.00

VEN01180 VIKKI MARIE THOMPSON 03/09/2023 14384965.25Regular 0.00

VEN01221 WINE COUNTRY VENTURES, INC 03/09/2023 143851,190.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778410.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778420.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778430.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778440.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778450.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778460.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778470.00Regular 0.00
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Check Register Packet: APPKT02006-3/9/23 AP CHECK RUN AA

3/10/2023 2:19:37 PM Page 2 of 3

Vendor Number Vendor Name Payment Amount NumberPayment TypePayment Date Discount Amount

**Void** 03/09/2023 778480.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778490.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778500.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778510.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778520.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778530.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778540.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778550.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778560.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778570.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778580.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778590.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778600.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778610.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778620.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778630.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778640.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778650.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778660.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778670.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778680.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778690.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778700.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778710.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778720.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778730.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778740.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778750.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778760.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778770.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778780.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778790.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778800.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778810.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778820.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778830.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778840.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778850.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778860.00Regular 0.00

**Void** 03/09/2023 778870.00Regular 0.00

Regular Checks

Manual Checks

Voided Checks

Discount

Payment
CountPayment Type

Bank Code AP Summary

Bank Drafts

EFT's

43

0

51

0

0

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

94 0.00

Payment

910,262.61

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

910,262.61

Payable
Count

125

0

0

0

0

125
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Check Register Packet: APPKT02006-3/9/23 AP CHECK RUN AA

Page 3 of 33/10/2023 2:19:37 PM

Fund Name AmountPeriod

Fund Summary

999 Pooled Cash 910,262.613/2023

910,262.61
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CITY OF CLEARLAKE 

City Council 
 
 
 
 

STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT:   Presentation and Acceptance of the Annual Financial 
Report for Fiscal Year 2020-21; Resolution No. 2023-15 

MEETING DATE:   

March 16, 2023 

 

SUBMITTED BY: Kathy Wells, Director of Finance 

PURPOSE OF REPORT:        Information only       Discussion      Action Item 

WHAT IS BEING ASKED OF THE CITY COUNCIL/BOARD: 

The City Council is being asked to adopt the resolution to accept the 20-21 audit. 

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:   

Each year the city hires an independent audit firm to complete an audit of the city’s books and records. 
For the fiscal year 2020-21, the city engaged auditing firm, Van Lant & Fankhanel, LLP, to complete the 
audit. The audit is complete and attached.  
 
It should be noted this audit was delayed for a variety of reasons including changeover of personnel in 
the Finance Department, and carryover issues from prior fiscal years. It also should be noted that there 
is one finding of deficiency in internal controls regarding the timeliness of accounting records.  
 

OPTIONS: 

1. Move to adopt the resolution 
2. Other direction 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 None  $      Budgeted Item?   Yes    No 

Budget Adjustment Needed?   Yes    No  If yes, amount of appropriation increase:  $      

Affected fund(s):  General Fund    Measure P Fund    Measure V Fund    Other:       

Comments:   

STRATEGIC PLAN IMPACT: 

 Goal #1: Make Clearlake a Visibly Cleaner City 

 Goal #2: Make Clearlake a Statistically Safer City 
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 Goal #3: Improve the Quality of Life in Clearlake with Improved Public Facilities 

 Goal #4: Improve the Image of Clearlake 

 Goal #5: Ensure Fiscal Sustainability of City 

 Goal #6: Update Policies and Procedures to Current Government Standards 

 Goal #7: Support Economic Development 

SUGGESTED MOTIONS: 

Move to adopt resolution 2023-15 

 

    Attachments: 1) Resolution 2023-15 
2) Audit Conclusion Communication Letter 
3) Financial Statements 
4) Internal Control Report 
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RESOLUTION NO. 2023-15 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CLEARLAKE ACCEPTING THE ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2020-21 

 
WHEREAS, each year the City hires an independent audit firm to complete an audit of the City’s books 
and records; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City’s citizens and others rely on the audited financial statements, and other related 
information published by the City to monitor the City’s financial health; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Auditor has prepared an Annual Financial Report, which includes the Basic Financial 
Statements as defined in Governmental Accounting Standards, as well as Supplemental Information, 
along with a report on internal controls and compliance identifying any significant deficiencies, material 
weaknesses and/or any other suggestions they feel might be of benefit to the city; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Auditor was engaged to perform agreed upon procedures to verify the City’s Gann Limit 
calculations and has issued a related report thereto; and 
 
WHEREAS, the reports prepared by the Auditor are attached. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Clearlake accepts the Annual 
Financial Report for the Fiscal Year 2020-21, incorporated by reference as Exhibits A-C. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Clearlake, County of Lake, State of California, 
on this 16th day of March 2023, by the following vote: 
 
AYES:    
NOES:   
ABSTAIN:  
ABSENT:  
 
 
 
ATTEST:______________________________ ________________________________ 

  City Clerk     Mayor 
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February 13, 2023 

City Council 
City of Clearlake 
Clearlake, California 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Clearlake (City) for the year ended June 30, 2021.  
Professional standards require that we provide you with information about our responsibilities under 
generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, as 
well as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. We have communicated 
such information in our letter to you dated June 17, 2022. Professional standards also require that we 
communicate to you the following information related to our audit. 
 
Significant Audit Findings 
 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices  

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant 
accounting policies used by the City are described in Note 1 to the financial statements. No new 
accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed during the 
fiscal year. We noted no transactions entered into by the City during the year for which there is a lack of 
authoritative guidance or consensus.  All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial 
statements in the proper period. 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions 
about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance 
to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ 
significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the City’s financial statements 
were: 

 
Management’s estimate of the fair value of investments is based on information provided by 
financial institutions.  We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the fair 
value of investments in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements as 
a whole. 
 
Management’s estimate of capital assets depreciation is based on historical estimates of each 
capitalized item’s useful life.  We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the 
estimated useful lives in determining that they are reasonable in relation to the financial 
statements as a whole. 
 
Management’s estimates for the net pension liability is based on actuarial information provided 
by the California Public Employee Retirement System’s (CalPERS) actuarial office. We evaluated 
the key factors and assumptions to develop the liability in determining that the estimated liability 
are reasonable in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 
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Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial 
statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the financial statements were: 
 

The disclosure of the fair value of investments in Note 2 to the financial statements represents 
amounts susceptible to market fluctuation. 
 
The disclosure of accumulated depreciation in Note 5 to the financial statements is based on 
estimated useful lives which could differ from actual useful lives of each capitalized item. 
 
The disclosures for the net pension liability in Note 7 to the financial statements is based on 
assumptions for discount rates, etc., which could differ from actual experience. The notes disclose 
the differences in these liabilities if different assumptions are used in estimating these liabilities. 
 

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit  

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our 
audit, other than delays in completing the audit due to the significant general ledger accounting and 
reconciliations needed. 

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements  

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the 
audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of 
management. The following material misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures were 
corrected by management: 

1) Adjustments were made to accounts receivable at year-end. 

2) Adjustments were made to capital asset balances. 

Disagreements with Management  

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or 
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial 
statements or the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the 
course of our audit. 

Management Representations  

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter dated February 13, 2023. 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants  

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation involves application 
of an accounting principle to the City’s financial statements or a determination of the type of auditor’s 
opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting 
accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, 
there were no such consultations with other accountants. 

Other Audit Findings or Issues  

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the City’s auditors. However, these 
discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a 
condition to our retention.   
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Findings and Recommendations: 
 
In addition to our audit opinion on the financial statements, we issued our “Independent Auditor’s Report 
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit 
of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards” dated February 
13, 2023, in which we identified a material weakness in internal controls. 

Other Matters 

We applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information, as listed in the City’s 
financial statements, which are required supplementary information (RSI) that supplements the basic 
financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of 
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses 
to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the 
basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on the RSI.  

We were engaged to report on the supplementary information (e.g., budgetary schedules, combining 
statements, individual fund statements), which accompany the financial statements but are not RSI. With 
respect to this supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the 
form, content, and methods of preparing the information to determine that the information complies with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it has 
not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit 
of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying 
accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves.  

Restriction on Use 

This information is intended solely for the information and use of the City Council and management of 
the City of Clearlake and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these 
specified parties. 

 

Very truly yours, 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
The Honorable City Council 
City of Clearlake, California 
Clearlake, California 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Clearlake, California, as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City 
of Clearlake’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.   
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinions. 
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Opinions  
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining 
fund information of the City of Clearlake, California, as of June 30, 2021, and the respective changes in 
financial position and cash flows, where applicable, thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Management has omitted management’s discussion and analysis that accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America require to be presented in the basic financial statements.  Such 
information, although not a required part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, and historical context. 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the required 
supplementary information, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements.  Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting 
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We 
have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion 
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the City’s basic financial statements.  The supplementary information as listed in the table of 
contents, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial 
statements.   
 
The schedules listed in the Supplementary Information section of the table of contents are the responsibility 
of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used 
to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other 
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. In our opinion, the schedules listed in the Supplementary Information section of the table of 
contents are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated February 13, 
2023, on our consideration of the City of Clearlake’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests 
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control 
over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our audit. 
 

 
 
February 13, 2023
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Governmental
Activities

ASSETS
Cash and Investments 20,483,441$       
Receivables:

Accounts 484,005             
Interest 3,455                 
Taxes 1,340,021           
Notes 7,887,513           
Grants 9,213                 

Capital Assets:
Land 8,073,971           
Construction in Progress 1,000,452           
Other Capital Assets, Net 19,467,786         

Total Assets 58,749,857         

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred Pension Related Items 1,981,000           

LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable 658,694             
Accrued Payroll Liabilities 441,595             
Deposits 68,455               
Noncurrent Liabilities:

Due Within One Year 181,054             
Due in More Than One Year 9,061,299           

Total Liabilities 10,411,097         

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred Pension Related Items 814,472             

NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets 28,107,267         
Restricted for:

PEG 268,488             
Housing 6,812,618           
Public Safety 1,785,845           
Streets and Highways 1,097,843           
Capital Projects 3,169,858           

Unrestricted 8,263,369           
Total Net Position 49,505,288$       

City of Clearlake
Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
4
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Net (Expense)
Revenue and
Change in 
Net Position

Charges Operating Capital
for Grants and Grants and Governmental

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activites
Governmental Activities:

General Government 2,773,711$    591,087$       -$                   113,178$       (2,069,446)$   
Public Safety 6,247,693      211,074         382,241         199,439         (5,454,939)
Public Works 1,253,016      304,036         26,403           3,156,783      2,234,206
Housing 363,139         111,079         -                     -                     (252,060)
Parks and Recreation 1,194,055      132,993         -                     -                     (1,061,062)
Interest and Fiscal Charges 31,527           -                     -                     -                     (31,527)

Total Governmental Activities 11,863,141    1,350,269      408,644         3,469,400      (6,634,828)     

General Revenues:
Taxes:

Sales and Use Taxes 3,945,033      
Property Taxes 2,207,493      
Franchise Fees 740,327         
Transient Occupance Tax 427,715         
Business Licenses 45,527           
Gain on Sale of Capital Assets 496,368         

Investment Income 19,420           
Miscellaneous Revenues 14,945,017    

Total General Revenues and Transfers 22,826,900    

Change in Net Position 16,192,072    

Net Position - Beginning of Year 33,313,216    

Net Position - End of Year 49,505,288$ 

Program Revenues

City of Clearlake
Statement of Activities

Year Ended June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Special
Revenue

Series B
General Infrastructure Roads

Fund HOME RLF Bonds Measure V

ASSETS
Cash and Investments 15,004,961$   48,252$         2,568,310$    536,683$       
Receivables:

Accounts 320,498 -                    -                    -                    
Interest 2,640              8                    441                43                  
Taxes 529,190 -                    -                    507,134         
Grants -                     -                    -                    -                    
Notes 1,813              5,290,918      -                    -                    

Due from Other Funds 57,604            -                    -                    -                    

Total Assets 15,916,706$  5,339,178$   2,568,751$   1,043,860$    

LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable 148,447$        -$                  -$                  721$              
Accrued Payroll Liabilities 332,329          -                    -                    27,914           
Deposits 64,605            -                    -                    -                    
Due to Other Funds -                     -                    -                    -                    

Total Liabilities 545,381 -                    -                    28,635           

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unavailable Revenues - Grants Receivable 39,640            -                    -                    -                    

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 39,640            -                    -                    -                    

FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS)
Nonspendable 1,813              -                    -                    -                    
Restricted -                     5,339,178 2,568,751 1,015,225
Committed -                     -                    -                    -                    
Unassigned 15,329,872     -                    -                    -                    

Total Fund Balances (Deficits) 15,331,685 5,339,178 2,568,751 1,015,225

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of
Resources and Fund Balances (Deficits 15,916,706$  5,339,178$   2,568,751$   1,043,860$    

City of Clearlake
Balance Sheet 

Governmental Funds
June 30, 2021

Capital Project

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Capital
Project Total

Nonmajor
Governmental

Grants Funds Totals

427,668$       1,766,949$    20,352,823$   

144,917         18,590           484,005
-                    316                3,448             
-                    303,697         1,340,021

9,213             -                    9,213
-                    2,594,782      7,887,513
-                    -                    57,604           

581,798$       4,684,334$    30,134,627$   

493,922$       15,604$         658,694$        
-                    81,352           441,595
-                    3,850             68,455
-                    57,604           57,604

493,922         158,410         1,226,348

9,213             8,830             57,683           

9,213             8,830             57,683           

-                    -                    1,813             
78,663           4,537,245 13,539,062

-                    -                    -                     
-                    (20,151)          15,309,721

78,663 4,517,094 28,850,596

581,798$       4,684,334$    30,134,627$   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 28,850,596$  

Amounts reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of Net
Position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources
and therefore, are not reported in the funds.

Land 8,073,971$    
Construction in Progress 1,000,452
Buildings and Improvements 3,061,387
Vehicles and Equipment 3,603,034
Infrastructure 21,331,650

Less: Accumulated Depreciation (8,528,285) 28,542,209

In governmental funds, other long-term assets are not available to pay for current
period expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the funds. 57,683           

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and therefore
are not reported in the funds.

Compensated Absences (333,814)
Net Pension Liability (7,837,662)
Claims Payable (238,202)       
Energy Efficiency Loan Payable (678,805)
Lease Payable (153,870)

Amounts for deferred inflows and deferred outflows related to the City's Net
Pension Liability are not reported in the funds.

Deferred Outflows Related to Pensions 1,981,000
Deferred Inflows Related to Pensions (814,472)

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of 
insurance to individual funds.  The assets and liabilities of the internal 
service funds must be added to the statement of net position. 130,625

Net Position of Governmental Activities 49,505,288$  

City of Clearlake
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds

to the Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Special
Revenue

Series B
General Infrastructure Roads

Fund HOME RLF Bonds Measure V

REVENUES
Taxes and Assessments 5,861,601$     -$                   -$                   2,607,616$    
Fines and Forfeitures 89,624 -                     -                     -                     
Licenses and Permits 21,002            -                     -                     -                     
Use of Money and Property 19,420 85                  3,599             542                
Intergovernmental 344,530 -                     -                     407,217         
Charges for Services 1,077,445 4,702             -                     -                     
Legal Settlement 14,876,403 -                     -                     -                     
Other Revenues 1,132,439 -                     -                     -                     

Total Revenues 23,422,464 4,787 3,599             3,015,375

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General Government 1,840,294 -                     -                     -                     
Public Safety 4,028,306 -                     -                     -                     
Public Works and Streets 366,481          -                     -                     626,840         
Housing 459,944 26,162           -                     -                     
Parks and Recreation 350,415          -                     -                     -                     

Capital Outlay 133,461          -                     -                     254,787         
Debt Service:

Principal 112,965 -                     -                     -                     
Interest 31,527            -                     -                     -                     

Total Expenditures 7,323,393 26,162 -                     881,627

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over
Expenditures 16,099,071 (21,375) 3,599             2,133,748

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In 34,555            -                     -                     -                     
Transfers Out (1,349,400)      -                     (28,802)          (1,617,859)     

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (1,314,845)      -                     (28,802)          (1,617,859)     

Net Change in Fund Balances 14,784,226 (21,375) (25,203) 515,889

Fund Balances, Beginning 547,459 5,360,553 2,593,954 499,336

Fund Balances, Ending 15,331,685$  5,339,178$   2,568,751$    1,015,225$   

City of Clearlake
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds
Year Ended June 30, 2021

Capital Project

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Capital
Project Total

Nonmajor
Governmental

Grants Funds Totals

-$                   2,122,102$    10,591,319$   
-                     -                     89,624
-                     -                     21,002
3                    2,912             26,561

389,295         331,157         1,472,199
-                     105,494         1,187,641
-                     -                     14,876,403
-                     218                1,132,657

389,298 2,561,883 29,397,406

-                     19,902           1,860,196
-                     1,538,613      5,566,919
-                     530,052         1,523,373
-                     69,171           555,277
-                     12,724           363,139

4,007,255      177,350         4,572,853

-                     -                     112,965
-                     -                     31,527            

4,007,255 2,347,812 14,586,249

(3,617,957) 214,071 16,077,696

3,630,212      -                     3,664,767       
(34,555)          (752,899)        (3,783,515)      

3,595,657      (752,899)        (118,748)         

(22,300) (538,828) 14,692,409

100,963 5,055,922 14,158,187

78,663$         4,517,094$    28,850,596$   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

10
39

Section I, Item 11.



Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds 14,692,409$         

Amounts reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of Activities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlay as an expenditures.  However, in the
statement of activities, the costs of those assets is allocated over their estimated
useful lives as depreciation expense.  

Capital Expenditures 4,902,171
Depreciation Expense (861,909)
Loss on Disposal (589,657)

Certain receivables are offset by unavailable revenue in the governmental funds because
they are not available to pay for current period expenditures. This amount represents
the amount by which prior year unavaible revenue exceeded current year unavailable
revenue. (752,536)

The amounts below included in the Statement of Activities do not provide (require)
the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as revenues
or expenditures in governmental funds (net change):

Net Pension Liability (422,656)
Claims Payable (119,886)
Compensated Absences (78,466)
Energy Efficiency Loan 43,149
Capital Lease Payable 69,816

Amounts for deferred inflows and deferred outflows related to the City's net pension
and total OPEB liabilites are not reported in the funds. This is the net change in 
deferred inflows and outflows related to the net pension and total OPEB liabilities.

Deferred Outflows Related to Pensions (413,003)
Deferred Inflows Related to Pensions (407,985)

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of 
insurance to individual funds.  The net revenue (expense) of the internal service
is reported with governmental activities. 130,625

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities 16,192,072$         

City of Clearlake
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
Year Ended June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Governmental
Activities - 

Internal Service
Fund

ASSETS
Current:

Cash and Investments 130,618$            
Interest Receivable 7                        

Total Current Assets 130,625              

LIABILITIES
Current:

Accounts Payable -                         

Total Current Liabilities -                        

NET POSITION
Unrestricted 130,625              

Total Net Position 130,625$            

City of Clearlake
Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Fund
June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Governmental
Activities - 

Internal Service
Fund

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for Services 43,837$              

Total Operating Revenues 43,837                

OPERATING EXPENSES
Insurance 31,967                

Total Operating Expenses 31,967                

Operating Income (Loss) 11,870                

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment Earnings 7                        

Total Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses) 7                       

Income (Loss) Before Contributions and Transfers 11,877                

Transfers In 118,748              

Change in Net Position 130,625              

Total Net Position, Beginning of Year -                         

Total Net Position, End of Year 130,625$            

City of Clearlake
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Proprietary Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Governmental
Activities - 

Internal Service
Fund

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash Received from User Funds 43,837$              
Cash Paid to Suppliers for Goods and Services (31,967)               

Net Cash Provided (Used) By Operating Activities 11,870                

Cash Flows from Non-Capital Financing Activities
Cash Received from (Paid to) Other Funds 118,748              

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Non-capital Financing Activities 118,748              

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest Received on Investments -                         

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities -                        

Net Increase (Decrease) In Cash and Cash Equivalents 130,618              

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year -                        

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year 130,618$            

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash
Provided (Used) by Operating Activities

Operatinng Income (Loss) 11,870$              
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)

to net cash provided (used) by operating activities:
(Increase) Decrease In Accounts Receivable -                         
Increase (Decrease) In Accounts Receivable -                         

Net Cash Provided (Used) By Operating Activities 11,870$              

City of Clearlake
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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LAFCO Successor Agency
Custodial Private-purpose

Fund Trust Fund

ASSETS
Cash and Investments 212,048$        827,218$            
Restricted Cash and Investments -                      16,906                
Interest Receivable 38                   -                         
Deposits -                      10,000                
Land Held for Resale -                      2,083,877           

Total Assets 212,086        2,938,001          

LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable 14,125            10,000                
Accrued Payroll Liabilities -                      3,409                  
Due to Other Agencies -                      -                         
Interest Payable -                      99,953                
Long-Term Debt, Due within One Year -                      560,000              
Long-Term Debt, Due in more Than One Year -                      10,683,208         

Total Liabilities 14,125          11,356,570         

NET POSITION
Held in Trust for:

Successor Agency -                      (8,418,569)          
Other Organizations 197,961          

Total Net Position 197,961$       (8,418,569)$       

City of Clearlake
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Successor
LAFCO Agency

Custodial Private-purpose
Fund Trust Fund

ADDITIONS
Investment Income 256$                -$                     
Taxes, Assessments, and Contributions 149,292           1,549,800        

Total Additions 149,548           1,549,800        

DEDUCTIONS
Administrative Costs 131,578           242,640           
Interest Expense -                  421,374           

Total Deductions 131,578           664,014           

Change in Net Position 17,970             885,786           

Net Position - Beginning of Year 179,991           (8,308,350)       

Restatement of Net Position -                      (996,005)          

Net Position - End of Year 197,961$        (8,418,569)$     

City of Clearlake
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Funds
Year Ended June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Clearlake 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended June 30, 2021 
 

 

1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
 The financial statements of the City of Clearlake, California (the City) have been prepared in conformity with 

generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to government units.  The Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and 
financial reporting principles.  The more significant of the City’s accounting policies are described below.  

 
 A) Reporting Entity 
 

The City of Clearlake is a municipal corporation governed by an elected five-member City Council. The 
accompanying financial statements present the government and its component units, entities for which the 
City is considered to be financially accountable. 
 
Blended Component Units – The Clearlake Public Financing Authority is a separate legal entity created for 
the purpose of improving the economic conditions of the City, making public improvements and providing 
financing for these purposes. This entity is governed by the City Council of the City of Clearlake, and is 
therefore reported as if it was part of the City. The Authority is reported as part of the City's special revenue, 
capital projects and debt service funds. The component unit redevelopment agency was dissolved effective 
February 1, 2012 and all residual asset and liabilities are reported in the Successor Agency private purpose 
fiduciary funds. 

 
B) Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus 
 
 The basic financial statements of the City are composed of the following: 
 

o Government-wide financial statements 
o Fund financial statements 
o Notes to the financial statements 

  
  Government-Wide Financial Statements 

 
Government-wide financial statements display information about the reporting government as a whole, except 
for its fiduciary activities.  Eliminations have been made in the Statement of Activities so that certain allocated 
expenses are recorded only once (by the function to which they were allocated).  However, general 
government expenses have not been allocated as indirect expenses to the various functions of the City. 

 
Government-wide financial statements are presented using the economic resources measurement focus and 
accrual basis of accounting.  Under the economic resources measurement focus, all (both current and long-
term) economic resources and obligations of the reporting government are reported in the government-wide 
financial statements.  Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenses are recognized in the 
accounts and reported in the financial statements. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues, 
expenses, gains, losses, assets and liabilities resulting from exchange and exchange-like transactions are 
recognized when the exchange takes place.  Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets and liabilities 
resulting from non-exchange transactions are recognized in accordance with the requirements of GASB 
Statement No. 33. 
 
Program revenues include charges for services and payments made by parties outside the reporting 
government’s citizenry if that money is restricted to a particular program.  Program revenues are netted with 
program expenses in the statement of activities to present the net cost of each program. 
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City of Clearlake 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended June 30, 2021 
 

 

1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued  
 

Amounts paid to acquire capital assets are capitalized as assets in the government-wide financial statements, 
rather than reported as an expense.  Proceeds of long-term debt are recorded as a liability in the government-
wide financial statements, rather than as an other financing source.  Amounts paid to reduce long-term 
indebtedness of the reporting government are reported as a reduction of the related liability, rather than as an 
expense. 
 
As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial 
statements. Interfund services provided and used are not eliminated in the process of consolidation. 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 

The underlying accounting system of the City is organized and operated on the basis of separate funds, each 
of which is considered to be a separate accounting entity.  The operations of each fund are accounted for 
with a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues and 
expenditures or expenses, as appropriate.  Governmental resources are allocated to and accounted for in 
individual funds based upon the purposes for which they are to be spent and the means by which spending 
activities are controlled. 
 

Fund financial statements for the primary government’s governmental funds are presented after the 
government-wide financial statements.  These statements display information about the major funds 
individually and nonmajor funds in the aggregate for all funds. 
 
Governmental Funds 
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental funds are presented using the modified accrual basis of 
accounting.  Their revenues are recognized when they become measurable and available as net current 
assets.  Measurable means that the amounts can be estimated, or otherwise determined.  Available means 
that the amounts were collected during the reporting period or soon enough thereafter to be available to 
finance the expenditures accrued for the reporting period.   
 
The City uses an availability period of 60 days. Sales taxes, property taxes, franchise taxes, gas taxes, motor 
vehicle in lieu, transient occupancy taxes, grants and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all 
considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues in the current fiscal period 
to the extent normally collected within the availability period.  Other revenue items are considered to be 
measurable and available when cash is received by the government. 
 
Revenue recognition is subject to the measurable and availability criteria for the governmental funds in the 
fund financial statements.  Exchange transactions are recognized as revenues in the period in which they are 
earned (i.e., the related goods or services are provided).  Locally imposed derived tax revenues are 
recognized as revenues in the period in which the underlying exchange transaction upon which they are 
based takes place.  Imposed nonexchange transactions are recognized as revenues in the period for which 
they were imposed.  If the period of use is not specified, they are recognized as revenues when an enforceable 
legal claim to the revenues arises or when they are received, whichever occurs first.  Government-mandated 
and voluntary nonexchange transactions are recognized as revenues when all applicable eligibility 
requirements have been met. 
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City of Clearlake 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended June 30, 2021 
 

 

1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued  
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental funds are presented using the current financial resources 
measurement focus.  This means that only current assets and current liabilities are generally included on their 
balance sheets.  The reported fund balance (net current assets) is considered to be a measure of “available 
spendable resources.”  Governmental fund operating statements present increases (revenues and other 
financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and other financing uses) in net current assets.  Accordingly, 
they are said to present a summary of sources and uses of “available spendable resources” during a period. 
 
Non-current portions of long-term receivables due to governmental funds are reported on their balance sheets 
in spite of their spending measurement focus.  Special reporting treatments are used to indicate, however, 
that they should not be considered “available spendable resources,” since they do not represent the net 
current assets. 
 
Recognition of governmental fund type revenues represented by non-current receivables are deferred until 
they become current receivables.  Non-current portions of long-term receivables are offset by nonspendable 
fund balance. 
 
Due to the nature of their spending measurement focus, expenditure recognition for governmental fund types 
excludes amounts represented by noncurrent liabilities.  Since they do not affect current assets, such long-
term amounts are not recognized as governmental fund type expenditures or fund liabilities. 
 
Amounts expended to acquire capital assets are recorded as expenditures in the year that resources were 
expended, rather than as fund assets.  The proceeds of long-term debt are recorded as other financing 
sources rather than as a fund liability.  Amounts paid to reduce long-term indebtedness are reported as fund 
expenditures. 
 
Proprietary Funds 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in 
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the 
City’s enterprise fund and internal service funds are charges to customers for services provided. Operating 
expenses for the City’s enterprise fund and internal service funds include the cost of sales and services, 
administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this 
definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses. 
 
The City’s internal service funds are presented in the proprietary funds financial statements. Because the 
principal users of the internal services are the City’s governmental activities, the financial statements of the 
internal service fund are consolidated in the governmental activities column when presented in the 
government-wide financial statements. To the extent possible, the cost of these services is reported in the 
appropriate functional activity (general government, public protection, development, etc.). 
 
Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services, or 
privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions, including 
special assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than program 
revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes. 
 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are combined in a fund, expenses are considered to be paid 
first from restricted resources, and then from unrestricted resources. 
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City of Clearlake 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended June 30, 2021 
 

 

1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued  
 
C) Fund Classifications 

 
The City reports the following major governmental funds: 
 
The General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund. It is used to account for all financial resources except 
those required to be accounted for in another fund. 
 
The HOME RLF Fund accounts for revolving loan funds used for activities pertaining to multi-family, first-time 
homebuyer, rehabilitation and other affordable housing loan and grant programs. 
 
The Series B Infrastructure Bond Proceeds Fund accounts for Series B proceeds used to complete various 
road and infrastructure projects consistent with the original bond issuance. 
 
The Roads Measure V Fund accounts for and reports financial resources related to the 1% transaction and 
use tax for improving and maintaining roads within the City. The tax sunsets in 20 years and an Oversight 
Committee has been established to review prior year expenditures. 
 
The Grants Fund accounts for and reports financial resources for the majority of all capital projects conducted 
by the City of Clearlake. The projects are funded by grant revenue deposited in Fund 240 or transfers from 
other funds within the City budget. 
 
Additionally, the City reports the following fund types: 

 
The Internal Service Fund accounts for the accumulation of resources for unemployment insurance. 
 
The Private-purpose Trust Fund accounts for the balances and transactions of the Successor Agency to the 
Clearlake Redevelopment Agency. 
 
The Custodial Fund accounts for monies held for the Lake County Local Agency Formation Commission 
(LAFCO).  

 
D) Cash and Investments 

 
The City’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term 
investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition.  Investments are 
reported in the accompanying financial statements at fair value, except for certain certificates of deposit and 
investment contracts that are reported at cost because they are not transferable and they have terms that are 
not affected by changes in market interest rates.  Changes in fair value that occur during a fiscal year are 
recognized as investment income reported for that fiscal year.  Investment income includes interest earnings, 
changes in fair value, and any gains or losses realized upon the liquidation, maturity, or sale of investments. 
 
The City pools cash and investments of all funds, except for assets held by fiscal agents.  Each fund’s share 
in this pool is displayed in the accompanying financial statements as cash and investments.  Investment 
income earned by the pooled investments is allocated to the various funds based on each fund’s average 
cash and investment balance. 
 
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash equivalents are defined as short-term, highly liquid 
investments that are both readily convertible to known amounts of cash or so near their maturity that they 
present insignificant risk of changes in value because of changes in interest rates, and have an original 
maturity date of 3 months or less. Cash equivalents represent the proprietary funds’ share in the cash and 
investment pool of the City.  
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City of Clearlake 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended June 30, 2021 
 

 

1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued  
 

E) Due from Other Governments 
 
The amounts recorded as due from other governments, include sales taxes, property taxes, and grant 
revenues, collected or provided by Federal, State, County and City governments and remain unremitted to 
the City as of June 30, 2021. 
 

F) Fund Balance 
 

The City implemented GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type 
Definitions as of June 30, 2011.  Fund balances in governmental funds are reported in classifications that 
comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to honor constraints on the 
specific purposes for which amounts in those funds can be spent.  The City considers restricted fund balance 
to have been spent first when an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted 
fund balance is available.  Similarly, when an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which amounts in any 
of the unrestricted classifications of fund balance could be used, the City considers committed amounts to be 
reduced first, followed by assigned amounts and then unassigned amounts. 
 
The following classifications describe the relative strength of the spending constraints placed on the purposes 
for which resources can be used: 

 
Nonspendable Fund Balance - Amounts that cannot be spent either because they are in nonspendable form 
or are required to be maintained intact. 
 
Restricted Fund Balance - Amounts that are constrained to specific purposes by state or federal laws, or 
externally imposed conditions by grantors or creditors. 
 
Committed Fund Balance - Amounts that may be specified by the City Council by ordinance to formally commit 
part of the City’s fund balances or future revenues for a specific purpose(s) or program.  To change or repeal 
any such commitment will require an additional formal City Council action utilizing the same type of action that 
was originally used. 
 
Assigned Fund Balance - Amounts that are constrained by the City Council's intent to use specified financial 
resources for specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed. The City’s fund balance policy 
delegates the authority to assign amounts to be used for specific purposes to the City Manager, or his 
designee. 
 
Unassigned Fund Balance - These are either residual positive net resources of fund balance in excess of 
what can properly be classified in one of the other four categories, or negative balances. 

 
G) Fund Equity 

 
In the government-wide financial statements, net position is classified in the following categories: 
 
Net investment in capital assets describes the portion of net position which is represented by the current net 
book value of the City’s capital assets, less the outstanding balance of any debt issued to finance these assets. 
 
Restricted describes the portion of net position which is restricted as to use by the terms and conditions of 
agreements with outside parties, governmental regulation, laws, or other restrictions which the City cannot 
unilaterally alter. 
 
Unrestricted describes the portion of net position which is not restricted to use. 
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City of Clearlake 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended June 30, 2021 
 

 

1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued  
 

H) Property Tax Calendar 
 

Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property as of January 1, each year.  Taxes are levied on July 
1, and are payable in two installments no later than December 10, and April 10, of each year.  Lake County 
bills and collects the property taxes and remits them to the City in installments during the year.  Under the 
provisions of NCGA Interpretation 3, property tax revenue is recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes 
have been levied, provided it is collected within 60 days of the end of the fiscal year. 
 
The County is permitted by State law (Proposition 13) to levy taxes at 1% of full market value (at time of 
purchase) and can increase the property tax rate no more than 2% per year.  Property Valuations are 
established by the Lake County Assessor for the secured and unsecured property tax rolls; the utility property 
tax roll is valued by the State Board of Equalization. Under the provision of Article XIII-A of the State 
Constitution (Proposition 13, adopted by the voters on June 6, 1978), properties are assessed at 100% of full 
value. From this base assessment, subsequent annual increases in valuation are limited to a maximum of two 
percent. However, an increase to full value is allowed for property improvements or upon change in ownership. 
Personal property is excluded from these limitations and is subject to annual reappraisal. 
 

I) Compensated Absences 
 
In accordance with GASB Statement No 16, a liability is recorded for unused balances only to the extent that 
it is probable that the unused balances will result in termination payments.  This is estimated by including in 
the liability the unused balances of employees currently entitled to receive termination payment, as well as 
those who are expected to become eligible to receive termination benefits as a result of continuing their 
employment with the City.  Upon separation, 100% of accrued vacation leave (up to a maximum of 400 hours) 
and accrued comp time is paid and, depending on longevity, sick leave is paid out up to 50% of the accrued 
amount. Other amounts of unused sick leave are excluded from the liability since their payment is contingent 
solely upon the occurrence of a future event (illness) which is outside the control of the City and the employee. 
 

J) Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets are recorded at cost where historical records are available and at an estimated historical cost 
where no historical records exist.  Contributed capital assets received prior to the implementation of GASB 72 
are valued at their estimated fair market value at the date of the contribution.  Contributed capital assets 
received subsequent to the implementation of GASB 72 are recorded at acquisition value as of the date 
received.  The City capitalizes assets with an original cost greater than $5,000 and with a useful lifespan 
longer than three years. 
 
Capital assets include public domain (infrastructure) assets consisting of certain improvements including 
roads, streets, sidewalks, medians and storm drains.  Depreciation has been provided using the straight line 
method over the estimated useful life of the asset in the government-wide financial statements. No 
depreciation is recorded in the year of acquisition or in the year of disposition.  
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City of Clearlake 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended June 30, 2021 
 

 

1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued  
 
The following schedule summarizes capital asset useful lives: 

 
Building and improvements  5 - 50 years 
Roadway improvements  50 years 
Sidewalks, curbs, and gutters  50 years 
Storm drain pipes/structures  50 years 
Traffic signal devices  5 - 40 years 
Landscaping  30 years 
Signage  25 years 
Leasehold improvements  5 years 
Machinery and equipment  3 - 5 years 
Vehicles  3 years 

 
K) Use of Estimates 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures.  
Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.  
 

L) Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
 

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
outflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents 
consumption of net position that applies to future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of 
resources (expense) until then.  The City reports deferred outflows of resources related to pension liabilities. 

 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
inflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an 
acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of 
resources (revenue) until that time.  The City has certain items, which arise only under the modified accrual 
basis of accounting, which qualifies for reporting in this category.  Accordingly, the item, unavailable revenue, 
is reported in the governmental funds balance sheet.  The governmental funds report unavailable revenues 
from property taxes, special assessments, grant receivables, and other miscellaneous receivables.  These 
amounts are deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become 

available. In addition, the City reports deferred inflows as a result of the City’s implementation of GASB 
Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, which qualify for reporting in this 
category. 
 

M) Net Position Flow Assumption 
 

Sometimes the City will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted (e.g. restricted bond or grant 
proceeds) and unrestricted resources.  In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted net position 
and unrestricted net position in the statement of net position, a flow assumption must be made about the order 
in which the resources are considered to be applied.  It is the City’s policy to consider restricted net position 
to have been depleted before unrestricted net position. 
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City of Clearlake 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended June 30, 2021 
 

 

1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued  
 

N) Implementation of Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Pronouncements 
 
 The Governmental Accounting Standards Board has issued the following Statements, which may affect the 
City’s financial reporting requirements in the future: 
 
GASB 87 – Leases:  This Statement requires recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases 
that previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of 
resources based on the payment provisions of the contract. It establishes a single model for lease 
accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying 
asset. The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 
2020. 
 
GASB 91 - Conduit Debt Obligations:  The primary objectives of this Statement are to provide a single 
method of reporting conduit debt obligations by issuers and eliminate diversity in practice.  The 
requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2020. 

 
O) Pensions 

 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and deferred outflows/inflows of resources related to 
pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the City of Clearlake’s 
California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) plan (Plan) and additions to/deductions from 
the Plan’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by CalPERS.  
For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due 
and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
 

 
2) CASH AND INVESTMENTS  

 
Cash and investments are classified in the accompanying financial statements as follows:  

 

 
 

Cash and Investments consist of the following: 
 

 
 
  

Statement of Net Position:
Cash and Investments 20,483,441$     

Statement of Fiduciary Net Postion:
Cash and Investments 1,039,266         
Cash and Investments with Fiscal Agents 16,906             

Total Cash and Investments 21,539,613$     

Cash on Hand 493$                
Deposits with Financial Institutions 17,314,699       
Investments 4,224,421         

Total Cash and Investments 21,539,613$     
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Year Ended June 30, 2021 
 

 

2) CASH AND INVESTMENTS – Continued 
 
Investments Authorized by the City’s Investment Policy 
 
The table below identifies the investment types that are authorized for the City by the California Government 
Code (or the City’s investment policy, where more restrictive).  The table also identifies certain provisions of the 
California Government Code (or the City’s investment policy, if more restrictive) that address interest rate risk, 
credit risk, and concentration of credit risk.  This table does not address investments of debt proceeds held by 
bond trustee that are governed by the provisions of debt agreements of the City, rather than the general 
provisions of the California Government Code or the City’s investment policy.  

 
  Authorized by     Maximum   Maximum 

Authorized  Investment   Maximum   Percentage   Investment 
 Investment Type   Policy   Maturity*    of Portfolio*    In One Issuer* 
        
Local Agency Bonds No  5 years  None  None 
U.S. Treasury Obligations Yes 2 years  None  None 
U.S. Agency Securities Yes 5 years  None  None 
Banker’s Acceptances Yes 180 days  40%  30% 
Commercial Paper Yes 270 days  15%  10% 
Negotiable Certificates of Deposit Yes 2 years  30%  None 
Repurchase Agreements Yes 1 year  None  None 
Reverse Repurchase Agreements No 92 days  20% of base value  None 
Medium Term Notes No 5 years  30%  None 
Mutual Funds No N/A  20%  10% 
Money Market Mutual Funds Yes N/A  20%  10% 
Mortgage Pass-through Securities No 5 years  20%  None 
County Pooled Investment Funds No N/A  None  None 
Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) Yes N/A  None  None 
Supranationals Yes 5 years  30%  None 
JPA Pools (other investment pools) No N/A  None  None 

 
*Based on state law requirements or investment policy requirements, whichever is more restrictive. 

 
Investments Authorized by Debt Agreements 
 
Investments of debt proceeds held by bond trustee are governed by provisions of the debt agreements, rather 
than the general provision of the California Government Code or the City’s investment policy.  The table below 
identifies the investment types that are authorized for investments held by bond trustee.  The table also identifies 
certain provisions of these debt agreements that address interest rate risk, credit risk, and concentration of 
credit risk. 
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2) CASH AND INVESTMENTS – Continued 
 

    Maximum   Maximum 
Authorized  Maximum   Percentage   Investment 

 Investment Type   Maturity    of Portfolio    In One Issuer 
      
U.S. Treasury Obligations 5 years  None  None 
U.S. Agency Securities 5 years  None  None 
Banker’s Acceptances 180 days  40%  30% 
Commercial Paper 270 days  25%  10% 
Negotiable Certificates of Deposit 5 years  30%  None 
Medium Term Notes 5 years  30%  5% 
Money Market Mutual Funds N/A  20%  10% 
Repurchase Agreements 270 days  30%  None 
Investment Contracts 30 years  None  None 
Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) N/A  50 million  None 

 
Disclosures Relating to Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment.  Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value to 
changes in market interest rate.  One of the ways that the City manages its exposure to interest rate risk is by 
purchasing a combination of shorter term and longer term investments and by timing cash flows from maturities 
so that a portion of the portfolio is maturing or coming close to maturity evenly over time as necessary to provide 
the cash flow and liquidity needed for operations.   
 
Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the City’s investments (including investments held by bond 
trustee) to market interest rate fluctuations is provided by the following table that shows the distribution of the 
City’s investment by maturity: 
 

 
 

  

Remaining Maturity (in Months)
Investment Type 12 Months or Less 1 to 2 Years 2 to 5 Years Total

Local Agency Investment Fund 4,207,515$       -$                    -$                    4,207,515$       
Held by Bond Trustee:

Money Market Mutual Funds 16,906           -                      -                      16,906           

Total Pooled Investments 4,224,421$       -$                    -$                    4,224,421$       
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2) CASH AND INVESTMENTS - Continued 
 
Disclosures Relating to Credit Risk 
 
Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of the 
investment.  This is measured by the assignment of rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization.   
 
The Local Agency Investment Fund is not required to be rated. Money Market Mutual funds held by bond trustees 
are rated AAA. 

 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
The investment policy of the City contains no limitations on the amount that can be invested in any one issuer 
beyond that stipulated by the California Government Code.  As of June 30, 2021, there were no investments in 
any one issuer (other than U.S. Treasury securities, mutual funds, and external investment pools) that represent 
5% or more of total City investments.  
 
Custodial Credit Risk 
 
Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial institution, a 
government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in 
the possession of an outside party.  The California Government Code and the City’s investment policy do not 
contain legal or policy requirements that would limit the exposure to custodial credit risk for deposits, other than 
the following provision for deposits:  The California Government Code requires that a financial institution secure 
deposits made by state or local government units by pledging securities in an undivided collateral pool held by 
a depository regulated under state law (unless so waived by the governmental unit).  The market value of the 
pledged securities in the collateral pool must equal at least 110% of the total amount deposited by the public 
agencies.  California law also allows financial institutions to secure City deposits by pledging first trust deed 
mortgage notes having a value of 150% of the secured public deposits. 
 
As of June 30, 2021, no deposits with financial institutions in excess of federal depository insurance limits were 
held in uncollateralized accounts. 
 
The custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty (e.g., 
broker-dealer) to a transaction, a government will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral 
securities that are in the possession of another party.  The California Government Code and the City’s 
investment policy do not contain legal or policy requirements that would limit the exposure to custodial credit 
risk for investments.  With respect to investments, custodial credit risk generally applies only to direct 
investments in marketable securities. 
 
Custodial credit risk does not apply to a local government’s indirect investment in securities through the use of 
mutual funds or government investment pools (such as LAIF).  As of June 30, 2021, none of the City’s 
investments were held by the broker-dealer (counterparty) that was used by the City to purchase the securities.   
 
For investments identified herein as held by bond trustee, the bond trustee selects the investments under terms 
of the applicable trust agreement, acquires the investment, and holds the investment on behalf of the reporting 
government. 
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2) CASH AND INVESTMENTS - Continued 
 
Fair Value 
 
The City categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally 
accepted accounting principles.  The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value 
of the asset.  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant 
other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.  The Local Agency Investment Fund 
and money market mutual funds are not subject to the fair value hierarchy; therefore, the City has no 
investments that are subject to recurring fair value measurements. 
 
Investment in State Investment Pool 
 
The City is a voluntary participant in the LAIF that is regulated by the California Government Code under the 
oversight of the Treasurer of the State of California.  The fair value of the City’s investment in this pool is 
reported in the accompanying financial statements at amounts based upon the City’s pro-rata share of the fair 
value provided by LAIF for the entire LAIF portfolio (in relation to the amortized cost of that portfolio).  The 
balance available for withdrawal is based on the accounting records maintained by LAIF, which are recorded 
on an amortized cost basis. 

 
3) INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS 

 
Interfund receivables and payables at June 30, 2021 are as follows: 
 

 
 
The $57,604 due to the General Fund from the non-major Governmental Funds will be paid with future revenues. 
 
Transfers consisted of the following at June 30, 2021: 
 

 
 

Transfers were made from the Grants Capital Projects Fund to the General Fund of $34,555 for project costs.  
Transfers were made from the General Fund, Series B Infrastructure Bond Proceeds, Roads Measure V and 
Non-Major Funds to the Grants Capital Projects Fund totaling $3,630,212 for project costs.   

 

Due To (Receivable) Due From (Payable) Amount

General Fund Non-major Governmental Funds 57,604$           

Total 57,604$          

General Internal
TRANSFERS OUT Fund Grants Service Funds Total

General Fund -$                1,230,652$  118,748$     1,349,400$  
Series B Infrastructure Bond Proceeds -                  28,802         -                  28,802         
Roads Measure V -                  1,617,859    -                  1,617,859    
Grants Capital Projects Fund 34,555         -                  -                  34,555         
Non-Major Funds -                  752,899       -                  752,899       

Total 34,555$       3,630,212$  118,748$     3,783,515$  

TRANSFERS IN
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4) LOANS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE 
 
Through the City’s various housing rehabilitation funds, first-time home buyer’s funds, and business/economic 
development loan funds, the City has loaned funds to qualifying individuals and businesses. Interest rates vary 
depending on the terms of the loan. Interest is accrued on the loans that bear interest.  The balance of the loans 
receivable includes the accrued interest earned and deferred until future periods and an allowance for doubtful 
accounts of $7,166,482. 
 
Loans and notes receivable for the year ended June 30, 2021, consisted of the following: 
 

 
 

5) CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2021 is as follows: 
 

 
Depreciation expense was charged in the following function of the Statement of Activities: 

  

Beginning Ending 
Fund Balance Additions Deletions Balance

HOME RLF 5,274,468$     68,220$          51,770$          5,290,918$     
Nonmajor Governmental Funds 2,806,629       42,689           254,536          2,594,782       
Total 8,081,097$     110,909$        306,306$        7,885,700$     

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Governmental Activities:
Nondepreciable Capital Assets

Land 7,306,000$    897,905$       479,934$       7,723,971$    
Construction in Progress 3,012,354      1,000,452      3,012,354      1,000,452      

Total Capital Assets Not Depreciated 10,318,354    1,898,357      3,492,288      8,724,423      

Depreciable Capital Assets
Buildings and Improvements 3,561,387      -                    500,000         3,061,387      
Equipment 1,436,261      447,777         -                    1,884,038      
Vehicles 1,652,168      66,828           -                    1,718,996      
Infrastructure 15,830,087    5,501,563      -                    21,331,650    

Total Depreciable Capital Assets 22,479,903    6,016,168      500,000         27,996,071    

Less Accumulated Depreciation:
Buildings and Improvements 1,686,722      97,683           40,277           1,744,128      
Equipment 765,507         152,588         -                    918,095         
Vehicles 1,108,096      99,714           -                    1,207,810      
Infrastructure 4,146,328      511,924         -                    4,658,252      

Total Accumulated Depreciation 7,706,653      861,909         40,277           8,528,285      

Net Depreciable Capital Assets 14,773,250    5,154,259      459,723         19,467,786    

Total Capital Assets, Net 25,091,604$   7,052,616$    3,952,011$    28,192,209$   
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5) CAPITAL ASSETS - Continued 
 

 
 
6) LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 

 
The following is a summary of long-term liabilities, all of which are funded by the General Fund, for the year ended 
June 30, 2021: 
 

 
 
Compensated absences and the net pension liability are typically liquidated by the General Fund. 
 
Energy Efficiency Lease Agreement (direct borrowing) 
 
In April, the City entered into a lease-purchase agreement for the acquisition and installation of certain energy 
conservation equipment including lighting and solar with an aggregate principal borrowing of $808,519.  The 
proceeds are to be used to pay for the energy efficiency and conservation improvements as specified in the 
agreement.  The payments bear interest at 3.50% and are due and payable annually on November 15th and 
each year, maturing on November 15, 2032.  The General Fund will generally be responsible for making the 
debt service payments annually.   
 
The annual debt service requirements for the lease agreement as of June 30, 2021 are as follows: 
 

 

General Government 105,218$       
Public Safety 58,952           
Public Works and Streets 697,739         

Total Depreciation Expense 861,909$       

Beginning Ending Due Within
Governmental Activities: Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Compensated Absences 255,348$        78,466$          -$                   333,814$        65,000$          
Net Pension Liability 7,415,006       422,656          -                    7,837,662       -                    
Claims Payable 118,316          119,886          -                    238,202          -                    
Loans from direct borrowings:

Energy Efficiency Loan 721,954          -                    43,149            678,805          46,238            
Capital Lease Payable 223,686          -                    69,816            153,870          69,816            

Total 8,734,310$     621,008$        112,965$        9,242,353$     181,054$        

Fiscal Year Ending
June 30, Principal Interest Total

2022 46,238$        24,366$        70,604$        
2023 47,590          22,649          70,239          
2024 48,209          20,917          69,126          
2025 50,360          19,141          69,501          
2026 53,233          18,278          71,511          
2027 56,478          15,306          71,784          
2028 59,962          13,214          73,176          
2029 63,696          10,992          74,688          
2030 67,690          8,631            76,321          
2031 71,865          6,123            77,988          
2032 75,070          3,461            78,531          
2033 38,414          701              39,115          
Totals 678,805$     163,779$     842,584$     
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6) LONG-TERM LIABILITIES – Continued 
 
Capital Lease Payable 
 
The City, at various occasions, enters into lease agreements that qualify as capital leases for accounting 
purposes and, therefore, have been recorded at the present value of their future minimum lease payments as 
of the inception date.  The capitalized costs and accumulated depreciation on assets acquired through capital 
leases are $291,855 and $60,803. The future minimum lease obligations and the net present value of these 
minimum lease payments as of June 30, 2021, were as follows:  

 

 
 
Fiduciary Fund Long-term Debt 
 
The following is a summary of the Successor Agency Private-purpose Trust Fund long-term debt: 

 

 
 

In December 2017, the Clearlake Successor Agency sold $13,275,000 in 2017 Taxable Tax Allocation 
Refunding Bonds to refund the previously outstanding 2006A and 2006B Series bonds, at a discount of 
$338,150.  Interest on the 2017 Bonds is payable on April 1 and October 1 of each year.  Principal payments 
are made on October 1 of each year, with the final payment due on October 1, 2036.  Interest rates range from 
1.75% to 4%.  Future debt service requirements are as follows: 

  

Fiscal Year Ending Governmental
June 30, Activities

2022 82,497$          

2023 82,497           

Totals 164,994$        

Less:  Interest (11,124)          

Present Value 153,870$        

Beginning Ending Due Within
Tax Allocation Bonds: Balance Additions Deletions Balance One Year

Series 2017 12,080,000$   -$                   555,000$        11,525,000$   560,000$        
Bond Discount (300,578)         -                    (18,786)          (281,792)         (18,786)          

Total 11,779,422$   -$                   536,214$        11,243,208$   541,214$        
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6) LONG-TERM LIABILITIES – Continued 
 
 

 
 
7) PENSION PLAN 

 
General Information about the Defined Benefit Pension Plan 
 
Plan Description – All qualified permanent and probationary employees are eligible to participate in the Public 
Agency Cost-Sharing Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plan (Plan) administered by the California 
Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS.)  The Plan consists of individual rate plans (benefit tiers) 
within a safety risk pool (police and fire) and a miscellaneous risk pool (all others.)  Plan assets may be used 
to pay benefits for any employer rate plan of the safety and miscellaneous pools.  Accordingly, rate plans within 
the safety or miscellaneous pools are not separate plans under GASB Statement No. 68.  Individual employers 
may sponsor more than one rate plan in the miscellaneous or safety risk pools.  The City of Clearlake sponsors 
2 rate plans (both are miscellaneous.) Benefit provisions under the Plan are established by State statute and 
City resolution.  CalPERS issues publicly available reports that include a full description of the pension plan 
regarding benefit provisions, assumptions and membership information that can be found on the CalPERS 
website. 
 
Benefits Provided – The Plan is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered 
by the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS). A full description of the pension plan benefit 
provisions, assumptions for funding purposes but not accounting purposes, and membership information is 
listed in the June 30, 2019 Annual Actuarial Valuation Report. Details of the benefits provided can be obtained 
in Appendix B of the June 30, 2019 actuarial valuation report. This report is a publicly available valuation report 
that can be obtained at CalPERS’ website under Forms and Publications. 
 

  

Fiscal Year Ending
June 30, Principal Interest Total

2022 560,000$      393,163$      953,163$      
2023 575,000        378,966        953,966        
2024 600,000        363,544        963,544        
2025 610,000        347,281        957,281        
2026 630,000        329,444        959,444        
2027 645,000        309,916        954,916        
2028 665,000        289,031        954,031        
2029 690,000        265,288        955,288        
2030 715,000        238,944        953,944        
2031 745,000        211,569        956,569        
2032 770,000        183,163        953,163        
2033 800,000        153,725        953,725        
2034 830,000        123,163        953,163        
2035 865,000        90,300          955,300        
2036 895,000        55,100          950,100        
2037 930,000        18,600          948,600        
Totals 11,525,000$ 3,751,194$  15,276,194$ 
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7) PENSION PLAN – Continued  
 

The Plan’s provisions and benefits in effect at June 30, 2021, are summarized as follows: 
 

 
 

Contributions – Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law requires that the 
employer contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an annual basis by the actuary and shall 
be effective on the July 1 following notice of a change in the rate.  Funding contributions for the Plans are 
determined annually on an actuarial basis as of June 30 by CalPERS.  The actuarially determined rate is the 
estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an 
additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability.  The City is required to contribute the difference 
between the actuarially determined rate and the contribution rate of employees. 
 
Beginning in fiscal year 2016, CalPERS collects employer contributions for the Plan as a percentage of payroll for 
the normal cost portion as noted in the rates above and as a dollar amount for contributions toward the unfunded 
liability and side fund.  The dollar amounts are billed on a monthly basis.  The City’s required contribution for the 
unfunded liability was $477,721 in fiscal year 2021.  The City’s contributions to the Plan for the year ended June 
30, 2021 were $1,071,532. 
 

  

Miscellaneous
Miscellaneous PEPRA

Prior to On or after
Hire date January 1, 2013 January 1, 2013
Benefit formula 2% @ 55 2% @ 62
Benefit vesting schedule 5 years service 5 years service
Benefit payments monthly for life monthly for life
Retirement age 50 - 63 52 - 67
Monthly benefits, as a % of eligible compensation 2% 2%
Required employee contribution rates 7% 6.75%
Required employer contribution rates 10.484% + $134,117 7.732% + $3,429

Safety Police
Safety Police PEPRA

Prior to On or after
Hire date January 1, 2013 January 1, 2013
Benefit formula 3% @ 50 2% @ 62
Benefit vesting schedule 5 years service 5 years service
Benefit payments monthly for life monthly for life
Retirement age 50 - 55 50 - 57
Monthly benefits, as a % of eligible compensation 3% 2% to 2.7%
Required employee contribution rates 9% 12%
Required employer contribution rates 22.437% + $334,952 13.044% + $5,223
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7) PENSION PLAN – Continued  
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions 
 
As of June 30, 2021, the City reported a net pension liability for its proportionate shares of the net pension 
liability of the Plan of $7,837,662.  The City’s net pension liability for the Plan is measured as the proportionate 
share of the net pension liability.  The net pension liability of the Plan is measured as of June 30, 2020, and the 
total pension liability for the Plan used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial 
valuation as of June 30, 2019 rolled forward to June 30, 2020 using standard update procedures.  The City’s 
proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of contributions to 
the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating employers, actuarially determined.  
The City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability as of June 30, 2019, and 2020 was as follows: 
 

 
 

For the year ended June 30, 2021, the City recognized pension expense of $1,270,473.  At June 30, 2021, 
the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from 
the following sources: 
 

 
$1,071,532 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions subsequent to the measurement 
date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2022. Other 
amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will 
be recognized as pension expense as follows: 
 

 

Proportion - June 30, 2019 0.07236%

Proportion - June 30, 2020 0.07203%

Change - Increase (Decrease) -0.00033%

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date 1,071,532$    -$                 
Differences between actual and expected experience 549,910        -                   
Changes in assumptions -                   34,563          
Change in employer's proportion 63,122          156,899        
Differences between employer's contributions and

employer's proportionate share of contributions 108,357        623,010        
Net differences between projected and actual
  earnings on plan investments 188,079        -                   

Total 1,981,000$    814,472$       

Year Ending

June 30, Amount

2020 (281,444)$     

2021 78,028          

2022 205,589        

2023 92,823          

2024 -                   

Thereafter -                   
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7) PENSION PLAN – Continued  
 
 Actuarial Assumptions – The total pension liabilities in the June 30, 2019 actuarial valuations were 

determined using the following actuarial assumptions: 
 

 
 

The mortality table used was developed based on CalPERS-specific data. The table includes 15 years of 
mortality improvements using Society of Actuaries Scale 90% of scale MP 2016. For more details on this table, 
please refer to the December 2017 experience study report (based on CalPERS demographic data from 1997 
to 2015) that can be found on the CalPERS website. 
 
Long-term Expected Rate of Return - The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was 
determined using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return 
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset 
class.  In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account both short-term and 
long-term market return expectations as well as the expected pension fund cash flows. 
 
Using historical returns of all the funds’ asset classes, expected compound returns were calculated over the 
short-term (first 10 years) and the long-term (11-60 years) using a building-block approach. Using the expected 
nominal returns for both short-term and long-term, the present value of benefits was calculated for each fund. 

 
The expected rate of return was set by calculating the rounded single equivalent expected return that arrived 
at the same present value of benefits for cash flows as the one calculated using both short-term and long-term 
returns. The expected rate of return was then set equal to the single equivalent rate calculated above and 
adjusted to account for assumed administrative expenses.  The expected real rates of return by asset class are 
as follows: 

 
 

Valuation date June 30, 2019
Measurement date June 30, 2020
Actuarial cost method entry-age normal
Actuarial assumptions:
  Discount rate 7.15%
  Inflation 2.50%
  Projected salary increase (1)
  Investment rate of return 7.15%
  Mortality (2)

(1) Depending on age, service and type of employment
(2) Derived using CalPERS’ Membership Data for all Funds. 

New Strategic Real Return Real Return

Asset Class Allocation Years 1 - 10 (1) Years 11+ (2)
Global Equity 50% 4.80% 5.98%
Global Fixed Income 28% 1.00% 2.62%
Inflation Assets -                 0.77% 1.81%
Private Equity 8% 6.30% 7.23%
Real Assets 13% 3.75% 4.93%
Liquidity 1% -                  -0.92%

(1) An expected inflation of 2.0% used for this period.
(2) An expected inflation of 2.92% used for this period.
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7) PENSION PLAN – Continued  
 
Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability for PERF C was 7.15%. The 
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will 
be made at the current member contribution rates and that contributions from employers will be made at 
statutorily required rates, actuarially determined. Based on those assumptions, the Plan’s fiduciary net position 
was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, 
the long-term expected rate of return on plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit 
payments to determine the total pension liability. 

 
Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 
 
The following presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for the Plan, calculated using 
the discount rate for the Plan, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would 
be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower or 1-percentage point higher than 
the current rate: 

 
 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position – Detailed information about each pension plan’s fiduciary net position is 
available in the separately issued CalPERS financial reports. 
 
Payable to the Pension Plan 
 
At June 30, 2021, the City reported no payables to the pension plan, for outstanding contributions required for 
the year ended June 30, 2021. 
 

8) SUMMARY DISCLOSURE OF SELF-INSURANCE CONTINGENCIES 
 
The City of Clearlake (“City”) is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction 
of assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which the City obtains insurance coverage.  The City 
maintains self-insurance programs for workers’ compensation, general and auto liability.  Claims are processed 
by an independent third-party claims administrator. 
 
The City is a member of the Public Agency Risk Sharing Authority of California- PARSAC (“Authority”), a joint 
powers authority, which provides joint protection programs for public entities covering automobile, general liability, 
errors and omission losses, workers’ compensation, and property claims. Under the program, the City has a 
$50,000 retention limit similar to a deductible with the Authority being responsible for losses above that amount 
up to $1 million.  The Authority has additional coverage of $49 million in excess of its $1 million retention limit 
through affiliated risk management authorities.   
 

  

1% Decrease 6.15%

Net Pension Liability 11,865,683$       

Current Discount Rate 7.15%

Net Pension Liability 7,837,662$         

1% Increase 8.15%

Net Pension Liability 4,524,771$         
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8) SUMMARY DISCLOSURE OF SELF-INSURANCE CONTINGENCIES - Continued 
 
Liabilities of the City are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of the loss can be 
reasonably estimated. Liabilities include an amount for claims that have been incurred but not reported (IBNRs). 
The result of the process to estimate the claims liability is not an exact amount as it depends on many complex 
factors, such as inflation, changes in legal doctrines, and damage awards. Accordingly, claims are reevaluated 
periodically to consider the effects of economic and social factors. The estimate of the claims liability also includes 
amounts for incremental claim adjustment expenses related to specific claims and other claim adjustment 
expenses regardless of whether allocated to specific claims. Estimated recoveries, for example from salvage or 
subrogation, are another component of the claims liability estimate. 
 
The Authority covers workers’ compensation claims up to its self-insurance limit of $500,000. The Local Agency 
Workers Compensation Excess Pool provides excess coverage to statutory limits. The City pays an annual 
premium to the Authority and may share in any surplus revenues or may be required to pay additional 
assessments based upon the Authority’s operating results.  Financial statements of the Public Agency Risk 
Sharing Authority of California (PARSAC) may be obtained from its administrative office located at 1525 Response 
Road, Suite One, Sacramento, California, 95815; www.parsac.org or by calling (916) 927-7727. 
 
Included in the accrued claims liability is an estimated liability for claims filed, as calculated by the City’s third-
party claims administrator, but not paid, in the amount of $238,202 for workers’ compensation. 
 

Fiscal  Claims Payable      Claims Payable 
Year  Beginning of Year  Additions  Deletions  End of Year 

         
6/30/21  $ 118,316 $  119,886  $ -  $ 238,202 
6/30/20   38,100 80,216   -   118,316 

 
During the past three fiscal years none of the above programs of protection have had settlements or judgments 
that exceeded pooled or insured coverage.  There have been no significant reductions in pooled or insured liability 
covered from coverage in the prior year. 

 
9) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

 
The City has received State and Federal funds that are subject to review and audit by the grantor agencies.  Such 
audits could generate expenditure disallowances under terms of the grants; however, it is believed that any such 
reimbursements will not be significant. 
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10) FUND BALANCE  
 

 
 
11) ACCUMULATED FUND DEFICITS 

 
At June 30, 2021, the following funds had deficit fund balances: 
 

Non-major Funds  
Gas Tax Fund $  (7,074) 
Recycle Fund   (13,077) 

 
These deficits will be eliminated through the collection of unavailable revenues and future revenues. 

 
12) LEGAL SETTLEMENT 

 
In June 2019, the City, among other entities, was a party to a settlement with Pacific Gas and Electric Company 
(PG&E) with a total settlement of $415 million.  In July 2020, the City was allocated a gross settlement amount 
of $18,347,776, of which, the City received $14,876,403.  The settlement amount was based on documented 
costs incurred and/or impacts from fires where there wasn’t another funding source.  The largest of which was 
impacts to City roads and potential slope mitigation/watershed restoration costs.  According to the settlement 
agreement, the use of the funds is entirely within the City’s discretion.  
 

 
13) RESTATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

 
The beginning net position of the Successor Agency Private-purpose Trust Fund was reduced by $996,005 on 
the Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position to remove a purchased insurance policy previously reported 
as an asset. 

 
14) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

In June 2022, the City of Clearlake Public Financing Authority issued a $14,755,000 loan to be used to finance 
capital improvements of the City of Clearlake.  The loan will be repaid using Measure V funding. 

Series B Non-major

General Infrastructure Roads Governmental

Fund HOME RLF Bonds Measure V Grants Funds Total

Nonspendable:

Notes Receivable 1,813$           -$                   -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  1,813$           

Restricted for:

Capital Projects -                     -                     2,568,751     1,015,225     -                    -                    3,583,976      

Housing -                     5,339,178      -                    -                    -                    3,197,397     8,536,575      

Public Works/Street Projects -                     -                     -                    -                    78,663          623,843        702,506         

Public Safety -                     -                     -                    -                    -                    447,517        447,517         

PEG -                     -                     -                    -                    -                    268,488        268,488         
-                   

Unassigned 15,329,872    -                     -                    -                    -                    (20,151)         15,309,721    

Total Fund Balances 15,331,685$  5,339,178$    2,568,751$   1,015,225$   78,663$        4,517,094$   28,850,596$  
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Variance with
Final Budget

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Taxes and Assessments 4,875,826$    5,189,028$       5,861,601$     672,573$       
Fines and Forfeitures 110,500         80,500              89,624            9,124             
Licenses and Permits 34,500           34,500              21,002            (13,498)          
Use of Money and Property 2,600 2,600 19,420 16,820
Intergovernmental 337,685 255,913 344,530 88,617           
Charges for Services 791,833 903,313 1,077,445 174,132
Legal Settlement -                     -                        14,876,403 14,876,403
Other Revenues 6,600              1,982,562         1,132,439       (850,123)        

Total Revenues 6,159,544 8,448,416 23,422,464 14,974,048

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General Government 1,836,982      2,291,891         1,840,294       451,597         
Public Safety 4,164,696 4,039,281 4,028,306 10,975
Public Works and Streets 266,570 449,178 459,944 (10,766)
Housing 417,280         451,990            350,415          101,575         
Parks and Recreation 147,147         286,767            366,481          (79,714)          

Capital Outlay 28,600           231,724            133,461          98,263           
Debt Service:

Principal 120,000         120,000            112,965          7,035             
Interest 48,000           48,000              31,527            16,473           

Total Expenditures 7,029,275 7,918,831 7,323,393 595,438

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures (869,731) 529,585 16,099,071 15,569,486

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In 419,731         270,622            34,555            (236,067)        
Transfers Out -                     (1,396,474)        (1,349,400) 47,074           

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 419,731 (1,125,852) (1,314,845) (188,993)

Net Change in Fund Balances (450,000) (596,267) 14,784,226 15,380,493

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 547,459 547,459 547,459 -                     

Fund Balance, End of Year 97,459$        (48,808)$          15,331,685$   15,380,493$ 

City of Clearlake
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - General Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021

Budgeted Amounts
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Variance with
Final Budget

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Use of Money and Property 2,500$           2,500$           85$               (2,415)$       
Charges for Services 50,000           50,000           4,702            (45,298)       

Total Revenues 52,500           52,500           4,787 (47,713)

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General Government -                     -                     -                    -                  
Housing 126,000         126,000         26,162 99,838

Capital Outlay -                     -                     -                    -                  

Total Expenditures 126,000         126,000         26,162 99,838         

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures (73,500)          (73,500)          (21,375) 52,125

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                     -                     -                    -                  
Transfers Out (5,000)            (5,000)            -                    5,000          

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (5,000)            (5,000)            -                    5,000          

Net Change in Fund Balances (78,500)          (78,500)          (21,375) 57,125         

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 5,360,553 5,360,553 5,360,553 -                  

Fund Balance, End of Year 5,282,053$   5,282,053$   5,339,178$   57,125$      

City of Clearlake
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - HOME RLF Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021

Budgeted Amounts
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City of Clearlake 
Required Supplementary Information 

Year Ended June 30, 2021 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 
Notes to the Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability 
 
Benefit Changes: None 
 
Changes in Assumptions: In 2017, the accounting discount rate changed from 7.65% to 7.15%. 
 
*Fiscal year 2015 was the first year of implementation; therefore, 10 years of information are not yet available.

Proportionate Plan Fiduciary
Proportion of Proportionate Share of the Net Net Position as

the Net Pension Share of Net Covered Pension Liability a % of the Total
Measurement Date Liability Pension Liability Payroll as a % of Payroll Pension Liability

2020 0.07203% 7,837,662$       3,854,560$       203.33% 73.75%

2019 0.07236% 7,415,006         3,309,939         224.02% 73.89%

2018 0.07327% 7,060,885         2,896,358         243.78% 73.66%

2017 0.07339% 7,277,873         3,013,215         241.53% 70.88%

2016 0.07556% 6,538,364         2,561,821         255.22% 70.81%

2015 0.07978% 5,476,171         2,427,382         225.60% 74.68%

2014 0.08254% 5,135,962         2,170,611         236.61% 75.69%

Schedule of the City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability
Last 10 Years*
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City of Clearlake 
Required Supplementary Information 

Year Ended June 30, 2021 
 

 

 
 

 

 
Notes to the Schedule of Plan Contributions 
 
Valuation Date: 6/30/2013, 6/30/2014, 6/30/2015, 6/30/2016, 6/30/2017, 6/30/2018, 6/30/2019 
 
*Fiscal year 2015 was the first year of implementation, therefore, not all 10 years of information are available. 

 
 

 

Contributions in
Relation to the Contributions

Contractually Actuarially Contribution as a % of
Required Determined Deficiency/ Covered Covered

Fiscal Year Contributions Contributions (Excess) Payroll Payroll

2021 1,071,532$       (1,071,532)$      -$                  3,854,560$    27.80%

2020 1,197,351         (1,197,351)        -                    3,309,939      36.17%

2019 841,961            (841,961)           -                    2,896,358      29.07%

2018 1,375,377         (1,375,377)        -                    3,013,215      45.64%

2017 181,051            (181,051)           -                    2,561,821      7.07%

2016 659,326            (659,326)           -                    2,427,382      27.16%

2015 673,740            (673,740)           -                    2,170,611      31.04%

Schedule of Plan Contributions
Last 10 Years*

42
72

Section I, Item 11.



City of Clearlake 
Notes to Required Supplementary Information 

Year Ended June 30, 2021 
 

 

 
1. Budgetary Control and Accounting 
 
 The City Council approves each year’s budget submitted by the City Manager and Assistant City Manager prior 

to the beginning of the new fiscal year.  Public hearings are conducted prior to its adoption by the Council.  All 
supplemental appropriations, where required during the period, are also approved by the Council.  
Intradepartmental budget transfers are approved by the City Manager.  In most cases, expenditures may not 
exceed appropriations at the departmental level within the general fund and at the fund level for other funds.  
At fiscal year-end, all operating budget appropriations lapse. 

 
 A budget was not adopted for the CARES Act Special Revenue Fund. 
 
 Budgets for governmental funds are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting 

principles (GAAP).  
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Use of Money and Property -$                   3,599$          3,599$         

Total Revenues -                     3,599 3,599

EXPENDITURES
Capital Outlay 1,000,000      -                    1,000,000    

Total Expenditures 1,000,000      -                    1,000,000    

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures (1,000,000)     3,599 1,003,599

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                     -                    -                  
Transfers Out (37,200)          (28,802)         8,398          

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (37,200)          (28,802)         8,398          

Net Change in Fund Balances (1,037,200)     (25,203) 1,011,997    

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 2,593,954 2,593,954 -                  

Fund Balance, End of Year 1,556,754$   2,568,751$   1,011,997$ 

City of Clearlake
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - Series B Infrastructure Bonds Capital Projects Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Taxes and Assessments 2,562,558$    2,607,616$   45,058$       
Use of Money and Property 500                542               42               
Intergovernmental -                     407,217        407,217       

Total Revenues 2,563,058      3,015,375 452,317

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Public Works and Streets 884,784         626,840 257,944
Capital Outlay 253,600         254,787 (1,187)

Total Expenditures 1,138,384      881,627 256,757       

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures 1,424,674      2,133,748 709,074

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                     -                    -                  
Transfers Out (1,652,298)     (1,617,859)    34,439         

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (1,652,298)     (1,617,859)    34,439         

Net Change in Fund Balances (227,624)        515,889 743,513       

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 499,336 499,336 -                  

Fund Balance, End of Year 271,712$      1,015,225$   743,513$    

City of Clearlake
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - Roads Measure V Capital Project Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Intergovernmental -$                   389,295$      389,295$     
Use of Money and Property -                     3                   3

Total Revenues -                     389,298 389,298

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General Government -                     -                    -                   
Public Works and Streets -                     -                    -                   

Capital Outlay -                     4,007,255 (4,007,255)

Total Expenditures -                     4,007,255 (4,007,255)   

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures -                     (3,617,957) (3,617,957)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In 5,724,418      3,630,212     (2,094,206)   
Transfers Out -                     (34,555)         (34,555)        

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 5,724,418      3,595,657     (2,128,761)   

Net Change in Fund Balances 5,724,418      (22,300) (5,746,718)   

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 100,963 100,963 -                   

Fund Balance, End of Year 5,825,381$   78,663$        (5,746,718)$

City of Clearlake
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - Grants Capital Project Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Low and 
Moderate

Police Income Park Police
Measure P Housing Development PEG Grants

ASSETS
Cash and Investments 183,157$       181,110$       3,955$         252,834$     -$               
Receivables:

Accounts -                    2,571            -                  16,019        -                 
Taxes 252,179        -                    -                  -                  -                 
Interest -                    31                 -                  46               -                 
Notes Receivable -                    1,093,218      -                  -                  -                 

Due from Other Funds -                    -                    -                  -                  -                 

Total Assets 435,336$      1,276,930$   3,955$        268,899$     -$              

LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable -$                  -$                  -$                 411$           -$               
Accrued Payroll Liabilities 49,707          2,089            -                  -                  -                 
Deposits -                    3,850            -                  -                  -                 
Due to Other Funds -                    -                    -                  -                  -                 

Total Liabilities 49,707          5,939            -                  411             -                 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unavailable Revenues - Receivables -                    -                    -                  -                  -                 

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources -                    -                    -                  -                  -                 

FUND BALANCE (DEFICITS)
Restricted 385,629        1,270,991      3,955           268,488       -                 
Unassigned -                    -                    -                  -                  -                 

Total Fund Balances 385,629 1,270,991 3,955 268,488 -                 

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of
Resources and Fund Balances (Deficits) 435,336$      1,276,930$   3,955$        268,899$     -$              

Special Revenue

Combining Balance Sheet 
Non-major Governmental Funds

June 30, 2021

City of Clearlake
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Police CDBG
Police Asset Gas Traffic CARES Code EDBG
ABC Seizure Tax Impact Act Enforcement RLF

14$               62,930$     14,193$     18,781$     -$               330,455$      118,519$   

-                   -                 -                 -                 -                 -                    -                 
-                   -                 51,518       -                 -                 -                    -                 
-                   12              60              -                 -                 9                   52              
-                   -                 -                 -                 -                 1,409,156     92,408       
-                   -                 -                 -                 -                 -                    -                 

14$               62,942$    65,771$     18,781$    -$              1,739,620$  210,979$   

-$                 1,068$       14,125$     -$               -$               -$                  -$               
-                   -                 14,193       -                 -                 15,363          -                 
-                   -                 -                 -                 -                 -                    -                 
-                   -                 44,527       -                 -                 -                    -                 

-                   1,068         72,845       -                 -                 15,363          -                 

-                   -                 -                 -                 -                 300               8,530         

-                   -                 -                 -                 -                 300               8,530         

14                 61,874       -                 18,781       -                 1,723,957     202,449     
-                   -                 (7,074)        -                 -                 -                    -                 

14 61,874 (7,074) 18,781 -                 1,723,957 202,449

14$               62,942$    65,771$     18,781$    -$              1,739,620$  210,979$   

Special Revenue
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Special Capital
Revenue Projects

Total
Series A Non-major

Recycle Infrastructure Governmental
Fund Bonds Funds

ASSETS
Cash and Investments -$                601,001$       1,766,949$    
Receivables:

Accounts -                  -                    18,590           
Taxes -                  -                    303,697         
Interest -                  106               316                
Notes Receivable -                  -                    2,594,782      

Due from Other Funds -                  -                    -                     

Total Assets -$               601,107$       4,684,334$    

LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable -$                -$                  15,604$         
Accrued Payroll Liabilities -                  -                    81,352           
Deposits -                  -                    3,850             
Due to Other Funds 13,077        -                    57,604           

Total Liabilities 13,077        -                    158,410         

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unavailable Revenues - Receivables -                  -                    8,830             

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources -                  -                    8,830             

FUND BALANCE (DEFICITS)
Restricted -                  601,107        4,537,245      
Unassigned (13,077)       -                    (20,151)          

Total Fund Balances (13,077)       601,107        4,517,094

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of
Resources and Fund Balances (Deficits) -$               601,107$       4,684,334$    

City of Clearlake
Combining Balance Sheet 

Non-major Governmental Funds - Continued
June 30, 2021
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Low and 
Moderate

Police Income Park Police
Measure P Housing Development PEG Grants

REVENUES
Taxes and Assessments 1,504,493$   -$                  -$                -$                -$               
Use of Money and Property -                    226               -                  341             -                 
Intergovernmental Revenues -                    -                    -                  87,069        100,000     
Charges for Services -                    49,781          -                  -                  -                 
Other Revenues -                    -                    -                  -                  -                 

Total Revenues 1,504,493 50,007 -                  87,410        100,000     

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General Government -                    10,068          -                  -                  -                 
Public Safety 988,962        -                    -                  -                  175,448     
Public Works and Streets -                    -                    -                  -                  -                 
Housing -                    63,155          -                  -                  -                 
Parks and Recreation -                    -                    -                  12,724        -                 

Capital Outlay 6,113            -                    -                  36,255        14,151       

Total Expenditures 995,075 73,223 -                  48,979 189,599

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
Over Expenditures 509,418 (23,216) -                  38,431 (89,599)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                    -                    -                  -                  -                 
Transfers Out -                    -                    -                  -                  -                 

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                    -                    -                  -                  -                 

Net Change in Fund Balances 509,418        (23,216)         -                  38,431        (89,599)      

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year (123,789) 1,294,207 3,955          230,057 89,599

Fund Balances, End of Year 385,629$     1,270,991$  3,955$       268,488$    -$              

Special Revenue

Year Ended June 30, 2021

City of Clearlake
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Non-major Governmental Funds 
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Police CDBG
Police Asset Gas Traffic CARES Code EDBG
ABC Seizure Tax Impact Act Enforcement RLF

-$                 -$                617,609$   -$               -$               -$                 -$               
-                   121             241            -                 -                 150               419            
-                   -                  -                 -                 117,685     -                   -                 
-                   -                  -                 -                 -                 51,595          4,118         
-                   -                  218            -                 -                 -                   -                 

-                   121             618,068     -                 117,685     51,745          4,537         

-                   -                  -                 -                 -                 -                   -                 
-                   30,066        -                 -                 8,695         335,442        -                 
-                   -                  530,052     -                 -                 -                   -                 
-                   -                  -                 -                 -                 -                   6,016         
-                   -                  -                 -                 -                 -                   -                 
-                   -                  120,831     -                 -                 -                   -                 

-                   30,066 650,883 -                 8,695         335,442        6,016         

-                   (29,945) (32,815) -                 108,990     (283,697)       (1,479)        

-                   -                  -                 -                 -                 -                   -                 
-                   -                  (221,131)    -                 -                 -                   -                 

-                   -                  (221,131)    -                 -                 -                   -                 

-                   (29,945)       (253,946)    -                 108,990     (283,697)       (1,479)        

14 91,819 246,872 18,781 (108,990) 2,007,654 203,928

14$               61,874$      (7,074)$     18,781$    -$              1,723,957$  202,449$   

Special Revenue
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Special Capital
Revenue Projects

Total
Series A Non-major

Recycle Infrastructure Governmental
Fund Bonds Funds

REVENUES
Taxes and Assessments -$                -$                  2,122,102$     
Use of Money and Property -                  1,414             2,912              
Intergovernmental Revenues 26,403        -                    331,157          
Charges for Services -                  -                    105,494          
Other Revenues -                  -                    218                 

Total Revenues 26,403        1,414             2,561,883

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General Government 9,834          -                    19,902            
Public Safety -                  -                    1,538,613       
Public Works and Streets -                  -                    530,052          
Housing -                  -                    69,171            
Parks and Recreation -                  -                    12,724            

Capital Outlay -                  -                    177,350          

Total Expenditures 9,834          -                    2,347,812

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
Over Expenditures 16,569        1,414             214,071

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                  -                    -                      
Transfers Out -                  (531,768)        (752,899)         

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                  (531,768)        (752,899)         

Net Change in Fund Balances 16,569        (530,354)        (538,828)

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year (29,646)       1,131,461      5,055,922

Fund Balances, End of Year (13,077)$    601,107$       4,517,094$    

City of Clearlake
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Non-major Governmental Funds - Continued
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Taxes and Assessments 1,115,657$    1,504,493$   388,836$     
Use of Money and Property 50                  -                    (50)              

Total Revenues 1,115,707      1,504,493 388,786

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Public Safety 1,047,265      988,962 58,303
Capital Outlay -                     6,113 (6,113)

Total Expenditures 1,047,265      995,075 52,190         

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures 68,442           509,418 440,976

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                     -                    -                  
Transfers Out -                     -                    -                  

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                     -                    -                  

Net Change in Fund Balances 68,442           509,418 440,976       

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year (123,789) (123,789) -                  

Fund Balance, End of Year (55,347)$       385,629$      440,976$    

City of Clearlake
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - Police Measure P Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Use of Money and Property 200$            226$            26$              
Charges for Services 88,300         49,781         (38,519)       

Total Revenues 88,500 50,007         (38,493)

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General Government 33,775         10,068         23,707         
Public Works and Streets -                   -                   -                  
Housing 92,090         63,155 28,935

Capital Outlay 37,200         -                   37,200         

Total Expenditures 163,065 73,223 89,842

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures (74,565) (23,216) 51,349

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In 20,000         -                   (20,000)       
Transfers Out -                   -                   -                  

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 20,000         -                   (20,000)       

Net Change in Fund Balances (54,565)        (23,216)        31,349

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 1,294,207 1,294,207 -                  

Fund Balance, End of Year 1,239,642$ 1,270,991$ 31,349$       

City of Clearlake
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - Low and Moderate Income Housing Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Use of Money and Property -$                -$                -$              

Total Revenues -                  -                  -                

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Public Safety -                  -                  -                
Capital Outlay -                  -                  -                

Total Expenditures -                  -                  -                

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures -                  -                  -                

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                  -                  -                
Transfers Out -                  -                  -                

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                  -                  -                

Net Change in Fund Balances -                  -                  -                

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year 3,955          3,955           -                

Fund Balance, End of Year 3,955$       3,955$         -$             

City of Clearlake
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - Park Development Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Use of Money and Property -$              341$             341$             
Intergovernmental Revenues 83,250          87,069          3,819            
Charges for Services -                    -                    -                    
Other Revenues 7,500            -                    (7,500)          

Total Revenues 90,750 87,410 (3,340)

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General Government -                    -                    -                    
Public Safety -                    -                    -                    
Parks and Recreation 25,200          12,724          12,476          

Capital Outlay 64,938          36,255          28,683          

Total Expenditures 90,138          48,979          41,159          

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over Expenditures 612               38,431          37,819          

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers Out (8,000)          -                    8,000            

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (8,000)          -                    8,000            

Net Change in Fund Balances (7,388) 38,431 45,819

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 230,057 230,057 -                    

Fund Balance, End of Year 222,669$    268,488$     45,819$       

City of Clearlake
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - PEG Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Use of Money and Property 1,500$         -$                (1,500)$        
Intergovernmental Revenues 100,000       100,000       -                  

Total Revenues 101,500       100,000 (1,500)         

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Public Safety 185,000       175,448       9,552           
Capital Outlay 35,000         14,151         20,849         

Total Expenditures 220,000       189,599       30,401         

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over Expenditures (118,500)      (89,599)        28,901         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers Out -                  -                  -                  

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                  -                  -                  

Net Change in Fund Balances (118,500) (89,599) 28,901

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 89,599         89,599         -                  

Fund Balance, End of Year (28,901)$     -$                28,901$      

City of Clearlake
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - Police Grants Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Use of Money and Property -$               -$                -$                
Intergovernmental Revenue -                 -                  -                  

Total Revenues -                 -                  -                  

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Public Safety -                 -                  -                  
Capital Outlay -                 -                  -                  

Total Expenditures -                 -                  -                  

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures -                 -                  -                  

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                 -                  -                  
Transfers Out -                 -                  -                  

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                 -                  -                  

Net Change in Fund Balances -                 -                  -                  

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 14 14 -                  

Fund Balance, End of Year 14$           14$             -$               

City of Clearlake
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - Police ABC Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Use of Money and Property -$               121$           121$            
Intergovernmental Revenue -                 -                  -                  

Total Revenues -                 121 121

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Public Safety 35,000        30,066        4,934           
Capital Outlay -                 -                  -                  

Total Expenditures 35,000        30,066        4,934           

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures (35,000) (29,945) 5,055

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                 -                  -                  
Transfers Out -                 -                  -                  

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                 -                  -                  

Net Change in Fund Balances (35,000) (29,945) 5,055

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 91,819 91,819 -                  

Fund Balance, End of Year 56,819$     61,874$     5,055$        

City of Clearlake
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - Police Asset Seizure Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Taxes and Assessments 624,992$   617,609$     (7,383)$      
Use of Money and Property 1,500         241             (1,259)        
Intergovernmental 180,000     -                  (180,000)    
Other Revenues -                218             218            

Total Revenues 806,492     618,068       (188,424)    

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Public Works and Streets 636,233     530,052       106,181     
Capital Outlay 197,369     120,831       (76,538)      

Total Expenditures 833,602     650,883       182,719     

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures (27,110)      (32,815)       (5,705)        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                -                  -                
Transfers Out (251,940)    (221,131)     30,809       

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (251,940)    (221,131)     30,809       

Net Change in Fund Balances (279,050)    (253,946)     25,104       

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 246,872 246,872 -                

Fund Balance, End of Year (32,178)$   (7,074)$       25,104$    

City of Clearlake
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - Gas Tax Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Use of Money and Property -$              -$                -$              

Total Revenues -                -                  -                

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Public Works and Streets -                -                  -                
Capital Outlay -                -                  -                

Total Expenditures -                -                  -                

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures -                -                  -                

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                -                  -                
Transfers Out -                -                  -                

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                -                  -                

Net Change in Fund Balances -                -                  -                

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 18,781 18,781 -                

Fund Balance, End of Year 18,781$    18,781$       -$             

City of Clearlake
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - Traffic Impact Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Use of Money and Property -$                   150$             150$           
Charges for Services -                     51,595          51,595         

Total Revenues -                     51,745 51,745

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General Government -                     -                    -                  
Public Safety 430,145         335,442 94,703

Capital Outlay -                     -                    -                  

Total Expenditures 430,145         335,442 94,703         

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures (430,145)        (283,697) 146,448

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                     -                    -                  
Transfers Out -                     -                    -                  

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                     -                    -                  

Net Change in Fund Balances (430,145)        (283,697) 146,448       

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 2,007,654 2,007,654 -                  

Fund Balance, End of Year 1,577,509$   1,723,957$   146,448$    

City of Clearlake
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Budget and Actual - CDBG Code Enforcement Special Revenue Fund

Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Use of Money and Property 10,000$     419$           (9,581)$      
Charges for Services -                4,118          4,118         

Total Revenues 10,000       4,537          (5,463)        

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General Government -                -                  -                
Housing 10,000       6,016          (3,984)        

Total Expenditures 10,000       6,016          3,984         

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures -                (1,479)         (1,479)        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                -                  -                
Transfers Out (50,282)      -                  50,282       

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (50,282)      -                  50,282       

Net Change in Fund Balances (50,282)      (1,479)         48,803       

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 203,928 203,928 -                

Fund Balance, End of Year 153,646$  202,449$     48,803$    

City of Clearlake
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - EDBG RLF Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021

63
95

Section I, Item 11.



Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Taxes and Assessments -$                -$                -$              
Use of Money and Property -                  -                  -                
Intergovernmental Revenues -                  26,403         26,403       

Total Revenues -                  26,403         26,403       

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General Government -                  9,834          (9,834)        
Capital Outlay -                  -                  -                

Total Expenditures -                  9,834          (9,834)        

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures -                  16,569         16,569       

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                  -                  -                
Transfers Out (3,924)         -                  3,924         

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (3,924)         -                  3,924         

Net Change in Fund Balances (3,924)         16,569         20,493       

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year (29,646) (29,646) -                

Fund Balance, End of Year (33,570)$     (13,077)$     20,493$    

City of Clearlake
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - Recycle Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Variance with
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Use of Money and Property -$                   1,414$          1,414$         

Total Revenues -                     1,414 1,414

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General Government -                     -                    -                  

Total Expenditures -                     -                    -                  

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures -                     1,414 1,414

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers In -                     -                    -                  
Transfers Out (3,370,616)     (531,768)       2,838,848    

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (3,370,616)     (531,768)       2,838,848    

Net Change in Fund Balances (3,370,616)     (530,354) 2,840,262    

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 1,131,461 1,131,461 -                  

Fund Balance, End of Year (2,239,155)$  601,107$      2,840,262$ 

City of Clearlake
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - Series A Infrastructure Bonds Capital Projects Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and  
on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements  

Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
 

City Council 
City of Clearlake 
Clearlake, California 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Clearlake (City), 
as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated 
February 13, 2023. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal control 
over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we do 
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a 
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance.   
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may 
exist that have not been identified.  We did identify certain deficiencies in internal control, described in 
the accompanying schedule of findings and responses as item 2021-001 that we consider to be a material 
weakness.  
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Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an 
opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, 
we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances of 
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards. 
 
City of Clearlake’s Responses to Findings 
 
The City’s responses to the findings identified in our audit are described in the accompanying 
schedule of findings and responses.  The City’s responses were not subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no 
opinion on them. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the City’s internal control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed 
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the organization’s internal 
control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
 
February 13, 2023
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CITY OF CLEARLAKE 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND RESPONSES 

Year Ended June 30, 2021 
 

 

 
2021-001 Timeliness of Accounting Records 
 
Condition: 
 
The City’s accounting records were not reconciled and ready to be audited until August 2022, 
approximately 14 months after the end of the fiscal year. 
 
Criteria: 
 
The City’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal controls 
over financial reporting to help ensure that appropriate goals and objectives are met.  This 
responsibility includes the selection and application of accounting principles, ensuring that 
financial information is reliable and properly recorded, and evaluating and monitoring ongoing 
activities in a timely manner. 
 
Cause of Condition: 
 
Turnover in the Finance Department and delays in completing the year-end financial close 
process due to COVID-19. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Therefore, in order to maintain the integrity of the accounting and financial reporting system, and 
to ensure timely reporting, we recommend that all balance sheet accounts and other selected 
accounts be analyzed on a monthly, quarterly or other periodic basis as appropriate.  We suggest 
a schedule of accounting functions to be performed monthly, quarterly, etc., be prepared with the 
provision for signing off by date and initials when the procedure is complete.  We understand 
significant turnover in the finance department along with the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic 
were contributing factors to the finding described above. 
 
Views of Responsible Officials: 
 
Management concurs with the auditor’s recommendations. The City is currently working with a 
consulting firm to create daily, weekly, monthly, quarterly and yearly review processes for Finance 
Department functions.  Completing and documenting the monthly, quarterly, and annual 
processes will result in smooth and timely preparation for the annual audit. 
 
The City is prepared for and imminently starting the FYE 22 audit which is anticipated to be 
completed by March 31, 2023.  The FYE 23 audit should be completed in the standard annual 
audit cycle. 
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CITY OF CLEARLAKE 
 

CITY COUNCIL NORMS AND PROCEDURES 
 

SECTION 1. GENERAL  
 
1.1  Purpose. The purpose of these Norms and Procedures is to promote communication, 
understanding, fairness, and trust among the members of the City Council and staff concerning 
their roles, responsibilities, and expectations for management of the business of the City of 
Clearlake.  
 
1.2  Values. Respect for each Council Member’s interpersonal style will be a standard of 
operation. Courtesy and respect for individual points of view will be practiced at all times. All 
Council Members shall respect each other’s right to disagree. All Council Members shall practice 
a high degree of decorum and courtesy. When addressing the public in any way, all Council 
Members shall make certain their opinions are expressed solely as their own, and do not in any 
way necessarily reflect the opinions of any other Council Member or the City.  
 
1.3  Overview of Council responsibilities. The City of Clearlake is a General Law city of the 
State of California operating under the Council/Manager Plan and the City Manager’s duties shall 
define how the City Council and City Manager interact and perform their respective duties and 
responsibilities.  The City Council has the following duties and responsibilities: 
 

(a) Appointment of the City Manager and City Attorney.  The City Council shall appoint 
the City Manager and the City Attorney.  There should be an annual review for the City Manager 
and the City Attorney. 
 

(b) Establishment of boards and appointment of members.  The Council may appoint 
establish Boards, Commissions, and Committees, and by majority vote make appointments of 
members of all Boards, Commissions, and Committees. 
 

(c) Legislative decisions.  The Council is the legislative body; its members are the 
community’s decision makers.  Power is centralized in the elected City Council collectively and 
not in individual members of the Council.  The City Council approves the budget and determines 
the public services.  It focuses on the community’s goals, major projects and such long term 
considerations as community growth, financing and strategic planning.  The City Council hires a 
professional City Manager to carry out administrative responsibilities and supervises the City 
Manager’s performance. 
 
1.4 Overview of City Manager responsibilities.  The City Manager is hired to serve the City 
Council and the community and to bring the benefits of education, training and experience in 
administering the City’s projects, programs, and public services on behalf of the City Council.  The 
City Manager has the following among his or her duties: 
 

(a)  Preparation of a Recommended Budget.   
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(b)  Recruitment, Hiring, and Supervision of Personnel, Contractors, and Consultants. 
 

(c)  Implementation of the Council’s policies and programs and public services in an 
effective and efficient manner, providing professional advice on policy matters, 
intergovernmental affairs, economic development and environmental issues.  
 
The City Manager follows the direction of the entire City Council and not individual members of 
the Council or the public, and serves at the sole discretion of the Council. 
 
1.5  Review. The City Council shall conduct a review of this document biennially, or whenever 
a new Council Member has been seated or Council deems necessary, to assist Council Members 
in being more productive in management of the business of the City. A new Council will consider 
the document within three months of its first regular meeting.  
 
1.6  Ralph M. Brown Act. All conduct of the City Council, Commissions, Committees and 
Subcommittees shall be in full compliance with the Ralph M. Brown Act.  
 
SECTION 2. MAYOR AND VICE MAYOR SELECTION PROCESS  
 
2.1  Reorganization.  In December of each year, the City Council shall select and appoint a 
Mayor and Vice Mayor by majority vote of the Council from among its members.  Selection and 
appointment shall be at the first meeting of a new term following each General Municipal 
Election or at the first meeting in December during non-election years.  The term of the Office of 
the Mayor and Vice Mayor shall be for a 12-month period commencing on January 1st of each 
year, unless otherwise provided for by majority vote of the Council.  The Mayor remains as one 
member of the City Council and has no rights or authority different from any other member of 
the Council. 
 
2.2  Appointment of Vacancy. In the event of a vacancy of office or the death or resignation 
of any Council Member, the Council shall appoint a new Council Member within sixty (60) days 
after a vacancy or death or resignation becomes effective in compliance with the California 
Elections Code, unless the Council, by resolution, decides to instead call a special election. In the 
event of appointment, the Council shall determine the process for appointment prior to the 
application process and in accordance with State law.  
 
SECTION 3. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS  
 
3.1  Attendance. City Council Members acknowledge that attendance at lawful meetings of 
the City Council is part of their official duty. Council Members shall make a good faith effort to 
attend all such meetings unless unable. Council Members will notify the City Manager or the City 
Clerk, and, if possible, the Mayor as a courtesy, if they will be absent from a meeting.  
 
3.2  Correspondence. With some exceptions, proposed correspondence (including electronic) 
from individual Council Members/Mayor on City stationery shall be reviewed by the Council in 
draft form prior to release. On occasion, there are urgent requests from the League of California 
Cities for correspondence concerning legislation directly affecting municipalities. Assuming there 
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is agreement between the Mayor and City Manager that the League’s position corresponds with 
that of the Council, the Mayor may send a letter without first obtaining Council review.  
 
City letterhead will be made available for routine, discretionary correspondence (e.g., thank you 
notes, etc.), or such correspondence will be prepared by staff for signature, without prior consent 
of the Council. E-mails from Council Members should be respectful and professional.  
 
3.3  Regional Boards. The role of the Council on regional boards will vary depending on the 
nature of the appointment. Representing the interests of Clearlake is appropriate on some 
boards; this is generally the case when other local governments have their own representation. 
The positions taken by the appointed representatives are to be in alignment with the positions 
that the Council has taken on issues that directly impact the City of Clearlake. If an issue should 
arise that is specific to Clearlake and the Council has not taken a position, the issue should be 
discussed by the Council prior to taking a formal position at a regional board meeting, to assure 
that it is in alignment with a majority of the Council’s position.  
 
Council representatives to such various boards shall keep the Council informed of ongoing 
business through brief oral or written reports to the Council during properly posted Council 
meetings.  
 
Council Members shall make a good faith effort to attend all regional meetings that require a 
quorum of the appointed members to convene a meeting. Attendance should not be less than 
75% of all scheduled meetings. If a Council Member is unable to attend, he/she should notify 
his/her alternate as far in advance of the meeting as possible so as to allow the alternate to 
attend.  
 
3.4  Distribution of Information. It is essential that every member of the City Council have the 
same information from which to form decisions and actions.  Any information distributed to one 
Council Member shall also be distributed to all Council Members.    
 
3.5  Reimbursement. Every effort shall be made to limit the need to reimburse Council 
Members for expenses. City Council Members may be reimbursed for personal expenses for 
travel to and lodging at conferences or meetings related to their role as a Council Member. The 
reimbursement of expenses is limited in the following manner: Members shall be reimbursed at 
rates established by the Internal Revenue Service unless discounted or group rates are offered 
by the conference or activity sponsor. Any additional expenses that fall outside the scope of this 
policy may be reimbursed only if approved by the City Council, at a public meeting, before the 
expenses are incurred. Any request for reimbursement of expenses shall be accompanied by an 
expense form and receipts to document the expenditure. These documents are public records 
subject to disclosure under the California Public Records Act.  
 
Brief reports must be given on any outside meeting attended at the expense of the City at the 
next regular Council meeting. Reimbursement is conditioned on the submission of this report to 
the legislative body.  
 
3.6  Ethics Training. Any member of the City Council and commissions, or advisory 
committees formed by the City Council, shall receive at least two hours of ethics training in 
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general ethics principles and ethics laws relevant to his/her public service every two years, as 
mandated by AB 1234. New members must receive this training within their first year of service 
and file a certificate of completion with the City Clerk. Members shall attend training sessions 
that are offered locally in the immediate vicinity of Lake County or by completing online a state-
approved public service ethics education program.  
 
An individual who serves on multiple legislative bodies need only receive two hours of ethics 
training every two years to satisfy this requirement for all applicable public service positions. The 
City will use an ethics training course that has been reviewed and approved by the Fair Political 
Practices Commission and the California Secretary of State.   
 
The City Clerk is required to keep ethics training records for five years to document and prove 
that these continuing education requirements have been satisfied. These documents are public 
records subject to disclosure under the California Public Records Act.  
 
3.7  City Mission and City Seal. The Mission of the City of Clearlake is a strategic document 
that reflects the values of our residents. The City Seal is an important symbol of the City of 
Clearlake. No change to the City Mission and/or City Seal shall be made without Council approval.  
Individual council members shall be careful in use of the City Seal so as not to create an 
appearance that the council member is acting on behalf of or with official endorsement of the 
City of Clearlake.  
 
3.8 Use of City Email and Social Media. Except for emergencies, public officials who are not 
City employees (“public officials”) conducting City business should not create any “public record” 
(as that term is defined in California Government Code § 6253(e)) by using any email account 
that is not a City email account, or by using any non-City-controlled social media account. Instead, 
public officials should use a City email or City-controlled social media account.   
 
In an emergency, a public official may send an email on a non-City email account, but only if a 
copy of any public record that is created as a result is contemporaneously copied to the City email 
account of that same public official, or a hard copy is provided to the City for retention in City 
records.    
 
Practically speaking, this means that public officials should rarely, if ever, use a personal email 
account to conduct City business, and should never use personal social media accounts to 
conduct City business. Nothing in this policy is intended to limit a public official’s use of private 
email and social media accounts for non-City business such as personal communications and 
campaign related activities. Nor is this policy intended to require public officials to provide 
privileged communications or documents to the City, or to waive any applicable privileges which 
may apply to documents purely because they have been turned over to the City in compliance 
with his policy.   
 
For purposes of this policy “City-controlled social media account” is an account on a social media 
platform (e.g. Facebook, Instagram, Twitter) that is created and used by the City (e.g. the City’s 
official Facebook page, if any). 
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3.9 Use of City Electronic Devices.  In general, when creating or modifying public records in 
the conduct of City business on an electronic device that can create and modify public records 
(e.g. computers, mobile phones, tablets), public officials should only use City-issued devices. 
There are two exceptions: 
 
Exception: Using City Accounts.  Public officials may use non-City electronic devices when 
accessing an official City account (e.g. City email address, City-controlled social media account).   
 
Exception: Contemporaneous Copying. If, in a given situation, using a City electronic device is 
clearly impractical or if a public official has not been issued or does not have in the public official’s 
possession a City electronic device, a public official may use a non-City device, but only if a copy 
of each affected public record is contemporaneously copied to a City account of that same public 
official, or to the related City-controlled social media account, or a hard copy is provided to the 
City for retention in City records. 
 
Texting Only on City Devices.  Except for emergencies or when communicating with the City 
Attorney’s Office, public officials conducting City business shall not send or receive texts on any 
device other than a City owned device. In an emergency, a public official may use a non-City 
device to text, but only if a copy of any public record that is created as a result is 
contemporaneously copied to a City account of that same public official, or a hard copy is 
provided to the City for retention in City records.  Practically speaking, this means that public 
officials should rarely, if ever, use a non-City owned device to text in the conduct of City business. 
 
Provide Copies to City.  If a public official has possession of a public record that is not in the 
possession of the City, the public official shall promptly provide a copy of the record to the City, 
and take reasonable precautions to prevent this from occurring again.  For example, if a public 
official receives an email regarding City business on a non-City email account, and the email was 
not sent to or from a City email account (i.e. the City doesn’t already have a copy), the public 
official shall promptly forward a copy of the email to the public official’s City email account, or 
provide a hard copy to the City for retention in City records, and should request that the sender 
send future correspondence to a City controlled email account.    
 
SECTION 4. COUNCIL RELATIONSHIP WITH STAFF  
 
4.1  City Manager. City Council Members are always free to go to the City Manager to discuss 
City business. Issues concerning the performance of a Department or any employee must be 
directed to the City Manager. Direction to City employees, other than the City Manager or City 
Attorney, is the prerogative of the City Manager. In passing along critical information, the City 
Manager will be responsible for contacting all Council Members. The City Manager may delegate 
this responsibility to Department Heads.  
 
4.2  Agenda Item Questions. If a Council Member has a question on a subject, the Council 
Member should contact the City Manager prior to any meeting at which the subject may be 
discussed. This does not restrict Council Members from asking questions during a Council 
meeting.  
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4.3  Interaction of City Council with Staff. The Council shall treat staff with respect and shall 
not abuse staff, nor embarrass staff in public. The City Council Members are to work through the 
City Manager or City Attorney on all issues, concerns and questions. This is to allow the senior 
professional staff, with the proper education, training, experience and knowledge of issues, laws 
and City Council’s policies to coordinate a full and complete response and reduce error or 
misunderstanding by staff members not necessarily knowledgeable on all issues.  This can 
provide a better overall response, allow any new issues to properly be considered and avoid 
unintended redirection of staff efforts. Council Members may ask Department Heads for 
information. This informal system of direct communication is not to be abused.  City Council 
Members shall not meet with groups of management employees for the purpose of discussing 
terms of employment or establishing employee policy. 
 
4.4 Individual Council Member’s Requests. Council Members shall make their requests for 
information to the City Manager or City Clerk and not directly to individual members of staff.  The 
use of City staff, including the City Manager, to respond to an individual Council Member’s 
request for any purpose that exceeds more than one hour of total staff time must be approved 
by the majority vote of the full Council.  The individual City Council Member may make his/her 
request orally or in writing to the City Manager or City Clerk.  The City Manager shall provide an 
estimate of the cost and how the request affects the Council’s Goals and Objectives.  This request 
will then be considered by the City Council at the next possible City Council meeting.  Irrespective 
of the amount of staff time required to respond to each Council Member’s request, individual 
Council Member’s requests should be limited to three to five requests per week. 
 
SECTION 5. PROCEDURES FOR APPOINTMENTS TO BOARDS/COMMISSIONS/COMMITTEES  
 
5.1 Definitions. 
 

(a) Task Force:  A temporary grouping of individuals and resources for the accomplishment 
of a specific objective.   
 

(b) Committee:  A group of people officially delegated to perform a function, such as 
investigating, considering reporting, or acting on a matter.   
 

(c) Ad Hoc:  Committees established for a specific purpose.  Formed for or concerned with 
one specific purpose (e.g. ad hoc compensation committee); for the particular end or case 
at hand without consideration of wider application; formed or used for specific or 
immediate problems or needs; often improvised or impromptu; contrived purely for the 
purpose in hand rather than carefully planned in advance.  
 

(d) Commission:  A group of people officially authorized to perform certain duties or 
functions with certain powers or authority granted; the act of granting certain powers or 
the authority to carry out a particular task or duty; the rank and powers so conferred.  
 

(e) Board:  A group of persons having managerial, supervisory, or advisory powers.  In 
parliamentary law, a board is a form of deliberative assembly and is distinct from a 
committee, which is usually subordinate to a board or other deliberative assembly – in 
having greater autonomy and authority. 
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5.2 Recruitment Process. 
 
On or before December 31st of each year, the City Clerk shall prepare and post a list of all Council-
appointed board, commission and committee terms that expire during the next calendar year in 
compliance with the Maddy Act (Government Code Section 54972). 

The City Clerk shall annually advertise in a newspaper and on the City’s website for applicants 
wishing to be considered for appointment to boards, commissions and committees.  

Although there may be multiple applicants, Council Members are not required to choose from 
the pool of applicants and may nominate their own appointee, provided the appointee qualifies. 
 
All persons seeking appointment to a City board, commission or committee shall complete and 
submit an application form to the City Clerk as set forth in Section 5.6.  Applications shall be kept 
on file for two years in the City Clerk’s office and vacancies may be considered from applications 
on file, as well as new applications. 
 
Appointments made by individual Council Members are official only after the Council Member 
has submitted a completed application and appointment form to the City Clerk, the City Clerk has 
determined that the individual is eligible to serve and the City Clerk has provided proper 
notification to the appointed board, commission or committee member, and chair of the board, 
commission or committee.  Council Members may announce an appointment at a City Council 
meeting; however, such an announcement is not required for the appointment to become 
effective.  The City Clerk shall notify the full City Council of any appointments made by individual 
Council Members. 

 
If an unscheduled board or commission vacancy occurs during the term of the appointing Council 
Member and the Council Member so requests, the following steps should be taken to publicize 
vacancies on boards, commissions and committees: 

 
1. Public announcement of the vacancy at a Council meeting. 
2. A newspaper advertisement announcing the vacancy. 
3. A recruitment period of at least ten (10) days. 
4. A vacancy notice posted at City Hall, Redbud Library, and on the City’s website for 

at least 20 days. 
5. Announcements in the local media, such as press releases, online news outlets 

and free weekly sales papers. 
6. Distribution to appropriate professional and community organizations and all 

groups that have requested notification. 
 

5.3 Requirement for Appointment. 
 
All persons appointed to City boards, commissions and committees shall be residents of the City 
of Clearlake at the time of their appointment and shall remain so throughout their term of 
appointment.  Should any person so appointed move from the City during their term of office, 
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such office shall be forfeited.  The Council shall, upon forfeiture, make a new appointment to fill 
the unexpired term. 

 
All persons appointed to City boards, commissions and committees shall complete and submit 
an application form to the City Clerk as set forth in Section 5.6. 

 
Except as provided by state or local statute, the appointee shall not be a current City employee 
or currently appointed to another City board, committee or commission.  
 
5.4 Council Notification. By September 1 of each year, the City Clerk will notify the Council of 
expiring terms for members of those City boards, commissions, and committees appointed by 
the full Council. 
 
5.5 Incumbents. 
 
At the end of the first term, the incumbent board, commission or committee member may, at 
the discretion of the Council or appointing Council Member, be reappointed for an additional 
term without the need to apply or interview for re-appointment.  In lieu of an application, the 
board, commission or committee member shall submit to the City Clerk a letter of interest in re-
appointment 30 days prior to the expiration of the member’s first term. 

 
Any incumbent interested in re-appointment who has served two or more terms must apply for 
re-appointment as set forth in Section 5.6. 

 
5.6 Application. Except as set forth in Section 5.5, all persons considered for appointment or 
re-appointment shall complete an application form.  This application form must be received by 
the City Clerk by the required deadline. 
 
5.7 Appointment Procedure for Planning Commission Members. This portion of the policy 
sets forth the procedure for appointments of Planning Commission Members. 
 
 Applications shall be taken for Planning Commission as set forth in 5.2 through 5.6. 

 
If fewer than ten applications are received, applicants will be interviewed by the full Council at 
an open meeting.  Each applicant will be asked the same questions, with varying related follow 
up questions allowed. 

 
If more than ten applications are received, the Mayor will appoint an ad hoc committee to meet 
with the applicants prior to appointment and recommend a number of applicants as determined 
by the Mayor for interview by the Council.   

 
Following the interview, Council deliberation, and public comment, the Mayor shall call for a 
motion and a second for each separate vacant seat.  Motions shall be as according to the Council 
Norms and Procedures. 
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All newly appointed and re-appointed Planning Commission Members shall take and subscribe 
to the Constitutional oath of office prior to or during the Member’s first Planning Commission 
meeting. 

 
An orientation and training program will be made to all new Planning Commission Members in 
March of each odd-numbered year.  All board, commission and committee members are strongly 
encouraged to attend. 

 
5.8 Appointment Procedure for Board and Committee Members Appointed by the Full 
Council. This portion of the policy sets forth the procedure for appointments made by the full 
Council for boards and committees appointed by the full Council. 
 
Subject to review of the Council, the Mayor may establish a procedure for review of applications 
and selection of applicants for interview, for those board and committee members appointed by 
the full Council.  Such selection and interview may be conducted by an ad hoc committee of the 
Council or full Council.  

 
If an unscheduled board or committee vacancy occurs prior to the expiration of the member’s 
term, the vacancy shall be noticed in compliance with the Maddy Act (Government Code Section 
54974). 

 
All persons appointed by the full Council to boards and committees serve at the pleasure of the 
Council and shall serve for the term indicated or until a successor has been appointed. 

 
Members of boards and committees appointed by the full Council shall be interviewed at a duly 
noticed open Council meeting and shall be selected by motion and majority vote of the Council. 

 
5.9 Attendance. 
 
Board, commission and committee members are expected to regularly attend and participate on 
their respective boards, committees and commissions. 

 
A board, commission or committee member whose attendance is less than seventy five (75%) of 
the required meetings over a period of a year may be subject to removal by the Council Member 
who appointed the person or the full Council if appointed by the Council. 

 
The Council may grant an approved leave of absence for a board, commission or committee 
member for such reasons as the Council determines appropriate.  During the approved leave of 
absence, the Council Member who appointed the person, or full Council, depending on how the 
person was appointed, may appoint a temporary person to fill the position.  
 
5.10 Norms and Procedures and Conflicts of Interest.  
 
Board, committee and commission members shall be expected to adhere to the Council Norms 
and Procedures. 
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Board, committee and commission members shall comply with all state and local laws with 
respect to ethics and conflicts of interests to the extent that such laws apply to their position, 
including state and local requirements to timely file Statements of Economic Disclosure if the 
member is designated as a filer by state law or by the City’s Conflict of Interest Code. 

 
Members of City boards, commissions or committees may not use their board, commission or 
committee position title for political endorsements. 
 
5.11 Conflicts with Federal, State or Local Law. In case of a conflict between this section of 
the Norms and Procedure policy with federal, state or local law, such federal, state or local law 
shall be the controlling factor. 
 
SECTION 6. MEETINGS 
  
6.1  Open to Public. All meetings of the City Council whether regular, special, or study 
sessions, shall be open to the public, unless a closed session is held as authorized by law. All 
meetings shall be noticed as required to allow action to be taken by the Council.  
 
6.2  Broadcasting of City Council Meetings. All regular Council meetings shall be scheduled 
in the Council Chambers to allow for web streaming and simulcast on the City’s Public Education 
Government Access Channel, unless the number of participants exceeds room capacity. The final 
decision shall be the responsibility of the Mayor.  
 
6.3 Teleconferencing. Teleconferencing into a City Council meeting allows City Council 
Members to join a City Council meeting while out of the area or ill. The Brown Act allows for 
teleconferencing subject to the traditional requirements of posting and public access.  However, 
during the Covid-19 State of Emergency, those traditional requirements were waived by AB 361, 
signed by the Governor on September 17, 2021.  
 
With the end of the Covid-19 State of Emergency, AB 2449 waives the requirement to post and 
allow public access to the remote teleconference location in certain circumstances. Commencing 
February 18, 2023, and while AB 2449 is in effect, the following criteria must be satisfied in order 
for members of the City Council to teleconference into a meeting: 
 

1. At least a quorum of the Council Members must participate from a singular physical 
location, such as the Council Chambers, and the location must be (a) clearly identified 
on the agenda, (b) open and accessible to the public, and (c) within the boundaries of 
the agency’s territorial jurisdiction. 

2. The City must provide at least one of the following methods to allow the public to 
hear, observe and participate remotely: (a) two-way audiovisual platform, such as 
Zoom, or (b) two-way telephonic service and a live webcasting of the meeting. 

3. The agenda must identify and include an opportunity for the public to participate in 
the meeting via a call-in option, an internet-based option, and in-person at the in-
person location of the meeting; and 

4. Public comment cannot be required in advance of the meeting and must be allowed 
in real time. 
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In addition to the requirements above, the City Council Member teleconferencing must qualify 
under one of the following: 
 

1 The City Council Member must declare during roll call of the need to participate 
remotely for “just cause” as defined below, with a general description of the 
circumstances relating to their need to appear remotely. The City Council Member 
may also request the City Council allow them to participate in the meeting remotely 
due to “emergency circumstances” and ask the City Council to take action to approve 
the request. In this case, the City Council must request a general description of the 
circumstances relating to the need to appear remotely at the meeting. 

2 “Just cause” is defined as one of the following:  
a. A childcare or caregiving need of a child, parent, grandparent, sibling, spouse, 

or domestic partner that requires remote participation; 
b. A contagious illness that prevents the City Council Member from attending in 

person; 
c. A need related to a physical or mental disability as defined by law; or 
d. Travel while on official business of the City Council or another public agency. 
e. “Emergency circumstance” is defined as a physical or family medical 

emergency that prevents the City Council Member from attending in person. 
3 Just cause may not be utilized by a City Council Member more than twice per calendar 

year, for longer than three consecutive months, or more than 20% of the regular 
meetings. 

4 The City Council Member teleconferencing under AB 2449 must participate in the 
meeting using both audio and video and must identify any individual over the age of 
18 present in the room with the City Council Member and generally describe the 
person’s relationship to the City Council Member. 

 
The City Council may not take any action during any disruption to the broadcast or any disruption 
to the public’s ability to publicly comment via call-in or internet-based service provider. 
 
6.4  Regular Meetings. At the first regular meeting in January, the City Council will approve 
the schedule of meetings for the calendar year, which in addition to the regular meeting 
schedule, may include the cancellation of regular meetings and the addition of special meetings 
and study sessions. This practice does not, however, preclude the Mayor or a majority of the 
members of the City Council from calling additional meetings pursuant to Section 6.5, if 
necessary.  
 
The City Council shall convene its regular City Council meetings at 6:00 p.m. on the first and third 
Thursday of each month.  The City Council may, as the Council deems necessary, cancel regular 
meetings provided that the City Council shall hold a regular meeting at least once each month 
pursuant to Government Code Section 56803.  The regular 6:00 p.m. starting time of a council 
meeting can be varied by the City Manager with the concurrence of the Mayor to commence 
earlier or later (but in no event past 7:00 p.m.) depending upon the volume or nature of business 
for the council to consider at any given meeting, provided the City Clerk gives appropriate prior 
written notice of the adjusted starting time to the press and public. 
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Regular Meetings shall be terminated at 10:00 P.M.; however, the Mayor may, by majority vote 
of the Council, extend the meeting past 10:00 P.M. whenever the Council deems such extension 
necessary.   
 
6.5  Cancelling Meetings. Any meeting of the City Council may be cancelled in advance by 
majority vote of the Council. The Mayor may cancel a meeting in the case of an emergency or 
when a majority of members have confirmed their unavailability to attend a meeting. The City 
Council may, as the Council deems necessary, cancel no more than four (4) Regular Meetings per 
calendar year, by majority vote, provided, however, that the City Council shall hold a Regular 
Meeting at least once each month pursuant to Government Code Section 36805.  
 
6.6  Special Meetings. A special meeting may be called at any time by the Mayor or by a 
majority of the City Council in accordance with the Brown Act. Written notice of any such meeting 
must specify the purpose of the meeting. Notice of the meeting must be given in accordance with 
law. Public comments at special meetings shall be limited to only those items described on the 
special meeting notice/agenda.  
 
The City Council may hold study sessions or joint meetings with other boards, commissions, 
committees, or agencies as deemed necessary to resolve City business. These meetings will be 
coordinated by the City Clerk. Study sessions are scheduled to provide Council Members the 
opportunity to better understand a particular item. While Council may legally take action at any 
noticed meeting, generally no formal action is taken at study sessions. If action is to be taken at 
a study session, then the agenda will state that action may be taken.  
 
6.7  Closed Sessions. The City Council may hold closed sessions at any time authorized by law 
(and in consultation with the City Attorney), to consider or hear any matter, which is authorized 
by law. The Mayor or any three Council Members may call closed session meetings at any time.  
 
6.8  Quorum. Three (3) members of the City Council shall constitute a quorum and shall be 
sufficient to transact business. If fewer than three Council Members appear at a regular meeting, 
the Mayor, Vice Mayor in the absence of the Mayor, any Council Member in the absence of the 
Mayor and Vice Mayor, or in the absence of all Council Members, the City Clerk or Deputy City 
Clerk, shall adjourn the meeting to a stated day and hour. 
  
Business of the City Council may be conducted with a minimum of three members being present; 
however, pursuant to the California Government Code, matters requiring the expenditure of City 
funds and all resolutions and non-urgency ordinances must receive three affirmative votes for 
approval. 
  
6.9  Minutes. The City Clerk shall prepare minutes of all public meetings of the City Council. 
Copies shall be distributed to each Council Member.  
 
6.10  Adjourned Meetings. The City Council may adjourn any regular, adjourned regular, 
special, or closed session meeting to a time and place specified in the order of adjournment and 
permitted by law.  
 
SECTION 7. POSTING NOTICE AND AGENDA  
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7.1  Posting of Notice and Agenda. For every regular, special, or study session meeting, the 
City Clerk or other authorized person shall post a notice of the meeting, specifying the time and 
place at which the meeting will be held, and an agenda containing a brief description of all items 
of business to be discussed at the meeting. This notice and agenda may be combined in a single 
document. Posting is to be according to law.  
 
7.2  Location of Posting. The notice and agenda shall be posted at City Hall in a place to which 
the public has unrestricted access and where the notice and agenda are not likely to be removed 
or obscured by other posted material, and to the City website.  
 
SECTION 8. AGENDA CONTENTS  
 
8.1  Mayor’s Responsibility. The Mayor is responsible for running a timely and orderly 
meeting. If the Mayor is unavailable to run a Council meeting, the Vice Mayor shall run the 
meeting. The Mayor, in consultation with the City Manager and his/her designee, and the City 
Clerk shall organize the agenda.  
 
8.2  Description of Matters. All items of business to be discussed at a meeting of the City 
Council shall be briefly described on the agenda. The description should set forth the proposed 
action to be considered so that members of the public will know the nature of the action under 
review and consideration. As stated in Section 4.2, if a Council Member has a question on a 
subject, the Council Member should contact the City Manager prior to any meeting at which the 
subject may be discussed. 
 
8.3  Availability to the Public. The agenda for any regular, special, or study session meeting, 
shall be made available to the general public as required by law.  
 
8.4  Limitation to Act Only on Items on the Agenda. No action shall be taken by the City 
Council on any item not on the posted agenda, subject only to the exceptions listed below:  
 

(a)  Upon a majority determination that an “emergency situation” (as defined by State 
Law) exists; or  
 

(b)  Upon determination by a 4/5 vote of the full City Council, or a unanimous vote if less 
than a full Council, that there is a need to take immediate action and that the need to take the 
action came to the attention of the City Council subsequent to posting of the agenda.  
 
8.5  "Timing" of Agenda. Staff and/or the Mayor may "time" the agenda as a way for the 
Council to maintain a sense of how much time can be committed to any one item without going 
past an established ending time for the meeting.  
 
8.6  Order of Agenda. The prescribed order of the agenda for Regular Meetings of the Council 
will be as follows: Roll Call, Pledge of Allegiance, Invocation/Moment of Silence, Adoption of the 
Agenda, Closed Session Announcement (if needed), Presentations, Public Comments on Items 
not on the Agenda, Consent Calendar, Public Hearings, Business Items, City Manager and City 
Council Reports, Future Agenda Items, and Adjournment.  
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8.7  Change in Order of Business. The Mayor, or the majority of the Council, may decide to 
take matters listed on the agenda out of the prescribed order. Council Members shall be given 
the opportunity to ask questions about Consent Items for clarification without having them 
removed.  
 
8.8  Agenda Request Policy. The City Council adopted the Agenda Request Policy on August 
14, 2008 which establishes a procedure for submittal of various items for the City Council agenda.  
Requests for placement of items on the agenda can be submitted to the City Clerk using the 
Agenda Request Form available by request. Also, any member of the Council may request that 
an item be placed on a future agenda by indicating their desire to do so under that portion of the 
City Council agenda designated, “Future City Council Agenda Items.” Additionally, the City 
Manager may place items on the agenda. 
 
SECTION 9. PROCEDURES FOR THE CONDUCT OF PUBLIC MEETINGS  
 
9.1  Role of Mayor. The Mayor shall be responsible for maintaining the order and decorum of 
meetings. It shall be the duty and responsibility of the Mayor to ensure that the rules of operation 
and decorum contained herein are observed. The Mayor shall maintain control of communication 
between Council Members and among Council, staff and public.  The Mayor shall intervene when 
a Council Member, staff or other meeting participant is being verbally or otherwise attacked by 
a member of the public.   

 
9.2 Communication with Council Members. Council Members shall request the floor from 
the Mayor before speaking. When one member of the Council has the floor and is speaking, other 
Council Members shall not interrupt or otherwise disturb the speaker.  

 
9.3 Communication with members of the public addressing the Council on agendized items  

 
1.  The Mayor shall open the floor for public comment as appropriate.  
 
2.  Council Members may question a person addressing the Council at the 

conclusion of the person’s comments or upon expiration of the person’s time to speak.  
 
3.  Any staff member with an item on the agenda will be available to the City Council 

to answer questions arising during discussions between Council Members and among 
Council Members and members of the public.  

 
4.  Members of the public shall direct their questions and comments to the Council.  

 
9.2  Rules of Order. The City Council shall refer to Rosenberg’s Rules of Order, as a guide for 
the conduct of meetings, with the following modifications:  

 
(a)  A motion is not required prior to a general discussion on an agenda item. A pre-motion 

discussion allows the members to share their thoughts on the agendized item so that a motion 
can more easily be made that takes into account what appears to be the majority position.  
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(b)  All motions require a second.  
 
(c)  A motion may be amended at the request of the maker and the consent of the person 

who seconded the motion. Such a procedure is often used to accommodate concerns expressed 
by other members.  

 
(d)  A motion to amend may still be used.  

 
The Mayor has the discretion to impose reasonable rules at any particular meeting based upon 
facts and circumstances found at any particular meeting. These latter rules will be followed unless 
objected to by a majority of the City Council Members present.  
 
9.3  Appeal Procedures. Appellants shall be given the opportunity to speak first. Appellants 
and applicants responding to appeals may be given a total of up to 10 minutes each to present 
their positions to the City Council prior to hearing public comments. Appellants shall be given up 
to 5 minutes of rebuttal time after public comments are heard. 
  
9.4  Applicants. Persons bringing to the City Council a request for approval shall be given a 
total of up to 10 minutes to present their positions/input prior to hearing public comments. An 
extension can only be granted by consent of a majority of the Council Members. Applicants shall 
be given up to 5 minutes of rebuttal time after public comments are heard.  
 
9.5  Staff and Consultant Reports. In general, staff and consultant reports should be clear, 
brief and concise. Staff is to assume that the Council has read all materials submitted. Council 
shall be given an opportunity to ask questions of staff prior to hearing public comments.  
 
9.6  Public Comment.  
 
Persons present at meetings of the City Council may comment on individual items on the agenda 
at the time the items are scheduled to be heard. During Regular City Council meetings, comments 
may be offered on items not on the agenda under that portion of the agenda identified for Public 
Comment.  
 
The limit for speakers will be 1 to 3 minutes, depending on the number of speakers. If there are 
10 or fewer requests to speak on any agenda item, the limit for each speaker will be 3 minutes. 
Speakers are not allowed to delegate their time to another speaker. The Mayor may limit the 
time to be spent on an item and may continue the item, with the approval of the majority of the 
Council, to a future meeting at his/her discretion.  
 
Upon addressing the Council, each speaker is requested, but not required, to first state his/her 
name, whom they represent and/or city of residence.  
 
After the speaker has completed their remarks, the Mayor may direct the City Manager or City 
Attorney to briefly address the issues brought forth by the speaker. Council Members shall be 
respectful of the speakers and shall not enter into a debate with any member of the public nor 
discuss amongst themselves.  
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All Council Members shall listen to all public discussion as part of the Council’s community 
responsibility. Individual Council Members should remain open-minded to informational 
comments made by the public.  
 
The Mayor has the right to ask a member of the public to step down if over the allotted time or 
if the speaker’s comments are not within the city’s jurisdiction.  
 
9.7  Motions. It will be the practice of the City Council for the Mayor to provide Council 
Members an opportunity to ask questions of staff, comment on, and discuss any agendized item 
in order to help form a consensus before a motion is offered. After such discussion, the Mayor or 
any Council Member may make a motion. Before the motion can be considered or discussed, it 
must be seconded. Once a motion has been properly made and seconded, the Mayor shall open 
the matter to full discussion offering the first opportunity to speak to the moving party, and 
thereafter, to any Council Member recognized by the Mayor. Customarily, the Mayor will take 
the floor after all other Council Members have been given the opportunity to speak.  
 
If a motion clearly contains divisible parts, any Council Member may request the Mayor or moving 
party divide the motion into separate motions to provide Council Members an opportunity for 
more specific consideration.  
 
Tie Votes: Tie votes shall be lost motions. When all Council Members are present, a tie vote on 
whether to grant an appeal from official action shall be considered a denial of such appeal, unless 
the Council takes other action to further consider the matter.  If a tie vote results at a time when 
fewer than all members of the Council, who may legally participate in the matter are present, the 
matter shall be automatically continued to the agenda of the next regular meeting of the Council, 
unless otherwise ordered by the Council.  
 
9.8  Reconsideration. Requests for reconsideration.  
 

1.  Request by a member of the public.  
 
Notwithstanding Rosenberg’s Rules of Order, a request for reconsideration may be made by a 
member of the public to the City Council at the next regular meeting of the City Council or at any 
intervening special meeting of the City Council.  
 

2.  Request by a member of the City Council.  
 
Only a member of the City Council who voted on the prevailing side may request reconsideration. 
The request may be made at the same meeting or at the next regular meeting of the City Council 
or at any intervening special meeting of the City Council.  
 

3.  The member of the public or City Council Member making the request should state 
orally or in writing the reason for the request, without dwelling on the specific details or setting 
forth various arguments.  
 
Reconsideration at the same meeting.  
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A motion to reconsider an action taken by the City Council may be made at the same meeting at 
which the action was taken (including an adjourned or continued meeting).  

 
A motion to reconsider an action taken by the City Council may be made only by a Council 
Member who voted on the prevailing side, but may be seconded by any Council Member and is 
debatable.  The motion must be approved by a majority of the entire City Council.  
 
Reconsideration at a subsequent meeting.  
 
If an intent to request a motion for reconsideration is communicated to the City Council prior to 
the deadline for posting the City Council meeting agenda, then the request for reconsideration 
may be agendized if support for said action exists in accordance with the Council Norms Section 
10.8. Otherwise, no City Council discussion or action on a possible reconsideration may occur 
unless the item is appropriately added to the agenda pursuant to Government Code section 
54954.2(b), which addresses adding items that are not listed on a posted agenda (urgency agenda 
item).  At the time such motion for reconsideration is heard, testimony shall be limited to the 
facts giving rise to the motion.  
 
Effect of approval of motion.  
 
Upon approval of a motion to reconsider, and at such time as the matter is heard, the City Council 
shall only consider any new evidence or facts not presented previously with regard to the item 
or a claim of error in applying the facts.  
 
If the motion to reconsider is made and approved at the same meeting at which the initial action 
was taken and all interested persons (including applicants, owners, supporters and opponents) 
are still present, the matter may be reconsidered at that meeting or at the next regular meeting 
or intervening special meeting (subject to the discretion of the maker of the motion) and no 
further public notice is required.  
 
If the motion to reconsider is made and approved at the same meeting at which the initial action 
was taken but all interested persons are not still present, or if the motion is made and approved 
at the next regular meeting or intervening special meeting, the item shall be scheduled for 
consideration at the earliest feasible City Council meeting and shall be re-noticed in accordance 
with the Government Code, the City Municipal Code and the Council Norms and Procedures. The 
Clerk shall provide notice to all interested parties as soon as possible when a matter becomes the 
subject of a motion to reconsider. 
 
9.9 Discussion.  
 
The discussion and deliberations at meetings of the City Council are to secure the mature 
judgment of Council Members on proposals submitted for decision. This purpose is best served 
by the exchange of thought through discussion and debate.  
 
To the extent possible, Council Members should disclose any ex parte communication prior to 
discussion on an item.  Ex parte communications are those made in private between an 
interested party and an official in a decision-making process. 
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Discussion and deliberation are regulated by these rules in order to assure every member a 
reasonable and equal opportunity to be heard.  
 
After the Council has commented on an issue, and a motion has been stated to the Council and 
seconded, any member of the Council has a right to discuss it after obtaining the floor. The 
member obtains the floor by seeking recognition from the Mayor. A member who has been 
recognized should make their comments clear, brief and concise.  
 
To encourage the full participation of all members of the Council, no member or members shall 
be permitted to monopolize the discussion of the question. If a Council Member has already 
spoken, other Council Members wishing to speak shall then be recognized. No Council Member 
shall be allowed to speak a second time until after all other Council Members have had an 
opportunity to speak.  

 
All discussion must be relevant to the issue before the City Council. A Council Member is given 
the floor only for the purpose of discussing the pending question; discussion which departs is out 
of order. Council Members shall avoid repetition and strive to move the discussion along.  
 
A motion, its nature, or consequences, may be attacked vigorously. It is never permissible to 
attack the motives, character, or personality of a member either directly or by innuendo or 
implication. It is the duty of the Mayor to instantly rule out of order any Council Member who 
engages in personal attacks. It is the motion, not its proposer, that is subject to debate.  
 
Arguments, for or against a measure, should be stated as concisely as possible. It is the 
responsibility of each Council Member to maintain an open mind on all issues during discussion 
and deliberation.  
 
It is not necessary for all City Council Members to speak or give their viewpoints if another Council 
Member has already addressed their concerns.  Although issues with potential to be litigated or 
otherwise appealed should have comments by each Council Member on the record. 
 
The Mayor has the responsibility of controlling and expediting the discussion. A Council Member 
who has been recognized to speak on a question has a right to the undivided attention of the 
Council.  
 
It is the duty of the Mayor to keep the subject clearly before the members, to rule out irrelevant 
discussion, and to restate the question whenever necessary.  

 
 9.10  Council Member Respect. At all times, Council Members in the minority on an issue shall 
respect the decision and authority of the majority.  
 
9.11  Council and Staff Reports and Directions on Future Agenda Items. Council and staff 
reports at the end of Council meetings shall be limited to announcing Mayor-appointed Regional 
Board activities on which Council Members serve, City and City-sponsored activities and items 
which directly affect the City. Community groups may announce their activities during Public 
Comments at the beginning of Council meetings. Council Members should refrain from making 
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personal comments, stating personal activities, or items that do not impact their role as a Council 
Member. 
 
SECTION 10. CLOSED SESSIONS  
 
10.1  Purpose. It is the policy of the City Council to conduct its business in public to the greatest 
extent possible. However, state law recognizes that, in certain circumstances, public discussion 
could potentially jeopardize the public interest, compromise the City’s position, and could cost 
the taxpayers of Clearlake financially. Therefore, closed sessions shall be held from time to time 
as allowed by law. The procedures for the conduct of these meetings shall be the same as for 
public meetings, except that the public will be excluded.  
 
Prior to convening the closed session meeting, the Mayor shall publicly announce the closed 
session items and ask for public input regarding any items on the closed session agenda.  
 
City Council Members shall keep all written materials and verbal information provided to them 
in closed session in complete confidence to insure that the City’s position is not compromised. 
No mention of information in these materials shall be made to anyone other than Council 
Members, the City Attorney or City Manager, except where authorized by a majority of the City 
Council.  
 
10.2  Rule of Confidentiality. The City Council recognizes that breaches in confidentiality can 
severely prejudice the City’s position in litigation, labor relations and real estate negotiations. 
Further, breaches of confidentiality can create a climate of distrust among Council Members and 
can harm the Council’s ability to communicate openly in closed sessions, thereby impairing the 
Council’s ability to perform its official duties.  
 
The City Council further recognizes that confidentiality of discussions and documents are at the 
core of a closed session. Confidentiality is essential if the closed session is to serve its purpose. 
Therefore, the City Council will adhere to a strict policy of confidentiality for closed sessions.  
 
10.3  Breach of Rule of Confidentiality. No person who attends a closed session may disclose 
any statements, discussions, or documents used in a closed session except where specifically 
authorized by State law. Any authorized disclosure shall be in strict compliance with these rules 
and the Ralph M. Brown Act. Violation of this rule shall be considered a breach of this rule of 
confidentiality.  
 
10.4  Agenda. The City Council agenda will contain a brief general description of the items to 
be discussed at the closed session, as required by law.  
 
10.5  Permissible Topics. All closed sessions will be held in strict compliance with the Ralph M. 
Brown Act. The City Attorney, or his/her designee, will advise in advance on topics that may be 
discussed in a closed session.  
 
10.6 Rules of Decorum.  
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The same high standard of respect and decorum as apply to public meetings shall apply to closed 
sessions. There shall be courtesy, respect and tolerance for all viewpoints and for the right of 
Council Members to disagree. Council Members shall strive to make each other feel comfortable 
and safe to express their points of view. All Council Members have the right to insist upon strict 
adherence to this rule.  
 
Prior to a vote, the Mayor shall ensure that the motion is clearly stated and clearly understood 
by all Council Members.  
 
The Mayor shall keep the discussion moving forward so that debate and a vote can occur in the 
time allotted for the closed session. The Mayor will determine the order of debate in a fair 
manner.  

 
10.7  Conduct of Meeting.  
 

(a)  The Mayor will call the closed session to order promptly at its scheduled time.  
 

(b)  The Mayor will keep discussion focused on the permissible topics.  
 

(c)  The use of handouts and visual aids such as charts is encouraged to focus debate and 
promote understanding of the topic. All such materials are strictly confidential.  
 

(d)  If the City Council in closed session has provided direction to City staff on proposed 
terms and conditions for any type of negotiations, whether it be related to property acquisitions 
or disposal, a proposed or pending claim or litigation, or employee negotiations, all contact with 
the other party will be through the designated City person(s) representing the City in the handling 
of the matter. A Council Member, not so designated by the Council, will not under any 
circumstances have any contact or discussion with the other party or its representative 
concerning the matter which was discussed in the closed session, and will not communicate any 
discussions conducted in closed session to such party.  
 
10.8  Public Disclosure After Final Action.  
 
The Ralph M. Brown Act requires that, as a body, the City Council make certain public disclosure 
of closed session decisions when those actions have become final. Accordingly, the City Council 
shall publicly report any final action taken in closed session, and the vote, including abstentions, 
at a publicly noticed meeting as follows:  
 

* Real Estate negotiations: After the agreement is final and accepted by the other party;  
 
* Litigation: After approval to defend or appeal a lawsuit or to initiate a lawsuit;  
 
* Settlement: After final settlement of litigation or claims;  
 
* Employees: Action taken to appoint or dismiss a Council-appointed employee;  
 

124

Section J, Item 12.



 

25 | P a g e  
 

* Labor relations: After the Memorandum of Understanding is final and has been 
accepted by both parties.  

 
The report may be oral or written. The report will state only the action taken and the vote. Unless 
authorized by the majority of the City Council, the report will not state the debate or discussion 
that occurred. Except for the action taken and the vote, all closed session discussions will remain 
confidential.  
 
SECTION 11. DECORUM  
 
11.1  Council Members. Members of the City Council value and recognize the importance of 
the trust invested in them by the public to accomplish the business of the City. Council Members 
shall accord the utmost courtesy to each other, City employees, and the public appearing before 
the City Council. The City Manager or his/her designee shall act as the sergeant-at-arms. 
 
11.2  City Employees. Members of the City staff shall observe the same rules of order and 
decorum applicable to the City Council. City staff shall act at all times in a business and 
professional manner towards Council Members and members of the public.  
 
11.3  Public. Members of the public attending City Council meetings shall observe the same 
rules of order and decorum applicable to the City Council. These Norms and Procedures shall 
apply to all City Council Meetings.  
 
11.4  Noise in the Chambers. Noise emanating from the audience, whether expressing 
opposition or support within the Council Chambers or lobby area, which disrupts City Council 
meetings, shall not be permitted. All cell phones and other electronic devices shall be muted 
while in the chambers. Refusal is grounds for removal.  
 
11.5  Removal.  Any member of the public making personal, impertinent, and/or slanderous or 
profane remarks, or who becomes boisterous or belligerent while addressing the City Council, 
staff or general public, or while attending the City Council meeting and refuses to come to order 
at the direction of the Mayor/Presiding Officer, shall be removed from the Council Chambers by 
the sergeant-at-arms and may be barred from further attendance before the Council during that 
meeting. Unauthorized remarks from the audience, stamping of feet, whistles, yells, and similar 
demonstrations shall not be permitted by the Mayor/Presiding Officer. The Mayor/Presiding 
Officer may direct the sergeant-at-arms to remove such offenders from the room. 
 
11.6 Dangerous Instruments.  No person may enter the chambers of a legislative body as 
defined in Section 54852 of the Government Code of the State of California or any place where 
such legislative body is in session, with any firearm, weapon, or explosive device of any nature.  
The provisions of this section shall not apply to authorized peace officers or to those persons 
authorized by the Penal Code of the State to carry such weapons. 
 
11.7 Prosecution.  Aggravated cases shall be prosecuted on appropriate complaint signed by 
the Mayor/Presiding Officer. 
 
SECTION 12. ENFORCEMENT OF DECORUM 
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In extreme cases, such as when a meeting is willfully interrupted by a group or groups of persons 
so as to render the orderly conduct of such meeting unfeasible and order cannot be restored by 
the removal of individuals as provided for in this Policy, the Mayor/Presiding Officer may order 
the meeting room cleared and continue in session. Only matters appearing on the agenda may 
be considered in such a session. Duly accredited representatives of the press or other news 
media, except those participating in the disturbance, shall be allowed to attend any session held 
pursuant to this Section. Nothing in this Section shall prohibit the City Council from establishing 
a procedure for readmitting an individual or individuals not responsible for willfully disturbing 
the orderly conduct of the meeting. 
 
SECTION 13. VIOLATIONS OF PROCEDURES  
Nothing in these Norms and Procedures shall invalidate a properly noticed and acted upon action 
of the City Council in accordance with State Law.  
 
This document shall remain in effect until modified by the City Council.  
 
APPROVED: November 12, 2015.  
Amended: March 10, 2016 
Amended: June 22, 2017 
Amended: April 12, 2018 
Amended: December 12, 2019 
Amended: February 16, 2023 
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MISSION and CORE BELIEFS
To expand and protect local control for cities through education and advocacy to enhance the quality of life for all Californians.

VISION
To be recognized and respected as the leading advocate for the common interests of California’s cities.

About the League of California Cities
Established in 1898, the League of California Cities is a member organization that represents California’s incorporated cities. 

The League strives to protect the local authority and automony of city government and help California’s cities effectively 

serve their residents. In addition to advocating on cities’ behalf at the state capitol, the League provides its members with 

professional development programs and information resources, conducts education conferences and research, and publishes 

Western City magazine.

© 2011 League of California Cities. All rights reserved.
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Establishing a Quorum
The starting point for a meeting is the establishment of a quorum. 
A quorum is defined as the minimum number of members of the 
body who must be present at a meeting for business to be legally 
transacted. The default rule is that a quorum is one more than half 
the body. For example, in a five-member body a quorum is three. 
When the body has three members present, it can legally transact 
business. If the body has less than a quorum of members present, it 
cannot legally transact business. And even if the body has a quorum 
to begin the meeting, the body can lose the quorum during the 
meeting when a member departs (or even when a member leaves the 
dais). When that occurs the body loses its ability to transact business 
until and unless a quorum is reestablished. 

The default rule, identified above, however, gives way to a specific 
rule of the body that establishes a quorum. For example, the rules of 
a particular five-member body may indicate that a quorum is four 
members for that particular body. The body must follow the rules it 
has established for its quorum. In the absence of such a specific rule, 
the quorum is one more than half the members of the body.

The Role of the Chair
While all members of the body should know and understand the 
rules of parliamentary procedure, it is the chair of the body who is 
charged with applying the rules of conduct of the meeting. The chair 
should be well versed in those rules. For all intents and purposes, the 
chair makes the final ruling on the rules every time the chair states an 
action. In fact, all decisions by the chair are final unless overruled by 
the body itself. 

Since the chair runs the conduct of the meeting, it is usual courtesy 
for the chair to play a less active role in the debate and discussion 
than other members of the body. This does not mean that the chair 
should not participate in the debate or discussion. To the contrary, as 
a member of the body, the chair has the full right to participate in the 
debate, discussion and decision-making of the body. What the chair 
should do, however, is strive to be the last to speak at the discussion 
and debate stage. The chair should not make or second a motion 
unless the chair is convinced that no other member of the body will 
do so at that point in time.

The Basic Format for an Agenda Item Discussion
Formal meetings normally have a written, often published agenda. 
Informal meetings may have only an oral or understood agenda. In 
either case, the meeting is governed by the agenda and the agenda 
constitutes the body’s agreed-upon roadmap for the meeting. Each 
agenda item can be handled by the chair in the following basic 
format:

Introduction

The rules of procedure at meetings should be simple enough for 
most people to understand. Unfortunately, that has not always been 
the case. Virtually all clubs, associations, boards, councils and bodies 
follow a set of rules — Robert’s Rules of Order — which are embodied 
in a small, but complex, book. Virtually no one I know has actually 
read this book cover to cover. Worse yet, the book was written for 
another time and for another purpose. If one is chairing or running 
a parliament, then Robert’s Rules of Order is a dandy and quite useful 
handbook for procedure in that complex setting. On the other hand, 
if one is running a meeting of say, a five-member body with a few 
members of the public in attendance, a simplified version of the rules 
of parliamentary procedure is in order.

Hence, the birth of Rosenberg’s Rules of Order.

What follows is my version of the rules of parliamentary procedure, 
based on my decades of experience chairing meetings in state and 
local government. These rules have been simplified for the smaller 
bodies we chair or in which we participate, slimmed down for the 
21st Century, yet retaining the basic tenets of order to which we have 
grown accustomed. Interestingly enough, Rosenberg’s Rules has found 
a welcoming audience. Hundreds of cities, counties, special districts, 
committees, boards, commissions, neighborhood associations and 
private corporations and companies have adopted Rosenberg’s Rules 
in lieu of Robert’s Rules because they have found them practical, 
logical, simple, easy to learn and user friendly. 

This treatise on modern parliamentary procedure is built on a 
foundation supported by the following four pillars: 

1.	 Rules should establish order. The first purpose of rules of 
parliamentary procedure is to establish a framework for the 
orderly conduct of meetings.

2.	 Rules should be clear. Simple rules lead to wider understanding 
and participation. Complex rules create two classes: those 
who understand and participate; and those who do not fully 
understand and do not fully participate.

3.	 Rules should be user friendly. That is, the rules must be simple 
enough that the public is invited into the body and feels that it 
has participated in the process.

4.	 Rules should enforce the will of the majority while protecting 
the rights of the minority. The ultimate purpose of rules of 
procedure is to encourage discussion and to facilitate decision 
making by the body. In a democracy, majority rules. The rules 
must enable the majority to express itself and fashion a result, 
while permitting the minority to also express itself, but not 
dominate, while fully participating in the process.
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Ninth, the chair takes a vote. Simply asking for the “ayes” and then 
asking for the “nays” normally does this. If members of the body do 
not vote, then they “abstain.” Unless the rules of the body provide 
otherwise (or unless a super majority is required as delineated later 
in these rules), then a simple majority (as defined in law or the rules 
of the body as delineated later in these rules) determines whether the 
motion passes or is defeated. 

Tenth, the chair should announce the result of the vote and what 
action (if any) the body has taken. In announcing the result, the chair 
should indicate the names of the members of the body, if any, who 
voted in the minority on the motion. This announcement might take 
the following form: “The motion passes by a vote of 3-2, with Smith 
and Jones dissenting. We have passed the motion requiring a 10-day 
notice for all future meetings of this body.”

Motions in General
Motions are the vehicles for decision making by a body. It is usually 
best to have a motion before the body prior to commencing 
discussion of an agenda item. This helps the body focus.

Motions are made in a simple two-step process. First, the chair 
should recognize the member of the body. Second, the member 
of the body makes a motion by preceding the member’s desired 
approach with the words “I move … ”

A typical motion might be: “I move that we give a 10-day notice in 
the future for all our meetings.”

The chair usually initiates the motion in one of three ways:

1.	 Inviting the members of the body to make a motion, for 
example, “A motion at this time would be in order.” 

2.	 Suggesting a motion to the members of the body, “A motion 
would be in order that we give a 10-day notice in the future for all 
our meetings.” 

3.	 Making the motion. As noted, the chair has every right as a 
member of the body to make a motion, but should normally do 
so only if the chair wishes to make a motion on an item but is 
convinced that no other member of the body is willing to step 
forward to do so at a particular time.

The Three Basic Motions
There are three motions that are the most common and recur often 
at meetings:

The basic motion. The basic motion is the one that puts forward a 
decision for the body’s consideration. A basic motion might be: “I 
move that we create a five-member committee to plan and put on 
our annual fundraiser.” 

First, the chair should clearly announce the agenda item number and 
should clearly state what the agenda item subject is. The chair should 
then announce the format (which follows) that will be followed in 
considering the agenda item.

Second, following that agenda format, the chair should invite the 
appropriate person or persons to report on the item, including any 
recommendation that they might have. The appropriate person or 
persons may be the chair, a member of the body, a staff person, or a 
committee chair charged with providing input on the agenda item.

Third, the chair should ask members of the body if they have any 
technical questions of clarification. At this point, members of the 
body may ask clarifying questions to the person or persons who 
reported on the item, and that person or persons should be given 
time to respond.

Fourth, the chair should invite public comments, or if appropriate at 
a formal meeting, should open the public meeting for public input. 
If numerous members of the public indicate a desire to speak to 
the subject, the chair may limit the time of public speakers. At the 
conclusion of the public comments, the chair should announce that 
public input has concluded (or the public hearing, as the case may be, 
is closed).

Fifth, the chair should invite a motion. The chair should announce 
the name of the member of the body who makes the motion.

Sixth, the chair should determine if any member of the body wishes 
to second the motion. The chair should announce the name of the 
member of the body who seconds the motion. It is normally good 
practice for a motion to require a second before proceeding to 
ensure that it is not just one member of the body who is interested 
in a particular approach. However, a second is not an absolute 
requirement, and the chair can proceed with consideration and vote 
on a motion even when there is no second. This is a matter left to the 
discretion of the chair.

Seventh, if the motion is made and seconded, the chair should make 
sure everyone understands the motion. 

This is done in one of three ways:

1.	 The chair can ask the maker of the motion to repeat it;

2.	 The chair can repeat the motion; or

3.	 The chair can ask the secretary or the clerk of the body to repeat 
the motion.

Eighth, the chair should now invite discussion of the motion by the 
body. If there is no desired discussion, or after the discussion has 
ended, the chair should announce that the body will vote on the 
motion. If there has been no discussion or very brief discussion, then 
the vote on the motion should proceed immediately and there is no 
need to repeat the motion. If there has been substantial discussion, 
then it is normally best to make sure everyone understands the 
motion by repeating it.

131

Section J, Item 12.



4

First, the chair would deal with the third (the last) motion on the 
floor, the substitute motion. After discussion and debate, a vote 
would be taken first on the third motion. If the substitute motion 
passed, it would be a substitute for the basic motion and would 
eliminate it. The first motion would be moot, as would the second 
motion (which sought to amend the first motion), and the action on 
the agenda item would be completed on the passage by the body of 
the third motion (the substitute motion). No vote would be taken on 
the first or second motions. 

Second, if the substitute motion failed, the chair would then deal 
with the second (now the last) motion on the floor, the motion 
to amend. The discussion and debate would focus strictly on the 
amendment (should the committee be five or 10 members). If the 
motion to amend passed, the chair would then move to consider the 
main motion (the first motion) as amended. If the motion to amend 
failed, the chair would then move to consider the main motion (the 
first motion) in its original format, not amended.

Third, the chair would now deal with the first motion that was placed 
on the floor. The original motion would either be in its original 
format (five-member committee), or if amended, would be in its 
amended format (10-member committee). The question on the floor 
for discussion and decision would be whether a committee should 
plan and put on the annual fundraiser.

To Debate or Not to Debate
The basic rule of motions is that they are subject to discussion and 
debate. Accordingly, basic motions, motions to amend, and substitute 
motions are all eligible, each in their turn, for full discussion before 
and by the body. The debate can continue as long as members of the 
body wish to discuss an item, subject to the decision of the chair that 
it is time to move on and take action.

There are exceptions to the general rule of free and open debate 
on motions. The exceptions all apply when there is a desire of the 
body to move on. The following motions are not debatable (that 
is, when the following motions are made and seconded, the chair 
must immediately call for a vote of the body without debate on the 
motion): 

Motion to adjourn. This motion, if passed, requires the body to 
immediately adjourn to its next regularly scheduled meeting. It 
requires a simple majority vote.

Motion to recess. This motion, if passed, requires the body to 
immediately take a recess. Normally, the chair determines the length 
of the recess which may be a few minutes or an hour. It requires a 
simple majority vote.

Motion to fix the time to adjourn. This motion, if passed, requires 
the body to adjourn the meeting at the specific time set in the 
motion. For example, the motion might be: “I move we adjourn this 
meeting at midnight.” It requires a simple majority vote.

The motion to amend. If a member wants to change a basic motion 
that is before the body, they would move to amend it. A motion 
to amend might be: “I move that we amend the motion to have a 
10-member committee.” A motion to amend takes the basic motion 
that is before the body and seeks to change it in some way.

The substitute motion. If a member wants to completely do away 
with the basic motion that is before the body, and put a new motion 
before the body, they would move a substitute motion. A substitute 
motion might be: “I move a substitute motion that we cancel the 
annual fundraiser this year.” 

“Motions to amend” and “substitute motions” are often confused, but 
they are quite different, and their effect (if passed) is quite different. 
A motion to amend seeks to retain the basic motion on the floor, but 
modify it in some way. A substitute motion seeks to throw out the 
basic motion on the floor, and substitute a new and different motion 
for it. The decision as to whether a motion is really a “motion to 
amend” or a “substitute motion” is left to the chair. So if a member 
makes what that member calls a “motion to amend,” but the chair 
determines that it is really a “substitute motion,” then the chair’s 
designation governs.

A “friendly amendment” is a practical parliamentary tool that is 
simple, informal, saves time and avoids bogging a meeting down 
with numerous formal motions. It works in the following way: In the 
discussion on a pending motion, it may appear that a change to the 
motion is desirable or may win support for the motion from some 
members. When that happens, a member who has the floor may 
simply say, “I want to suggest a friendly amendment to the motion.” 
The member suggests the friendly amendment, and if the maker and 
the person who seconded the motion pending on the floor accepts 
the friendly amendment, that now becomes the pending motion on 
the floor. If either the maker or the person who seconded rejects the 
proposed friendly amendment, then the proposer can formally move 
to amend.

Multiple Motions Before the Body
There can be up to three motions on the floor at the same time. 
The chair can reject a fourth motion until the chair has dealt 
with the three that are on the floor and has resolved them. This 
rule has practical value. More than three motions on the floor at 
any given time is confusing and unwieldy for almost everyone, 
including the chair. 

When there are two or three motions on the floor (after motions and 
seconds) at the same time, the vote should proceed first on the last 
motion that is made. For example, assume the first motion is a basic 
“motion to have a five-member committee to plan and put on our 
annual fundraiser.” During the discussion of this motion, a member 
might make a second motion to “amend the main motion to have a 
10-member committee, not a five-member committee to plan and 
put on our annual fundraiser.” And perhaps, during that discussion, a 
member makes yet a third motion as a “substitute motion that we not 
have an annual fundraiser this year.” The proper procedure would be 
as follows:
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Motion to close nominations. When choosing officers of the 
body (such as the chair), nominations are in order either from a 
nominating committee or from the floor of the body. A motion to 
close nominations effectively cuts off the right of the minority to 
nominate officers and it requires a two-thirds vote to pass.

Motion to object to the consideration of a question. Normally, such 
a motion is unnecessary since the objectionable item can be tabled or 
defeated straight up. However, when members of a body do not even 
want an item on the agenda to be considered, then such a motion is 
in order. It is not debatable, and it requires a two-thirds vote to pass.

Motion to suspend the rules. This motion is debatable, but requires 
a two-thirds vote to pass. If the body has its own rules of order, 
conduct or procedure, this motion allows the body to suspend the 
rules for a particular purpose. For example, the body (a private club) 
might have a rule prohibiting the attendance at meetings by non-club 
members. A motion to suspend the rules would be in order to allow 
a non-club member to attend a meeting of the club on a particular 
date or on a particular agenda item.

Counting Votes
The matter of counting votes starts simple, but can become 
complicated.

Usually, it’s pretty easy to determine whether a particular motion 
passed or whether it was defeated. If a simple majority vote is needed 
to pass a motion, then one vote more than 50 percent of the body is 
required. For example, in a five-member body, if the vote is three in 
favor and two opposed, the motion passes. If it is two in favor and 
three opposed, the motion is defeated.

If a two-thirds majority vote is needed to pass a motion, then how 
many affirmative votes are required? The simple rule of thumb is to 
count the “no” votes and double that count to determine how many 
“yes” votes are needed to pass a particular motion. For example, in 
a seven-member body, if two members vote “no” then the “yes” vote 
of at least four members is required to achieve a two-thirds majority 
vote to pass the motion. 

What about tie votes? In the event of a tie, the motion always fails since 
an affirmative vote is required to pass any motion. For example, in a 
five-member body, if the vote is two in favor and two opposed, with 
one member absent, the motion is defeated.

Vote counting starts to become complicated when members 
vote “abstain” or in the case of a written ballot, cast a blank (or 
unreadable) ballot. Do these votes count, and if so, how does one 
count them? The starting point is always to check the statutes.

In California, for example, for an action of a board of supervisors to 
be valid and binding, the action must be approved by a majority of the 
board. (California Government Code Section 25005.) Typically, this 
means three of the five members of the board must vote affirmatively 
in favor of the action. A vote of 2-1 would not be sufficient. A vote of 
3-0 with two abstentions would be sufficient. In general law cities in 

Motion to table. This motion, if passed, requires discussion of the 
agenda item to be halted and the agenda item to be placed on “hold.” 
The motion can contain a specific time in which the item can come 
back to the body. “I move we table this item until our regular meeting 
in October.” Or the motion can contain no specific time for the 
return of the item, in which case a motion to take the item off the 
table and bring it back to the body will have to be taken at a future 
meeting. A motion to table an item (or to bring it back to the body) 
requires a simple majority vote.

Motion to limit debate. The most common form of this motion is to 
say, “I move the previous question” or “I move the question” or “I call 
the question” or sometimes someone simply shouts out “question.” 
As a practical matter, when a member calls out one of these phrases, 
the chair can expedite matters by treating it as a “request” rather 
than as a formal motion. The chair can simply inquire of the body, 
“any further discussion?” If no one wishes to have further discussion, 
then the chair can go right to the pending motion that is on the floor. 
However, if even one person wishes to discuss the pending motion 
further, then at that point, the chair should treat the call for the 
“question” as a formal motion, and proceed to it. 

When a member of the body makes such a motion (“I move the 
previous question”), the member is really saying: “I’ve had enough 
debate. Let’s get on with the vote.” When such a motion is made, the 
chair should ask for a second, stop debate, and vote on the motion to 
limit debate. The motion to limit debate requires a two-thirds vote of 
the body. 

Note:  A motion to limit debate could include a time limit. For 
example: “I move we limit debate on this agenda item to 15 minutes.” 
Even in this format, the motion to limit debate requires a two-
thirds vote of the body. A similar motion is a motion to object to 
consideration of an item. This motion is not debatable, and if passed, 
precludes the body from even considering an item on the agenda. It 
also requires a two-thirds vote.

Majority and Super Majority Votes
In a democracy, a simple majority vote determines a question. A tie 
vote means the motion fails. So in a seven-member body, a vote of 
4-3 passes the motion. A vote of 3-3 with one abstention means the 
motion fails. If one member is absent and the vote is 3-3, the motion 
still fails.

All motions require a simple majority, but there are a few exceptions. 
The exceptions come up when the body is taking an action which 
effectively cuts off the ability of a minority of the body to take an 
action or discuss an item. These extraordinary motions require a 
two-thirds majority (a super majority) to pass:

Motion to limit debate. Whether a member says, “I move the 
previous question,” or “I move the question,” or “I call the question,” 
or “I move to limit debate,” it all amounts to an attempt to cut off the 
ability of the minority to discuss an item, and it requires a two-thirds 
vote to pass.
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Now, exactly how does a member cast an “abstention” vote? 
Any time a member votes “abstain” or says, “I abstain,” that is an 
abstention. However, if a member votes “present” that is also treated 
as an abstention (the member is essentially saying, “Count me for 
purposes of a quorum, but my vote on the issue is abstain.”) In fact, 
any manifestation of intention not to vote either “yes” or “no” on 
the pending motion may be treated by the chair as an abstention. If 
written ballots are cast, a blank or unreadable ballot is counted as an 
abstention as well. 

Can a member vote “absent” or “count me as absent?” Interesting 
question. The ruling on this is up to the chair. The better approach is 
for the chair to count this as if the member had left his/her chair and 
is actually “absent.” That, of course, affects the quorum. However, the 
chair may also treat this as a vote to abstain, particularly if the person 
does not actually leave the dais. 

The Motion to Reconsider
There is a special and unique motion that requires a bit of 
explanation all by itself; the motion to reconsider. A tenet of 
parliamentary procedure is finality. After vigorous discussion, debate 
and a vote, there must be some closure to the issue. And so, after a 
vote is taken, the matter is deemed closed, subject only to reopening 
if a proper motion to consider is made and passed.

A motion to reconsider requires a majority vote to pass like other 
garden-variety motions, but there are two special rules that apply 
only to the motion to reconsider. 

First, is the matter of timing. A motion to reconsider must be made 
at the meeting where the item was first voted upon. A motion to 
reconsider made at a later time is untimely. (The body, however, can 
always vote to suspend the rules and, by a two-thirds majority, allow 
a motion to reconsider to be made at another time.)

Second, a motion to reconsider may be made only by certain 
members of the body. Accordingly, a motion to reconsider may be 
made only by a member who voted in the majority on the original 
motion. If such a member has a change of heart, he or she may 
make the motion to reconsider (any other member of the body 
— including a member who voted in the minority on the original 
motion — may second the motion). If a member who voted in the 
minority seeks to make the motion to reconsider, it must be ruled 
out of order. The purpose of this rule is finality. If a member of 
minority could make a motion to reconsider, then the item could be 
brought back to the body again and again, which would defeat the 
purpose of finality. 

If the motion to reconsider passes, then the original matter is back 
before the body, and a new original motion is in order. The matter may 
be discussed and debated as if it were on the floor for the first time. 

California, as another example, resolutions or orders for the payment of 
money and all ordinances require a recorded vote of the total members 
of the city council. (California Government Code Section 36936.) Cities 
with charters may prescribe their own vote requirements. Local elected 
officials are always well-advised to consult with their local agency 
counsel on how state law may affect the vote count.

After consulting state statutes, step number two is to check the rules 
of the body. If the rules of the body say that you count votes of “those 
present” then you treat abstentions one way. However, if the rules of 
the body say that you count the votes of those “present and voting,” 
then you treat abstentions a different way. And if the rules of the 
body are silent on the subject, then the general rule of thumb (and 
default rule) is that you count all votes that are “present and voting.” 

Accordingly, under the “present and voting” system, you would NOT 
count abstention votes on the motion. Members who abstain are 
counted for purposes of determining quorum (they are “present”), 
but you treat the abstention votes on the motion as if they did not 
exist (they are not “voting”). On the other hand, if the rules of the 
body specifically say that you count votes of those “present” then you 
DO count abstention votes both in establishing the quorum and on 
the motion. In this event, the abstention votes act just like “no” votes.

How does this work in practice?  
Here are a few examples.

Assume that a five-member city council is voting on a motion that 
requires a simple majority vote to pass, and assume further that the 
body has no specific rule on counting votes. Accordingly, the default 
rule kicks in and we count all votes of members that are “present and 
voting.” If the vote on the motion is 3-2, the motion passes. If the 
motion is 2-2 with one abstention, the motion fails. 

Assume a five-member city council voting on a motion that requires 
a two-thirds majority vote to pass, and further assume that the body 
has no specific rule on counting votes. Again, the default rule applies. 
If the vote is 3-2, the motion fails for lack of a two-thirds majority. If 
the vote is 4-1, the motion passes with a clear two-thirds majority. A 
vote of three “yes,” one “no” and one “abstain” also results in passage 
of the motion. Once again, the abstention is counted only for the 
purpose of determining quorum, but on the actual vote on the 
motion, it is as if the abstention vote never existed — so an effective 
3-1 vote is clearly a two-thirds majority vote. 

Now, change the scenario slightly. Assume the same five-member 
city council voting on a motion that requires a two-thirds majority 
vote to pass, but now assume that the body DOES have a specific rule 
requiring a two-thirds vote of members “present.” Under this specific 
rule, we must count the members present not only for quorum but 
also for the motion. In this scenario, any abstention has the same 
force and effect as if it were a “no” vote. Accordingly, if the votes were 
three “yes,” one “no” and one “abstain,” then the motion fails. The 
abstention in this case is treated like a “no” vote and effective vote of 
3-2 is not enough to pass two-thirds majority muster. 
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Appeal. If the chair makes a ruling that a member of the body 
disagrees with, that member may appeal the ruling of the chair. If the 
motion is seconded, and after debate, if it passes by a simple majority 
vote, then the ruling of the chair is deemed reversed.

Call for orders of the day. This is simply another way of saying, 
“return to the agenda.” If a member believes that the body has drifted 
from the agreed-upon agenda, such a call may be made. It does not 
require a vote, and when the chair discovers that the agenda has 
not been followed, the chair simply reminds the body to return to 
the agenda item properly before them. If the chair fails to do so, the 
chair’s determination may be appealed.

Withdraw a motion. During debate and discussion of a motion, 
the maker of the motion on the floor, at any time, may interrupt a 
speaker to withdraw his or her motion from the floor. The motion 
is immediately deemed withdrawn, although the chair may ask the 
person who seconded the motion if he or she wishes to make the 
motion, and any other member may make the motion if properly 
recognized.

Special Notes About Public Input
The rules outlined above will help make meetings very public-
friendly. But in addition, and particularly for the chair, it is wise to 
remember three special rules that apply to each agenda item:

Rule One: Tell the public what the body will be doing.

Rule Two: Keep the public informed while the body is doing it.

Rule Three: When the body has acted, tell the public what the 
body did.

Courtesy and Decorum
The rules of order are meant to create an atmosphere where the 
members of the body and the members of the public can attend to 
business efficiently, fairly and with full participation. At the same 
time, it is up to the chair and the members of the body to maintain 
common courtesy and decorum. Unless the setting is very informal, 
it is always best for only one person at a time to have the floor, and 
it is always best for every speaker to be first recognized by the chair 
before proceeding to speak.

The chair should always ensure that debate and discussion of an 
agenda item focuses on the item and the policy in question, not the 
personalities of the members of the body. Debate on policy is healthy, 
debate on personalities is not. The chair has the right to cut off 
discussion that is too personal, is too loud, or is too crude.

Debate and discussion should be focused, but free and open. In the 
interest of time, the chair may, however, limit the time allotted to 
speakers, including members of the body.

Can a member of the body interrupt the speaker? The general rule is 
“no.” There are, however, exceptions. A speaker may be interrupted 
for the following reasons:

Privilege. The proper interruption would be, “point of privilege.” 
The chair would then ask the interrupter to “state your point.” 
Appropriate points of privilege relate to anything that would 
interfere with the normal comfort of the meeting. For example, the 
room may be too hot or too cold, or a blowing fan might interfere 
with a person’s ability to hear.

Order. The proper interruption would be, “point of order.” Again, 
the chair would ask the interrupter to “state your point.” Appropriate 
points of order relate to anything that would not be considered 
appropriate conduct of the meeting. For example, if the chair moved 
on to a vote on a motion that permits debate without allowing that 
discussion or debate.
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CITY OF CLEARLAKE 

City Council 
 
 
 
 

STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT:   Consideration of FY 2024 Community Project Funding as 
a Joint Application for the Recreation Center and 
Aquatic/Community Swim Center Project from the City 
of Lakeport, County of Lake and City of Clearlake 

MEETING DATE:   Mar. 16, 
2023 

SUBMITTED BY:   Alan Flora, City Manager 

PURPOSE OF REPORT:        Information only       Discussion      Action Item 

WHAT IS BEING ASKED OF THE CITY COUNCIL/BOARD: 

Approve Resolution 2023-16 Authorizing the Application for Funding to Congressman Thompson. 

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:   

On the afternoon of Wednesday, March 1, 2023, the City was advised by Congressman Mike Thompson 
that Community Project Funding will once again be made available for Fiscal Year 2024. You will recall, 
just last year the Congressman was able to secure funding to support the Burns Valley Sports Complex 
and Recreation Center project. This funding should build the sports complex portion of the project, but 
funding to complete the indoor recreation center is still incomplete.   As you know much effort has been 
placed on development of a joint powers authority that will eventually build, operate and/or maintain 
recreation facilities in the County. Staff has reached County and City of Lakeport partners, seeking input 
on projects that should be granted priority for the City’s submittal(s). As noted in the attached Letter, 
“Members of Congress are limited to submitting 15 Community Project Funding requests,” responsive 
to needs across the entirety of their Districts. There is no guarantee all requests submitted will be 
funded, and strong local support for projects is frequently pivotal in the Committee on Appropriations’ 
competitive evaluation process. Congressman Thompson advises this process is likely to be even more 
challenging than in recent previous years, so it is critical only the highest priority projects are submitted 
for consideration. 
 
The County Board of Supervisors approved a similar resolution supporting the $31.8 million dollar 
request on Tuesday and the City of Lakeport is holding a Special Meeting on Wednesday the 15th to 
consider their support. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT  

No immediate impact to the request for funding.  The three jurisdictions will jointly prepare and submit the 
application.  

OPTIONS: 
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1. Adopt Resolution 2023-16 
2. Other direction  

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 None  $ Budgeted Item?   Yes    No 

Budget Adjustment Needed?   Yes    No  If yes, amount of appropriation increase:  $      

Affected fund(s):  General Fund    Measure P Fund    Measure V Fund    Other:  Funds 

Comments:   

 

STRATEGIC PLAN IMPACT: 

 Goal #1: Make Clearlake a Visibly Cleaner City 

 Goal #2: Make Clearlake a Statistically Safer City 

 Goal #3: Improve the Quality of Life in Clearlake with Improved Public Facilities 

 Goal #4: Improve the Image of Clearlake 

 Goal #5: Ensure Fiscal Sustainability of City 

 Goal #6: Update Policies and Procedures to Current Government Standards 

 Goal #7: Support Economic Development 

 

    Attachments:  
1. Phase 2 Feasibility Study 
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RESOLUTION NO. 2023-16 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CLEARLAKE TO SUBMIT THE RECREATION CENTER 
AND AQUATIC/COMMUNITY SWIM CENTER PROJECT FOR CONSIDERATION AS A COMMUNITY PROJECT 

FUNDING PROPOSAL  
 
 

WHEREAS, on March 1, 2023, the U.S. Congress, House Committee on Appropriations 
announced it will accept Congressional Member requests for Community Project Funding in 
appropriation bills for the upcoming fiscal year (FY2024); and 

 
WHEREAS, U.S. Congress, House Committee on Appropriations will accept a maximum of 

15 Community Project Funding recommendations from each Member of Congress that improve 
communities, enhance safety, create jobs and improve quality of life; and  

 
WHERES, the Honorable Congressman Mike Thompson asked that local governments and 

eligible non-profits submit their highest priority projects that fulfill the intent of this opportunity; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, in recent years, Lake County projects approved for funding by the 

Appropriations Subcommittee have demonstrated both significant public benefit and broad 
support; and 

 
WHEREAS, support for the Recreation Center and an Aquatic/ Community Swim Center 

Project meets the intent of Community Project Funding, and has broad public support, 
demonstrated by 95% of recent survey respondents indicating they were likely to visit Lake 
County-based recreation centers, should they be developed; and 

 
WHEREAS, both the Cities of Clearlake and Lakeport have demonstrated their 

commitment to this critical countywide effort by dedicated City-owned properties for 
recreational purposes; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Cities and County are likewise engaged in robust ongoing collaboration, to 

ensure the health-promoting activities these centers and other County parks, trails and recreation 
amenities are expected to provide are as equitably and broadly accessible as possible; and 

 
WHEREAS, the same parties are working to develop a Joint Powers Authority to further 

this critical joint purpose, and promote the best possible health outcomes in Lake County. 
 

THEREFOR, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Clearlake: 
 

1.  The above recitals are true and correct. 
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2.  The City Council of the City of Clearlake has reviewed and approves the joint submission of the 
Recreation Center and Aquatic/Community Swim Center Project to U.S. Congressman Mike 
Thompson for consideration of Community Project Funding, for an amount not to exceed 
$31,800,000 to the relevant Appropriations Subcommittee, with the County of Lake, City of 
Lakeport, and on behalf of the Lake County Recreation District JPA.  

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Clearlake, County of Lake, State of California, on this 16th  
day of March, 2023, by the following vote: 

 
AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSTAIN: 
ABSENT: 
 
 
ATTEST:______________________________ ________________________________ 
  City Clerk      Mayor 
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1Lake County Recreation & Aquatics Center Feasibility Study - Phase 2

LAKE COUNTY REGION
Phase 2 Recreation & Aquatics Center 

Feasibility Study

Presented by:
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2Lake County Recreation & Aquatics Center Feasibility Study - Phase 2

» PROJECT LOCATION OPPORTUNITIES

» COMMUNITY SURVEY RESULTS

» CONCEPTUAL DESIGNS

» CAPITAL COST ESTIMATES

» OPERATIONAL COST ESTIMATES

» RECOMMENDATIONS

AGENDA
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3Lake County Recreation & Aquatics Center Feasibility Study - Phase 2

PROJECT LOCATION 
OPPORTUNITIES
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4Lake County Recreation & Aquatics Center Feasibility Study - Phase 2

POSSIBLE LOCATIONS & SITE SELECTION CRITERIA

PHASE 1 RECAP

OPTION 1  
Westshore 
Swimming Pool
250 Lange Street, 
Lakeport, CA

OPTION 2  
Quail Run Fitness 
Center
1279 Craig Avenue, 
Lakeport, CA

OPTION 3  
Westside 
Community Park
1401 Westside Park Road, 
Lakeport, CA 

OPTION 4  
Clearlake “Burns 
Valley Park”
14785 Burns Valley Road,
Clearlake, CA

PROJECT LOCATION OPPORTUNITIES

1

8

7

5

6
3
2

4

9

144

Section J, Item 13.



5Lake County Recreation & Aquatics Center Feasibility Study - Phase 2

3.53 Acres 
Privately owned land, recently considered 

as a location for a Dollar General 

OPTION 5: MIDDLETOWN
20600 CA-29, Middletown, CA 95461

PROS
» Possible joint-use 

opportunity with 
Middletown HS & MS

» High visibility on main 
highway

CONS
» County already operates 

a recreational pool in 
Middletown

» Currently not owned by 
a public entity

» No apparent adjacent 
community assets 
nearby (parks, centers, 
etc.)

PROJECT LOCATION OPPORTUNITIES
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6Lake County Recreation & Aquatics Center Feasibility Study - Phase 2

PROJECT LOCATION OPPORTUNITIES

OPTION 6: CLEARLAKE OAKS
15300 E State Hwy 20, Clearlake Oaks, CA 95423

PROS
» High visibility on main 

highway

» Currently being 
considered for regional 
park & part of a larger 
nature preserve

CONS
» Currently in early 

process of donation

» No infrastructure 
existing to support 
facilities

» No apparent adjacent 
community assets 
nearby prior to park 
being built

APN 006-530-01
157.08 Acres
Trust property in the process of being donated 
to the County for park purposes
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7Lake County Recreation & Aquatics Center Feasibility Study - Phase 2

PROJECT LOCATION OPPORTUNITIES

10.31 Acres
Existing county park

OPTION 7: HAMMOND PARK
2490 Lakeshore Boulevard, Nice, CA 95464

PROS
» Current community park

CONS
» Less visibility than 

comparable sites

» Less room to add 
recreation or aquatic 
amenities (area to west 
is primarily wetlands) 

» Existing master plan may 
preclude aquatic or 
recreation uses

» No adjacent community 
assets nearby (parks, 
centers, etc.)
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8Lake County Recreation & Aquatics Center Feasibility Study - Phase 2

PROJECT LOCATION OPPORTUNITIES

8 Acres
Existing county park

OPTION 8: UPPER LAKE PARK
615 E State Hwy 20, Upper Lake, CA 95485

PROS
» Current community park

» Some potential synergies 
with local high school, 
casino & retail center

» Underutilized softball 
field

CONS
» Less room to add 

recreation or aquatic 
amenities without 
compromising existing 
amenities

» Adding dog park & 
basketball court 
currently
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9Lake County Recreation & Aquatics Center Feasibility Study - Phase 2

PROJECT LOCATION OPPORTUNITIES

3.83 Acres
Quasi-public property dedicated 100+ years ago for 
park purposes as a part of a town map/subdivision

OPTION 9: KELSEYVILLE
5005 Second Street, Kelseyville, CA 95451

PROS
» Northern area 

underutilized

CONS
» Small site would require 

complete loss of current 
park amenities

» No apparent adjacent 
community assets 
nearby (parks, centers, 
etc.)

» Ownership remains 
unknown
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10Lake County Recreation & Aquatics Center Feasibility Study - Phase 2

PROJECT LOCATION OPPORTUNITIES
RECOMMENDATIONS

DECIDING FACTORS
» Community park 

proximity

» Shared parking

» Co-location of 
libraries/centers/
schools/pools

» “Place making” 
principles

OPTION 3
Westside Community Park
1401 Westside Park Road, Lakeport, CA

OPTION 4  
Clearlake “Burns Valley Park”
14785 Burns Valley Road, Clearlake, CA

» Already part of the City 
of Lakeport designated park 
area

» Several synergies with park 
amenities as well 
as parking and utilities

» Proximity to the highway is 
ideal for public access 

» Already part of designated park area

» Many synergies exist with future 
parking, utilities, athletic fields and 
neighboring library and senior 
center

» Close proximity to major arterial 
connections
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11Lake County Recreation & Aquatics Center Feasibility Study - Phase 2

COMMUNITY 
SURVEY RESULTS
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12Lake County Recreation & Aquatics Center Feasibility Study - Phase 2

COMMUNITY SURVEY RESULTS

WHO PARTICIPATED?

99%
Lake County Residents

26% City of Lakeport

25% City of Clearlake

24% North Lake County

22% South Lake County

3%   N/A

82%
Aged 35+

42% Ages 35-54

40% Ages 55+

17%  Ages 18-34

1%   Ages 0-17

1%   N/A

39% General Adults

20% Seniors

17%  Elementary Age

15%  Teenage

9%   Pre-School

41%
Households with Youth
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13Lake County Recreation & Aquatics Center Feasibility Study - Phase 2

COMMUNITY SURVEY RESULTS

CURRENT RECREATIONAL USE

83%
Recreational Participants

40% South Lake County

36% City of Lakeport

18% City of Clearlake

4%  North Lake County

2%  N/A

Parks

Aquatics

Hiking/Walking

Sports Fields

Lake Access

Camping

Dog Parks

Basketball

Music

Tennis Courts

Fair

Fishing/Birding

Disc Golf

Westlake Park

Clearlake Parks 

Clearlake Oaks Park

North 
Lakeport

Nylander Park

Mt. Konocti

Soda Bay 

County Park

Lower Lake 

Park
Cobb 

Mountain

Cache Creek Trails (Southeast – Rumsey)

Cow Mountain (West – Ukiah)

Nice Parks (general)

Lucerne Parks (general)
Blue Lakes Park

Upper Lake Park

Rodman 
Slough

Types Locations
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14Lake County Recreation & Aquatics Center Feasibility Study - Phase 2

COMMUNITY SURVEY RESULTS

RECREATIONAL CENTER PRIORITIES

Youth Amenities

Trails/Paths/Bike Lanes 

Recreation Center 

Bowling/Arcade/Batting Cage/Mini Golf

Aquatics

Gymnasium/Fitness

Tennis/Pickle Ball

Lake Access 

Clean & Safe

Classes 

Basketball & Sports Fields 

Parks

Roller Rink

Rock Wall/Obstacle Courses/Disc Golf

Family Activities

Senior Center/Programs

Skate Park  

ADA Accessible & Disabled Programs 

Missing Amenities

Fitness/Aerobics

Game Room 

Gymnasium 

Training Room 

Racquetball 

Spin Classes

Aquatics 

Tennis/Pickle Ball/Handball

Track 

Youth Amenities

Senior Center/Programs

Bowling/Arcade

Desired Amenities

Fitness/Aerobics

Adult Sports/Athletics

Community Events

Classes 

Social Activity Spaces

Youth Sports/Athletics

Cultural Arts

Technology Rich Environments

Aquatics 

ADA & Disabled Programs

Trails/Paths/Bike Lanes 

Senior Center/Programs

Most Important Amenities
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COMMUNITY SURVEY RESULTS

AQUATIC CENTER PRIORITIES

Public Swim

Swim Lessons

Lap Swim & Fitness

Competitive Sports

Senior Programs

ADA & Disabled Programs

Most Important Amenities77%
Prefer Combined Aquatics/

Recreation Facility

70%
Prefer Indoor Aquatics

70% Indoor

22% Outdoor

8%   Both

Preferred Type

LOCATION PREFERENCES

51%
Prefer One of Lake 

County’s Main Cities

74%
Willing to Travel 30 Minutes

28% Lakeport

23% Clearlake

22% Combined

12% South Lake

11% North Lake

4% Kelseyville

74% 15-30 Minutes

16% 30-45 Minutes

8% 1-15 Minutes

2% 45+ Minutes

Swim Lessons

Adult Swimming

Family Fun 

Outdoor Activities

Competitive Sports

Concessions

ADA Accessible

Desired Amenities
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COMMUNITY SURVEY RESULTS

VISITING THE FACILITY

95%
Likely to Visit

58%
Likely to Visit Weekly

JOINT-USE & FUNDING

86%
Support Joint-Use

86% Support Joint-Use

23% Neutral

22% Do Not Support 

58% Weekly

23% Daily

10% Monthly

Location (too far)

Cost (too expensive)

Lack of Amenities 

Time (hours of operation)

Safety & Cleanliness Issues

Inaccessible

Visiting Roadblocks

3% Multiple x/Week

6% Other

Tax Measure

Bond Measure

Impact Fee

Memberships/Fees

Grants/Fundraisers

NOT Taxes

Funding Support

Safe/Clean

Sustainable

Parking

Joint-Use

Ease of Access

Amenities Synergy 

Affordable/Free

Construction Priorities
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SURVEY RESULTS SUMMARY

TOP RECREATIONAL PRIORITIES

» Fitness/gymnasium

» Community events & classes

» Youth activities & sports

COMMUNITY SUPPORT

» There is overwhelming support from the Lake County Community for new 

recreation & aquatics facilities, most reporting that they would frequently 

travel up to 30 minutes to utilize these centers

» Most respondents noted that youth needed more amenities 

» The idea of a new aquatics facility was the most exciting & highly 

requested desire throughout the survey

» While excited for these new possibilities, many respondents were 

concerned most about location, cost, accessibility & safety/security

TOP AQUATICS PRIORITIES

» Swim lessons & public swim

» Both adult & family areas

» Competitive sports & fitness classes
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CONCEPTUAL 
DESIGNS
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CONCEPTUAL DESIGNS 
RECREATION CENTER
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CONCEPTUAL DESIGNS 
RECREATION CENTER
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CONCEPTUAL DESIGNS 
RECREATION CENTER
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CONCEPTUAL DESIGNS 
RECREATION CENTER
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CONCEPTUAL DESIGNS 
AQUATIC CENTER
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CONCEPTUAL DESIGNS 
AQUATIC CENTER
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CONCEPTUAL DESIGNS 
AQUATIC CENTER
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CONCEPTUAL DESIGNS 
AQUATIC CENTER
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CONCEPTUAL DESIGNS 
AQUATIC CENTER
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CAPITAL COST 
ESTIMATES
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CAPITAL COST ESTIMATES

FACILITY AREA (SF) COST/SF TOTAL

Recreation Center Building 14,970 $769.50 $11,519,345

Site & Utilities Recreation 38,000 $37.75 $1,434,545

TOTAL ESTIMATED CONSTRUCTION COST $12,953,890

Soft Cost Budget (25%) $3,238,473

TOTAL PROJECT COST $16,192,363

RECREATION CENTER

Core/Glass Shell/MEP Aquatic Center 14,822 $557.14 $8,257,983

Aquatic Pool & Building 7,778 $1,316.98 $10,243,488

Site & Utilities Aquatic 69,7500 $35.05 $2,444,999

TOTAL ESTIMATED CONSTRUCTION COST $20,946,470

Soft Cost Budget (25%) $5,236,618

TOTAL PROJECT COST $26,183,088

AQUATICS CENTER
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OPERATIONAL
COST ESTIMATES
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OPERATIONAL COST ESTIMATES

ANNUAL RECREATION CENTER REVENUE REVENUE VISITS

Recreation Classes, Leagues & Fitness Drop-In & Membership $200,00 ≈ 70,000

Recreation Center Rental Revenue $40,000 ≈ 15,000

Concession Revenue $5,000 N/A

ANNUAL TOTAL REVENUE $245,000 ≈ 85,000

ANNUAL RECREATION CENTER COSTS

Salaries – Full & Part Time $394,693

Materials & Supplies $190,556

ANNUAL TOTAL COSTS $585,249

ANNUAL NET OPERATIONAL SUBSIDY (Cost Recovery 42%) $340,249 ≈ $4.00/visit

RECREATION CENTER 
12-Month Operation
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OPERATIONAL COST ESTIMATES
Recreation Center Financial Breakdown

FULL TIME SALARIES

ANNUAL

SALARY

(top step)

% OF

TIME

BENEFIT

(@ 30%)

TOTAL

POSITION COST

Recreation Center Supervisor $60,000 100% $18,000 $78,000

Park/Facility Maintenance

Worker
$46,500 50% $6,975 $30,225

Total Full Time Salaries $106,500 $24,975 $108,225

PART TIME SALARIES HOURS RATE TOTAL

Instructional Salaries (Fitness) $118,985

Customer Service Specialist II 3370 $21.61 $72,859

Fitness Recreation Leader - 1500 1450 $25.00 36,294

Front Desk Recreation Leader 700 $25.00 $17,521

Park & Facility Worker 1 - 1500 1000 $21.88 $21,880

Office Assistant I - 1500 800 $22.75 $18,200

Recreation Specialist 1 40 $18.22 $729

Total Part Time Salaries 7360 $286,468

TOTAL SALARIES $394,693

MATERIALS & SUPPLIES COST DESCRIPTION

Professional Services $8,680

floor scrubbing - $1,500; shred company - $200; dynamic media - $400; Comcast -

$4,500; Zumba Glow - $300; scoreboard maintenance - $1,000; kitchen cleaning -

$1,000; Group Ex Pro app - $780

Office Supplies $3,600 calendars, pens/pencils, notepads, file folders, desk organization, colored paper, laminate

Supplies - Program & Event $9,700
holiday/event décor - $2,200; membership appreciation - $1,000; fitness events/prizes -

$1,000; Be Well supplies - $5,500

Supplies - Concessions $1,200 ice cream, Gatorade, water

Supplies - Medical $1,000 first aid/COVID supplies

Subscriptions $460 W2W - $260; MCC music - $200

Advertising $8,015
social media ads - $1,100; swag - $1,900; pamphlets, standing facility sign, 

marketing requests - $800; Be Well advertising - $2,500; guide - $1,715

Printing $6,200 copier - $6,000; envelopes & business cards - $200

Equipment - Under 5000 $10,800

meeting room improvements (projector, sound system, tables/ chairs) - $8,500; 

TRX equipment - $1,000; maintenance supplies - $300; tilt truck - $300; metal 

kitchen carts - $400; plastic utility carts - $300

Equipment-Sports Under 5000 $4,650
nets & balls - $500; fitness equipment (dumbbells, mats, wipes) - $2,750; stereo - $300; 

microphone - $250; fit room (light ropes, audio plugs, bulletin boards, batteries) - $850

Building & Equipment Rental $500 lift rental for basketball hoops & divider

Safety & Protective Gear $500 staff shirts/sweatshirts 

Repairs & Maintenance Equipment $21,100

gym doctor maintenance - $3,900; repairs - $6,000; blind repair –

$200; wipe dispensers - $100; upholstery patches - $300; strength equipment -

$10,000; safety - $300; keys - $300

Repairs & Maintenance System $3,750 sprinkler/fire extinguisher inspection

Utility Charges - Telecom. $2,640 consolidated communications

Utility Charges – City Bills $69,468 electric, water, sewer +$5,670

Utility Charges - Natural Gas $33,098 PG&E-uncontrollable +$7,441

Training & Development $2,505 CPRS conference & fitness staff training

Mileage $1,500 mileage reimbursement

Memberships $290 CPRS membership for coordinator/supervisor

Permit Fees $900 motion picture license - $300; commercial kitchen permit - $600

TOTAL MATERIALS & SUPPLIES $190,556
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OPERATIONAL COST ESTIMATES

INDOOR AQUATICS CENTER
12-Month Operation

ANNUAL RECREATION CENTER REVENUE REVENUE VISITS

Recreation Swim 85,000 17,000

Fitness Passes & Drop In $215,000 46,000

Instructional Programs $275,000 52,000/6,500 reg.

Facility Rentals $85,000 TBD – Teams

Miscellaneous $10,000 TBD

ANNUAL TOTAL REVENUE $675,000 115,000

ANNUAL RECREATION CENTER COSTS

Salaries – Full & Part Time $700,101

Materials & Supplies $357,313

ANNUAL TOTAL COSTS $1,057,414

ANNUAL NET OPERATIONAL SUBSIDY (Cost Recovery 64%) $382,414 ≈ $3.30/visit
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OPERATIONAL COST ESTIMATES
Aquatics Center Financial Breakdown

FULL TIME SALARIES

ANNUAL

SALARY

(top step)

% OF

TIME

BENEFIT

(@ 30%)

TOTAL

POSITION

COST

Aquatic Supervisor $60,000 100% $18,000 $78,000

Park Maintenance Worker $46,500 50% $6,975 $30,225

Total Full Time Salaries $106,500 $24,975 $108,225

PART TIME SALARIES HOURS RATE TOTAL

Pool Manager II 2600 $21.81 $56,706

Assistant Pool Manager II 6500 $19.78 $128,570

Senior Lifeguard II 4892 $17.94 $87,762

Lifeguard II 6600 $16.28 $107,448

Swim Instructor I 3600 $17.50 $63,000

Swim Instructor Aide 2694 $16.50 $44,451

Parks Maintenance Worker 1700 $21.87 $37,179

Aqua Fitness Instructor I 1600 $36.00 $57,600

Instructor Hourly II 172 $30.00 $5,160

Office Assistant 2000 $20.00 $4,000

Total Part Time Salaries 32,358 $591,876

TOTAL SALARIES $700,101

MATERIALS & SUPPLIES COST DESCRIPTION

Professional Services $10,535 permits, bounces, group ex, ASL interpreter

Office Supplies $3,100 front desk supplies

Supplies - Program & Event $3,300 birthday/program supplies, pumpkins

Supplies - Concessions $5,000 boutique items

Supplies - Medical $1,250 medical/first aid supplies

Subscriptions $4,390 certifications, Survey Monkey, W2W

Advertising $11,606 facility signage, marketing, rec guide

Printing $8,300 swim lesson report cards, signs, copier

Equipment - Under 5000 $1,800 pump room tools, pool equipment (net)

Equipment-Sports Under 5000 $6,100 lifeguard & program equipment/supplies

Safety & Protective Gear $6,500 staff uniforms

Repairs & Maintenance Equipment $33,500 pool repairs & parts

Repairs & Maintenance System $53,223 pool chemicals (Olin, Aviate, SCP, Lincoln)

Repairs & Maintenance Facility $2,225 replacement chairs & tables

Utility Charges - Telecom. $2,780 manager cell phone - $400; pool phone - $2,380

Utility Charges – City Bills $126,663 FY23 (45%) - $9,188 increase

Utility Charges - Natural Gas $73,251 PG&E, FY23 (26%) - $34,759 increase

Training & Development $2,500 CAMS ($1,000 X 2), Disney ($500)

Mileage $1,000 staff mileage

Memberships $290 CPRS memberships - $145 each

TOTAL MATERIALS & SUPPLIES $357,313
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OPERATIONAL COST ESTIMATES

OUTDOOR AQUATICS CENTER (SUMMER SEASON)
80-Day Operation

ANNUAL RECREATION CENTER REVENUE REVENUE VISITS

Public Swim $40,000 8,000

Swimming Lessons $40,000 6,400 visits/800 reg.

Fitness Classes/Lap Swim $10,000 1,250

Recreation Swim Team Rent $10,000 TBD

ANNUAL TOTAL REVENUE $100,000 15,650

ANNUAL RECREATION CENTER COSTS

Salaries – Full & Part Time $206,000

Materials & Supplies $144,000

ANNUAL TOTAL COSTS $350,000

ANNUAL NET OPERATIONAL SUBSIDY (Cost Recovery 29%) $250,000 ≈ $16/visit
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RECOMMENDATIONS
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» STRUCTURE

» Lake County, City of Lakeport and City of Clearlake should consider 

forming a joint powers authority to implement and manage the facilities

» FUNDING

» Any funds not available for capital improvements should be garnered 

through a bond measure (67% support), with ongoing costs funded 

through (shared) general fund subsidy

» PHASING

» Consideration should be given to phased construction for the aquatics 

facility (indoor v. outdoor) and recreation facilities to manage capital 

outlay

RECOMMENDATIONS
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Q&A

MICHELLE GABLE
AFO,  CPO

A s s o c i a t e
A q u a t i c  D e s i g n  G r o u p

m g a b l e @ a q u a t i c d e s i g n g r o u p .c o m  
7 6 0 . 6 3 7 . 7 8 51  

BRIAN WHITMORE
AIA ,  LEED AP

P r e s i d e n t  &  C E O
S t u d i o  W  A r c h i t e c t s

B r i a n W @ S t u d i o W - A r c h i t e c t s .c o m
9 1 6 . 2 5 4 . 5 6 02

MICHAEL SHELLITO

P r e s i d e n t  
S h e l l i t o  T r a i n i n g  &  C o n s u l t i n g

m s h e l l i t o @ g m a i l . c o m
9 1 6 . 7 7 3 . 7 3 2 8 178
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